

PROGRAM IN TRANSLATIONAL AND MOLECULAR MEDICINE

DIMET

UNIVERSITY OF MILANO-BICOCCA SCHOOL OF MEDICINE AND FACULTY OF SCIENCE

Human stem cells for the treatment of motor neuron diseases: regenerative potential, translatability and development of new biotechnologies

Coordinator: Prof. Andrea Biondi Tutor: Dr. Giorgio Battaglia

Dr. Laura Canzi Matr. No. 576998

> XXIII CYCLE ACADEMIC YEAR 2009-2010

The University of Milano Bicocca

THE PhD PROGRAM DIMET

The PhD Program in Translational and Molecular Medicine (DIMET) is an inter-departmental project between the School of Medicine and the Faculty of Science, organized by the University of Milano-Bicocca.



2009-10

1

DIMET - Dr. Laura Canzi

Table of Contents

Chapter 1	General Introduction	3
1.1.	Stem Cells	3
1.1.1.	Embryonic Stem Cells	3
1.1.2.	Adult and Fetal Stem Cells	5
1.1.3.	Stem Cells and Legislation	16
1.2.	Human Adult Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells	21
1.2.1.	Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells (Skmscs)	21
1.2.2.	Satellite Cell Identification	25
1.2.3.	Morphological Characteristics of Skeletal Muscle Regeneration	26
1.2.4.	Heterogeneity of Satellite Cells	27
1.2.5.	Muscle Stem Cell Plasticity	28
1.3.	Cell Therapy	29
1.3.1.	History of Cell Therapy	31
1.3.2.	The Choice of an Appropriate Stem Cell Type for CNS repair.	32
1.3.3.	The Development of Cell-Based Therapies	36
1.3.4.	Patient Safety	38
1.3.5.	Quality Product Assurence	38
1.3.6.	Facilities	40
1.4.	Human ALS disease and animal models: Preclinical studies for	r
	developments of new cell-based strategies	41
1.4.1.	The Wobbler mouse.	52
Scope of the thesis		65
References		66
Chapter 2	Innovative Stem Cell Therapy using human skeletal muscle derived stem cells in a mouse model of motor neuron disease	89
2.1.	Abstract	90
2.2.	Introduction	91
2.3.	Results	97
2.3.1.	In vitro Characterization of Human SkmSCs	97
2.3.2. 2.3.3.	In vitro labeling of SkmSCs with SPIO and PLL transfect agent In vivo-ex vivo correlation of SkmSCs tracking Hoechst/SPIO-	99
dout	ble labeling	100
2.3.4.	Clinical outcome	102

2.3.5. 2.3.6.	Histopathology of human SkmSCs transplanted Wr mice Molecular characterization of SkmSCs regenerative proprieties	102 103
2.4.	Discussion	104
2.5.	Conclusion	108
2.6.	Materials and Methods	108
2.7.	Figures and Legends	118
Chapter 3	Human Neural Stem Cells: a model system for the study of Les Nyhan Disease neurological aspects	sch- 129
3.1.	Abstract	130
3.2.	Introduction	131
3.3.	Results	135
3.4.	Discussion	142
3.5.	Conclusions	150
3.6.	Materials & Methods	150
3.7.	Figures and Legends	157
3.8.	References	166
Chapter 4		175
4.1.	Summary	175
4.2.	Conclusions	178
4.3.	Future Prespectives	179
4.4.	References	184
Pubblications		186

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1. Stem Cells

The flurry of recent studies touting the near-miraculous properties of stem cells underscores the need for more rigorous definitions.

A true stem cell must satisfy several operational criteria like clonogenic capacity, must be capable of unlimited self-renewal by symmetric division. Then it must be able to divide asymmetrically, one daughter resembling its mother, the other daughter giving rise to multiple types of differentiated cells representing all three primitive embryonic germ layers, at the end it must originate from an embryonic or adult stem-cell source.

There are two different sources for the extraction of stem cells: the embryo or the adult tissues.

1.1.1. Embryonic Stem Cells

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are stem cells derived from the inner cell mass of an early stage embryo known as a blastocyst at the stage of 4-5 days post fertilization, at which time they consist of 50-150 cells; in fact, after fertilisation, an embryo consists of identical cells which are totipotent. That is to say that each could give rise to an embryo on its own producing, for example, identical twins or quadruplets. They are totally unspecialised and have the capacity to differentiate into any of the cells which will constitute the fetus as well as the placenta and membranes around the fetus.

At four to five days after fertilisation (morula storage), the embryo is still made up of unspecialised embryonic cells, but these cells can no longer give rise to an embryo on their own.

At five to seven days after fertilisation (blastocyst stage), a hollow appears in the centre of the morula, and the cells constituting the embryo start to differentiate into inner and outer cells: the outer cells will constitute the tissues around the fetus, including the Placenta; the inner cells (20 to 30 cells) will give rise to the fetus itself as well as to some of the surrounding tissues. If these inner cells are isolated and grown in the presence of certain chemical substances (growth factors), pluripotent ES cells can be derived.

ES cells are pluripotent, not totipotent since they cannot develop into an embryo on their own. If they are transferred to a uterus, they would neither implant nor develop into an embryo. This means they are able to differentiate into all derivatives of the three primary germ layers: ectoderm, endoderm, and mesoderm. These include each of the more than 220 cell types in the adult body.

One of the complex technical issues surrounding the isolation and propagation of embryonic stem cells in vitro is the identification of the proper culture conditions, which can keep the cells in an undifferentiated state or induce their differentiation into a particular type of cell. In addition to soluble factors, plastic surfaces can affect cell morphology, cell density can influence interactions between cells, and the transfection of differentiation-inducing genes can help guide the pluripotent embryonic stem cell to a specific cell fate. Studies involving human cells date only from 1998, when human embryonic stem cells were first successfully propagated, (Shamblott MJ *et al.*, 2001; Thomson JA *et al.*, 1998). This milestone relied heavily on the gradual progress made in the previous 20 years (Thompson S et al., 1984; Bongso A et al., 1994), when mouse and primate embryonic stem cells were extensively characterized (Evans MJ and Kaufman MH, 1981).

1.1.2. Adult and Fetal Stem Cells

The other stem cell source is dictated by an adult stem cell (ASCs). It is an undifferentiated cell found among differentiated cells in a tissue or organ, it can renew itself and differentiate to yield the major specialized cell types of the tissue or organ. The primary roles of adult stem cells in a living organism are to maintain and repair the tissue in which they are found.

The history of research on adult stem cells began about 50 years ago. In the 1960s, researchers discovered that the bone marrow contains at least two kinds of stem cells - Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), which form all the types of blood cells in the body and bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs). Stromal cells are a mixed cell population that generate bone, cartilage, fat, and fibrous connective tissue. In the field of adult stem cells the specific area of hematopoietic stem cells is better understood and more researched than any other aspect of stem cells biology. CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells isolated from bone marrow that are capable of producing cells of the lymphoid and myeloid lineages in blood are the most studied. Such cells are the only currently available therapeutic application of stem cells and are used for a variety of purposes usually entailing the replacement or the reestablishment of the immune system of a host after a disease or toxic therapy.

In the 1960s, researchers studying rats discovered two regions of the brain that contained dividing cells which become nerve cells (Becher H and Knoche H, 1962). Despite these reports, most scientists believed that new nerve cells could not be generated in the adult brain. It was not until the 1990s that scientists agreed that the adult brain does contain stem cells that are able to generate the brain's three major cell types: astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, which are non-neuronal cells, and neurons, or nerve cells (Noble M *et al.*, 1990). In 1998 Brüstle and colleagues found that human cells differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes, which populate the host fore, mid-, and hindbrain. They generated neural chimeras composed of human and rodent cells to provide a unique model to study human neural cell migration and differentiation in a functional nervous system (Brüstle O *et al.*, 1998).

During development and throughout lifetime neuronal death, maintenance and neurogenesis occur in a tightly controlled manner (Tavazoie M. *et al.*, 2008; Doetsch F. *et al.*, 1997). The neurogenic zones, replete with neural stem cells (NSC) are primarily located in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricle and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampal dentate gyrus. These neurogenic zones are intimately associated with their local microvasculature beds. Further, the behaviors of the neuronal stem cells and microvasculature in these zones are thought to be reciprocally co-regulated, in part, via oxygen tension, local NSC and several molecular factors including neurotrophins, vascular growth factors, cytokines and nitric oxide (fig 1) (Li Q. et al., 2006; Li Q. *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 1: Proposed endothelium-derived regulators of the adult neural stem cell niche. Vascular endothelium-derived factors known to regulate the adult NSC niche can originate from the endothelial cell itself, the circulation or the ECM surrounding the blood vessel. Ang: Angiopoietin; BDNF: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; EC: Endothelial cell; ECM: Extracellular matrix; GRO: Growth-related oncogene; LIF: Leukemia inhibitory factor; NSC: Neural stem cell; SCF: Stem cell factor; SDF: Stromal cell-derived factor.

Following brain lesion, NSC, supported by their local vasculature, are thought to proliferate, migrate to and differentiate at injury sites, affecting variable degrees of structural and functional recovery (Fagel DM. *et al.*, 2006). Nevertheless, endogenous neurogenesis are not able to recover the damaged neural tissue.

A notable exception to the tissue specific potential of stem cells is the mesenchymal stem cell or what is more recently called the multipotent adult progenitor cell derived from bone marrow stroma. Such cells have been shown to differentiate *in vitro* into numerous tissue types and similarly differentiate developmentally in blastocyste injection into multiple tissues including neuronal, adipose, muscle, liver, lungs, spleen and gut.

Adult stem cells have been identified in many organs and tissues. It is important to note that there is a very small number of stem cells in each tissue.

Stem cells are thought to reside in a specific area of each tissue where they may remain quiescent (non-dividing) for many years until they are activated by disease or tissue injury.

Scientists do not agree on the criteria that should be used to identify and test adult stem cells.

However, they often use one or more of the following three methods:

- (1) labeling the cells in a living tissue with molecular markers and then determining the specialized cell types they generate;
- (2) removing the cells from a living animal, labeling them in cell culture, and transplanting them back into another animal to determine whether the cells repopulate their tissue of origin;
- (3) isolating the cells, growing them in cell culture, and manipulating them, often by adding growth factors or introducing new genes, to determine what differentiated cells types they can become.

Because of these generative properties, it is thought probable that stem cells will find use in the therapy of degenerative diseases or injuries.

Another source of stem cell is fetal tissue obtained after pregnancy termination. Multipotent stem cells such as neural stem cells derived from fetal neural tissue, can be multiplied in culture, though they have a limited life span. Fetal tissue has unique characteristics that make it especially valuable in some treatments. Fetal cells develop much faster than do adult cells, hastening their therapeutic effect — a potentially significant benefit for gravely ill patients. They are also less likely to be rejected by transplant recipients because they are less antigenic than adult cells. This reduces the need for exact tissue matches that can be so difficult to obtain. Fetal tissue is also easier to culture and proliferates more readily than comparable adult tissue. Furthermore, it is in greater supply, due to the number of elective abortions.

Fetal tissue can also give rise to pluripotent embryonic germ cells (EGCs) isolated from the primordial germ cells of the fetus. Such cells are interesting not only because of their renewal and differentiation potential, but also because such progenitor stem cells tend to be easily isolated based on anatomic location of dissection. Induction into mature tissue utilising these cells tends to be more straightforward as compared with using ESCs.

Although ESCs seem the most flexible type of stem cell, the ethical constraints and safety issues surrounding their potential clinical use have encouraged the search for other sources of stem cells.

Using fetal tissue in biomedical research and in transplantation is not a new practice.

As early as 1928 unsuccessful attempts were made to transplant fetal pancreas cells into diabetics (Fichera G, 1928).

Fetal tissue was used effectively in biomedical research during the 1950s, and was instrumental in the culture of the polio virus, which led to the development of the polio vaccine. Fetal tissue cultures were also essential in the development of the rubella vaccine, and continue to be used in virology research. Transplantation of fetal thymus cells into patients with DiGeorge Syndrome has been recognized as effective therapy since the late 1960s.

Many of the therapeutic applications involving fetal tissue are still in the experimental stage, so it is difficult to pinpoint its transplantation potential. One promising application is the transplantation of human fetal brain cells into the *substantia nigra* of patients with Parkinson's disease to restore motor function. Fetal neural transplants have also shown promise for patients suffering from Alzheimer's disease, spinal cord and other neural tissue injuries, and possibly some forms of cortical blindness. Fetal liver cells may be useful for treatment of some kinds of bone marrow disease seen in leukemia and aplastic anemia patients. Fetal tissue transplantation may also help those suffering from blood clotting disorders, such as sickle cell anemia, thalassemia, and hemophilia. Fetal pancreatic tissue has potential applications in the treatment of diabetes, especially juvenile onset diabetes. Human gene therapy may employ early fetal cells.

However, the use of adult stem cells is not without problems (Verfaillie CM, 2002).

First, expansion of adult stem cells in culture is hindered by the paucity of molecular markers by which they can be identified and quantified. In addition, the expression of markers to distinguish populations of stem cells appears to be variable and occasionally inconsistent; cell surface antigens vary according to the culture preparation, culture duration or plating density. Second, it is now recognised that cells with different stem cell activities can coexist within some tissues and, more importantly, within implanted cell populations. For example, there might be several varieties of each type of adult stem cell, and only one cell in a colony might have the capacity for a particular haemopoietic or mesenchymal fate (Phinney DG, 2002; Vogel W *et al.*, 2003).

The quantitative and qualitative effects of ageing on stem cells are not well understood, although it is believed that stem cells from a younger individual should have greater potential (Van Zant G and Liang Y, 2003). Thus, many investigators suggest that fetal stem cells should have an advantage over adult stem cells in cell replacement therapies. All stem cells invest heavily in self-protective mechanisms and can self renew, but whether or not they age over the lifetime of an individual is the subject of much debate (Roccanova L and Ramphal P, 2003; Van Zant G and Liang Y, 2003).

There is some evidence from murine models that the homing efficiency of older Hematopoietic Stem Cell (HSC) is less than that of younger HSC, and adult stem cells are at a competitive disadvantage when transplanted with fetal cells. (Harrison DE, 1983).

Older HSCs have diminished self-renewal capacity, less developmental potency and give rise to decreased numbers of progeny

when subjected to haemopoietic demands, and this decline in function is even more apparent when older stem cells undergo increased stress (Wynn R *et al.*, 1999).

Similar qualitative effects of ageing are seen with Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) (Bruce SA *et al.*, 1986; Mets T and Verdonk G, 1981); older bone marrow stroma blunts haemopoietic responses after transplantation and increases post-transplant autoimmunity (Doria G et al., 1997; Ordemann R et al., 2002).

Most, if not all, stem cells produce telomerase, which lengthens telomeres, protects against genotoxic damage and correlates with cell immortality. The self-renewal and replicative potential of stem cells probably depends on telomerase to maintain stable telomeres, as most evidence indicates that telomere length is a biomarker of the replicative history of cells (Hayflick L, 2000).

Cells of the germline have very long telomeres, which do not shorten with ageing of the organism, and fetal stem cells could be expected to have an advantage over adult stem cells in this regard. Comparative studies of fetal liver and adult bone marrow HSC have confirmed that fetal liver HSC have higher telomerase activity and adult bone-marrow-derived HSC shorter telomeres, which again implies that the proliferative potential of HSC is limited and declines with age.

There are, of course, ethical issues associated with the collection and use of fetal tissues for stem cell research. Nevertheless, it can be argued that fetal stem cells are currently obtained from terminated fetuses, thus using tissue that would otherwise be discarded. Fetal blood and liver, however, also represent potentially harvestable sources of autologous stem cells, which might be amenable to genetic manipulation and reinfusion in ongoing pregnancies (Campagnoli C *et al.*, 2001). Considerable research now suggests that fetal stem cells are more plastic than adult stem cells, and hence have greater therapeutic potential. In addition, there is evidence that they have important differences in gene expression. Some fetal stem cells have higher replicative potential than their adult counterparts, a concept that argues in favour of the use of such cells for transplantation.

In addition, the pre-immune status of early fetal stem cells might be important in mismatched transplant situations (Gotherstrom C *et al.*, 2004). There is also a rationale that fetal treatment is better than adult treatment, especially in anticipated postnatal disease. Fetal stem cells are intrinsically primed to develop in the fetal environment and an obvious advantage is using autologous stem cells or even allogeneic fetal stem cells (Michejda M, 2004).

Culturing of human stem cells offers insights that cannot be studied directly in the human embryo or understood through the use of animal models. For instance, basic research on stem cells could help to understand the causes of birth defects, infertility and pregnancy loss. It could also be useful to give a better understanding of normal and abnormal human development (chapter 3).

Another area of interest includes studies of human disease on animal models. For example, mouse ES cells can be engineered to incorporate human mutated genes known to be associated with particular diseases and then used to make transgenic mouse strains. If such mice express the pathology of the human disease, this confirms the hypothesis that the gene is involved with the aetiology of the disease. This strategy also yields an animal model of the human disease which has, in most cases, a much better predictability for the human situation than more conventional animal models. One of the most illustrative examples of this method is its use in order to address the potential causes of Alzheimer's disease.

Research also studies the use of stem cells in gene therapy. Stem cells could be used as vectors for the delivery of gene therapy. One current application in clinical trials is the use of haematopoietic stem cells genetically modified to make them resistant to the HIV (virus responsible for AIDS).

The last but not the least use of stem cells is the production of specific cell lines for therapeutic transplantation. If feasible, this would be the most promising therapeutic application of stem cells. Research is being actively pursued, mostly in the mouse, with the aim of directing the differentiation of stem cells to produce pure populations of particular cell types to be used for the repair of diseased or damaged tissues. For instance, the aim would be to produce cardiac muscle cells to be used to alleviate ischaemic heart disease, pancreatic islet cells for treatment of diabetes (juvenile onset diabetes mellitus), liver cells for hepatitis, neural cells for degenerative brain diseases such as Parkinson's disease, and perhaps even cells for treating some forms of cancer. The transplantation of stem cells could also help, for example, to repair spinal cord damage which occurs frequently, mainly following trauma (for instance car accidents) and is responsible for paraplegia. Results of this kind of cell therapy on animals are promising, but are still years away from clinical application. Even more remote (possibly decades away) is the prospect of being able to grow whole organs *in vitro*, but if tissues for the repair of organs become available, it would greatly relieve the existing unsatisfied demand for donated organs for transplantation. In providing a potentially unlimited source of specific clinically important cells such as bone, muscle, liver or blood cells, the use of human stem cells could open the way to a new "regenerative medicine".

In fact, based on the positive results of experimentation on rodents and primates, clinical trial in patients with Parkinson's disease have been performed on around 200 patients over the last 10 years, especially in Sweden and the USA. They have shown that the transplantation of neural cells derived from the human fetus can have a therapeutic effect, with an important reduction of the symptoms of the disease in the treated patients. The clinical improvement among these patients has been observed for 6-24 months after transplantation and in some cases for 5-10 years. It has recently been shown that 10 years after the transplantation surgery, the transplanted neural cells were still alive and producing dopamine, the compound which is deficient in the brain of patients with Parkinson's disease. However, this therapeutic approach still remains experimental. In addition, the availability of neural fetal tissue is very limited. Five to six aborted fetuses are needed to provide enough neural tissue to treat one Parkinson's patient. That is why new sources of neural cells have been explored in some countries such as the US and Sweden. Their aim is to derive neural stem cell lines from fetuses with unlimited growth potential and that could be cryopreserved, providing much greater amounts of neural tissue for transplantation.

1.1.3. Stem Cells and Legislation

The use of stem cells, in particular, embryonic stem cells is governed by laws.

In Europe Article 18 of the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine establishes that each country should decide whether to authorize embryo research or not. Each nation is only obliged to respect two conditions: "to ensure adequate protection of the embryo", that is to say to adopt a legislation fixing the conditions and limits of such research; and to prohibit "the creation of human embryos for research purposes". The Convention is binding only for the States which have ratified it.

At the EU level, although there is no legislative competence to regulate research, some directives allude to the issue of embryo research and use. For instance, Directive 98/44/EC on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions (patenting on life) stipulates that "processes for cloning human beings" and "uses of human embryos for industrial or commercial purposes"... "shall be considered unpatentable".

Directive 98/79/EC on *in vitro* diagnostic medical devices (including the use of human tissues) provides that "the removal, collection and use of tissues, cells and substances of human origin shall be governed, in relation to ethics, by the principles laid down in the Convention of the Council of Europe for the protection of human rights and dignity of the human being with regard to the application of biology and medicine and by any Member States regulations on this matter".

The situation in the USA contrasts with that in Europe. In September 1988 the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in the US convened a panel of non-government experts, ethicists, lawyers, theologians, physicians and biomedical researchers, representing varied outlooks on the use of fetal tissue, and on abortion. The conclusion of a substantial majority of the panel members was that though "it is of moral relevance that human fetal tissue has been obtained from induced abortion," fetal tissue transplantation research is "acceptable public policy", provided that certain safeguards are in place. They recommended that there be anonymity between the donor and the recipient, and that special consent procedures be used to separate the decision to abort from the decision to donate tissue. These recommendations were in keeping with other guidelines established in other countries and "located squarely in the middle" of international consensus (U.S. National Institutes of Health, 1988).

All committees specified that no one should benefit economically from donating or distributing tissue, and most required some form of record keeping. Many advisory panels stated that fetal tissue research should be permitted if it is consistent with local laws and subject to approval of local institutional review boards.

The issue of stem cell research, particularly embryonic stem cell research, became a high-profile political issue in the U.S. during the first year of President George W. Bush's term in office. On August 9, 2001, Bush enacted a ban on federal spending for the purpose of deriving new embryonic stem cells from fertilized embryos. He argued that performing research on embryos is destroying human life, and should therefore be avoided. Both the 109th and 110th Congresses

passed bills overturning the ban, but both were vetoed by Bush. During the 109th Congress, both houses passed and Bush signed a bill banning the creation of human fetuses with the sole purpose of destroying them and harvesting their body parts. The Senate also passed a bill encouraging research into the creation of stem cell lines without destroying human embryos.

President Barack Obama removed the rules limiting research on human embryonic stem cells in the United States. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) in Bethesda, Maryland, is now working out policies that will allow researchers to apply for grant money from the agency to study some of the hundreds of cell lines created after President George W. Bush limited federal funding to research on lines in existence at that time. President Barack Obama signed the executive order on 9 March 2009. The new order asks the NIH to develop guidelines and regulations to govern federally funded human embryonic stem-cell research.

Various commissions have been established in the United States and abroad to study the question of using fetal tissue. Some early commission reports examined research on live fetuses and pregnant women, paying little attention to the transplantation of fetal tissue. Later reports have focused more on the use of tissue from dead fetuses. Most committees have made distinctions between different categories of fetuses, depending on age and weight of the fetus, viability (the likelihood of the fetus surviving outside the uterus), whether the research was to take place *in utero* or *ex utero*, whether the research was to directly benefit that fetus, and, finally, whether or not the fetus was alive. The Center for Biomedical Ethics at the University of Minnesota reports that more than 1000 patients have received transplanted fetal tissue worldwide. Countries where fetal tissue transplantation has occurred include: Australia, Canada, China, the Commonwealth of Independent States (formerly the U.S.S.R.), Cuba, Czechoslovakia, Finland, France, Germany, Great Britain, Hungary, India, Italy, Mexico, Norway, Spain, Sweden, and Yugoslavia (Vawter DE and Caplan A, 1992).

Recently, a UK stem cell research company has received approval from the UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) to commence a first-in-man clinical trial for the treatment of patients who have been left disabled by an ischaemic stroke, the most common form of the condition. The company has used its cmycERTAM technology to generate genetically stable neural stem cell lines isolated from human fetal brain.

Another innovation, described by Shinya Yamanaka's team from the University of Kyoto in Japan, worked on skin cells from the face of a 36-year-old woman. After collecting these fibroblasts, the scientists injected them with genes coding for four transcription factors. This genetic manipulation enabled them to activate certain genes in the skin cells that are normally active only at the embryonic development stage (Takahashi K *et al.*, 2007).

In the USA, James Thomson's team showed that four factors (OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, and LIN28) are sufficient to reprogram human somatic cells to pluripotent stem cells that exhibit the essential characteristics of embryonic stem (ES) cells. Such induced pluripotent human cell lines should be useful in the production of new disease

models and in drug development, as well as for applications in transplantation medicine (Yu J *et al.*, 2007).

Although the results of these recent iPS studies are of enormous biological and clinical interest, the research has also triggered an ethical debate. What is the advantage of such a technique over current techniques? While some people present iPS as the solution to many ethical issues posed by embryonic stem cells and therapeutic cloning, not all the experts are in agreement. The technique does not require the use of embryos and produces cells that are genetically identical to the patient's own cells.

This recent discovery of the American and Japanese research teams does not seem to challenge the scientific worth of embryonic stem cell's debate. However, they do hold out new hope for treating ailments like cancer, diabetes, arthritis, spinal cord lesions, heart disease, burns, Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's. With regard to organ transplants, the new technique could enable doctors to create stem cells using the patient's own DNA, thus eliminating the risk of rejection.

It is easy to understand why this innovative method is being greeted with so much fervour. However, there is still a long way to go before the method can be tested for clinical applications. Above all, scientists will need to determine how identical iPS are to embryonic stem cells.

About the human fetal stem cells there is a different way to improve the research from the government policy.

1.2. Human Adult Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells

1.2.1. Skeletal Muscle Stem Cells (Skmscs)

The primary functions of skeletal musculature are locomotor activity, postural behavior, and breathing. However, skeletal muscle is susceptible to injury after direct trauma (e.g., intensive physical activities, lacerations) or resulting from indirect causes such as neurological dysfunction or innate genetic defects. If left unrepaired, these injuries may lead to loss of muscle mass, locomotive deficiency, and in the worse cases lethality.

The maintenance of a working skeletal musculature is conferred by its remarkable ability to regenerate. Indeed, upon muscle injury a finely orchestrated set of cellular responses is activated, resulting in the regeneration of a well-innervated, fully vascularized, and contractile muscle apparatus.

The advances of molecular biology techniques combined with the identification and development of rodent models for muscular dystrophy have contributed to the identification of molecular pathways involved in muscle regeneration. In particular, the identification of muscle satellite cells has led to major advances in our understanding of muscle regeneration. Significant research into the biology of satellite cells has elucidated the cellular and molecular mechanisms during muscle regeneration. These studies have also led to insight regarding the development of therapeutic strategies that may alleviate some of the pathological conditions associated with poor

muscle regenerative capacity, such as the one observed in muscular dystrophy patients and in the course of normal aging. More recently, the identification of multipotent stem cells capable of myogenic differentiation in the course of muscle regeneration has extended our view on the muscle regenerative process and opened new perspectives for the development of novel therapies.

Muscle satellite cells have long been considered a distinct myogenic lineage responsible for postnatal growth, repair, and maintenance of skeletal muscle. Skeletal muscle satellite cells were first described in frog muscle by Mauro (Mauro A, 1961) based on their morphology and position relative to mature myofibers and were later identified in adult avian and mammalian muscle (Armand O *et al.*, 1983). Satellite cells adhere to the surface of myotubes prior to the formation of the basal lamina, such that the basal lamina surrounding the myofiber and satellite cells is continuous (Armand O *et al.*, 1983; Bischoff R and Heintz C, 1994).

Satellite cells mediate the postnatal growth of muscle and are the primary means by which the mass of adult muscle is formed (Schultz E and Jaryszak DL, 1985). The overall population of satellite cells decreases with increasing age. Satellite cells in adult skeletal muscle are normally mitotically quiescent but are activated (i.e., initiate multiple rounds of proliferation) in response to stress induced by weight-bearing exercise or trauma (Rosenblatt JD et al, 1995; Schultz E and Jaryszak DL, 1985; Bischoff R and Heintz C, 1994; Grounds MD, 1999). The descendants of activated satellite cells, called myogenic precursor cells (mpcs), undergo multiple rounds of division prior to fusing with existing or new myofibers.

Satellite cells appear to form a population of stem cells that become activated, proliferate and and express myogenic markers (satellite cells expressing myogenic markers are also termed myoblasts) in response to stimuli such as myotrauma. Ultimately, these cells fuse to existing muscle fibers or fuse together to form new myofibers during regeneration of damaged skeletal muscle. (Bischoff R and Heintz C, 1994; Schultz E and McCormick KM, 1994).

Since the original description of the myogenic satellite cell, considerable interest and research efforts have focused on myogenic satellite cell biology. These research efforts have enhanced our understanding of muscle growth, remodeling, and regeneration. In addition, new paradigms have been proposed regarding the regenerative capacity and the plasticity of the myogenic satellite cell population (Lemischka I, 1999; Megeney LA *et al.*, 1996.; Ordahl CP, 1999; Seale P *et al.*, 2000).

These paradigms suggest that the satellite cell population not only has a remarkable capacity for muscle regeneration but may also contribute to alternative muscle and non-muscle lineages and may have clinical applications.

Until a few years ago, skeletal-muscle satellite cells were thought to be capable of regenerating muscle fibres only. They are normally quiescent but become activated and start to divide in response to muscle trauma. However, studies in the past few years have shown that adult skeletal-muscle tissue contains progenitors or pluripotent stem cells able to differentiate into several phenotypes of mesenchymal cell (Young HE *et al*,1999; Young HE *et al.*, 2001) which suggests that the pool of skeletal-muscle-derived stem cells includes distinct subpopulations of precursors with different differentiating capacities. Satellite cells may represent only one of these subsets (Heslop L *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, a study in rats confirmed that skeletal muscle stem cells consist of a mixture of progenitors and pluripotent stem cells able to differentiate not only into different types of mesodermal cells, but also into cells of neuroectodermal origin such as astrocytes and neurons (Romero-Ramos M *et al.*, 2002). One of the limitations of most of these studies is that they used animal models, and there have been very few human studies.

Specific cells within skeletal muscle exhibit apparent stem celllike plasticity and multipotentiality (Orkin SH and Zon LI, 2002; Romero-Ramos M *et al.*, 2002). This implies that there is something unique about the skeletal muscle environment that allows it to support the survival of primitive progenitors. Indeed, we have recently demonstrated that adult skeletal muscle derived stem cells (SkmSCs) may also differentiate into neurogenic cell lineages (Alessandri G *et al.*, 2004).

The number of quiescent satellite cells in adult muscle remains relatively constant over multiple cycles of degeneration and regeneration, suggesting a capacity for self-renewal within the satellite cell compartment. Beside this interesting potential, skeletal muscle contains cells with similar biological characteristics to mesenchimal stem cells (MSCs) (Asakura *et al.*, 2001).

MSCs can differentiate into multiple mesoderm-type cells (e.g. osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes (Kassem *et al.* 1993; Justesen *et al.* 2002; Johnstone *et al.* 1998). Recently, unexpected 24

plasticity has been attributed to MSCs, as they have been demonstrated to differentiate into a number of non-mesoderm-type cells, including neuronal-like cells (Jiang *et al.* 2002; Sanchez-Ramos *et al.* 2000). The emerging field of regenerative medicine holds the promise of treating a variety of degenerative diseases where no specific or effective treatment is currently available by transplanting biologically competent mature cells and organs. In particular, there are several investigations focused on the transplantation of MSCs in neurodegenerative diseases. What is encouraging is the presence of an accumulating evidence of the versatile differentiation potential and hypo-immunogenic nature of MSCs .(Le Blanc *et al.* 2003).

1.2.2. Satellite Cell Identification

Anatomic identification. Resident within adult skeletal muscle is a pool of undifferentiated mononuclear cells termed satellite cells because of their anatomic location at the periphery of the mature, multinucleated myotube. The defining characteristic of the satellite cell is that the basal lamina that surrounds the satellite cell and the associated myofiber is continuous (Schultz E and McCormick KM, 1994). Other distinguishing morphological features of the satellite cell population include a relatively high nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio with few organelles, a smaller nuclear size compared with the adjacent nucleus of the myotube, and an increase in the amount of nuclear heterochromatin compared with that of the myonucleus. These morphological features are consistent with the finding that satellite cells are relatively quiescent and transcriptionally less active. These distinguishing features are absent following activation or proliferation of the satellite cells in response to growth, remodeling, or muscle injury. After activation, the satellite cells are more easily identified as they appear as a swelling on the myofiber with cytoplasmic processes that extend from one or both poles of the cell (Schultz E and McCormick KM, 1994). The number of quiescent satellite cells in adult muscle remains relatively constant over multiple cycles of degeneration and regeneration, demonstrating an inherent capacity for self-renewal (Gibson MC and Schultz E, 1983; Schultz E and Jaryszak DL, 1985).

The mechanism by which satellite cells undergo self-renewal in adult skeletal muscle represents an outstanding issue still poorly understood.

1.2.3. Morphological Characteristics of Skeletal Muscle Regeneration

Adult mammalian skeletal muscle is a stable tissue with little turnover of nuclei. Minor lesions inflicted by day-to-day wear and tear elicit only a slow turnover of its constituent multinucleated muscle fibers. Whether the muscle injury is inflicted by a direct trauma (i.e., extensive physical activity and especially resistance training) or innate genetic defects, muscle regeneration is characterized by two phases: a degenerative phase and a regenerative phase The initial event of muscle degeneration is necrosis of the muscle fibers. This event is generally triggered by disruption of the myofiber sarcolemma resulting in increased myofiber permeability. The early phase of muscle injury is usually accompanied by the activation of mononucleated cells, principally inflammatory cells and myogenic cells. Recent reports suggest that factors released by the injured muscle activate inflammatory cells residing within the muscle, which in turn provide the chemotactic signals to circulating inflammatory cells. Muscle degeneration is followed by the activation of a muscle repair process. Numerous nuclear radiolabeling experiments have demonstrated the contribution of dividing myogenic cells to regenerating myofibers, and it is well accepted that following the myogenic proliferation phase, new muscle fibers are formed much as during bona fide embryonic myogenesis; myogenic cells differentiate and fuse to existing damaged fibers for repair or to one another for new myofiber formation.

Aging is associated with a significant decline in the mass, strength, and endurance of skeletal muscles in both human and animals (Karakelides H and Nair KS, 2005). It has been proposed that compromised satellite cell function contributes to this age-linked muscle deterioration. Whether satellite cell numbers decline with age is controversial and probably varies among different muscles and species (Schafer R *et al.*, 2005).

1.2.4. Heterogeneity of Satellite Cells

The expression pattern of several molecular markers has indicated that there may be heterogeneity within the satellite cell pool of young mice (Beauchamp JR *et al.*, 2000). This could simply be due to dynamic expression of some of the antigens expressed by satellite and could be related to the length of time that the cells have been quiescent. Various functional observations suggest that the satellite cell pool may be composed of a heterogeneous population: differences between myogenic progenitors are also seen in culture where cells exhibit heterogeneity in proliferation rate, clonogenic capacity and morphology.

Whether this satellite cell heterogeneity is linked to multipotency is unknown. Until recently satellite cells were considered unipotent and their function restricted to supplying myoblasts for muscle maintenance and repair but we found that cells isolated from muscle tissue are able to differentiate into both myogenic and neurogenic lineages (Alessandri G et al, 2004) while Tamaki and colleagues demonstrated that they can adopt myogenic and endothelial fates (Tamaki T *et al.*, 2002).

1.2.5. Muscle Stem Cell Plasticity

Interestingly, while traditionally thought to be committed to the skeletal muscle fate, it is now evident that muscle stem cells, including satellite cells, are multipotent. For example, bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) treatment activates osteogenic markers in a myoblasts line (Katagiri T et al, 1994; Katagiri T et al, 1997). Moreover, satellite cells derived from single fiber cultures spontaneously form adipocytes and osteocytes when cultured on a soluble basement membrane matrix lacking strong osteogenic or adipogenic signals (Asakura A et al, 2001).

The finding that undifferentiated cells in adult myoblast cultures co-express key regulators for myogenesis, osteogenesis, and

adipogenesis, supports the hypothesis that satellite cells have a multipotential predisposition (Wada MR et al, 2002). In order to extend these findings, we designed new experiments and confirmed that adult human SkmSC can also differentiate into myogenic and neurogenic cell lineages (Alessandri G et al, 2004).

1.3. Cell Therapy

Cell therapy - also called live cell therapy, cellular suspensions, glandular therapy, fresh cell therapy, embryonic cell therapy, and organotherapy - refers to various procedures in which processed tissue from animal embryos, fetuses or organs, is injected or taken orally. Products are obtained from specific organs or tissues said to correspond with the unhealthy organs or tissues of the recipient. Proponents claim that the recipient's body automatically transports the injected cells to the target organs, where they supposedly strengthen them and regenerate their structure.

The term "cell therapy" identifies one way of treatment in which drugs are replaced with cells. Recently, this definition has been used primarily to indicate procedures involving the use of well characterized cell subsets, subject to specific treatments, such as cell selection, and *in vitro* expansion, creating clones with anti-infective or anti neoplastic proprieties. In the area of cell therapy, it is preferable to use the term "implant" to define an enrichment of cellular entities in the host organism for therapeutic purposes since transplantation is the replacement of damaged biological structures with other intact structures taken from the same patient or from a donor (homologous or heterologous graft).

The source from which the cells are obtained defines the category of type of implant used:

- Autologous implant: cells taken from the same patient.
- Allogeneic implant or heterologous: cells obtained from an immune-compatible donor.
- Singenic implant: cells of monozygotic twins (rare).

Cell therapy is the treatment of human diseases by the administration of cells that have been selected, multiplied and pharmacologically treated or altered outside the body (*ex vivo*). The aim of cell therapy is to replace, repair or improve the function of damaged tissues or organs or cells.

The reason for the great of interest in cell therapy is its ability to do a job better than any chemical could: cells can secrete hormones (e.g. insulin) or other therapeutic substances, they can form connections with host tissues (e.g. formation of neuronal connection in the brain) and they can proliferate to replace injured tissue and to provide structural support (e.g. in the case of musculoskeletal disorders).

1.3.1. History of Cell Therapy

The theory behind cell therapy has been in existence for several hundred years. The Swiss doctor and alchemist Philippus Aureolus Paracelsus (1493-1541 recorded the first discussion of the concept of cell therapy in his *Der grossen Wundartzney* ("Great Surgery Book") in 1536 that "the heart heals the heart, lung heals the lung, spleen heals the spleen; like cures like." Paracelsus and many of his contemporaries agreed that the best way to treat an illness was to use living tissue to restore sickly people.

The first form of cell therapy, in particular a blood cellular therapy, was made by Jean-Baptiste Denis (1640-1704), court physician to King Louis XIV. He attempted to transfuse lambs' blood into human subjects.

The first cell therapy experiment recorded, occurred in 1912, when German physicians attempted to treat children with hypothyroidism, or an underactive thyroid, with thyroid cells.

However, "The father of cell therapy" was Dr. Paul Niehans (1882-1971), a Swiss physician. In 1931, after a colleague erroneously removed parathyroid glands from a patient, Niehans attempted to transplant in this patient the parathyroid glands of an ox. Immediately, the patient began to improve. Niehans made more trials, even experimenting on himself, and reported that live cells extracted from healthy animal organs could cure illnesses. He believed adding new tissue stimulated rejuvenation and recovery.

Swedish researchers have successfully transplanted human fetal stem cells into Parkinson's patients, and the procedure is being investigated further as a possible treatment for repairing damaged brain by neurological disorders such as Parkinson's disease, but also Alzheimer's disease and epilepsy. However, because the cells used in these applications must be harvested from aborted human fetuses, there is an ethical debate over their use.

Currently, applications of cell therapy in the United States are still in the experimental and clinical trial stages. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration has approved the use of a cellular therapy technique for repairing damaged knee joints. The procedure involves removing healthy chondrocyte cells from the patient, culturing them in a laboratory for three to four weeks, and then transplanting them back into the damaged knee joint of the patient.

In addition, cell therapy has been used successfully to repair spinal cord injuries, strengthen a weakened immune system, treat autoimmune diseases such as AIDS, and a wide range of chronic conditions such as arteriosclerosis, congenital defects, cardiac disorders and sexual dysfunction.

1.3.2. The Choice of an Appropriate Stem Cell Type for CNS repair.

The choice of an appropriate stem cell type is only one step in the complex decision process for designing a rationale for therapy.

Stem/progenitor cells can be administered in an undifferentiated state or in a pre-differentiated state. While undifferentiated stem cells have the potential advantage of combining, for example, vascular and neural contribution useful for central nervous system (CNS) repair, transplantation of undifferentiated cells may result in unwanted side effects such as uncontrolled proliferation and/or differentiation into unwanted cell types. For instance, embryonic stem cells require predifferentiation in order to avoid teratoma formation (Li Z *et al.*, 2007). Pre-differentiation of the stem cells could be advantageous since the environment in the sick organ may have lost the molecular cues necessary to induce correct differentiation. On the other hand, differentiated cells may be more sensitive to oxygen and nutrient deprivation and may therefore undergo significantly more apoptosis in an ischemic environment, such as in cerebrovascular diseases. Although it is possible that higher immunogenicity of the predifferentiated cells contributed to their elimination, these results may well be compatible with the hypothesis that pre-differentiated stem cells are more prone to cell death in an ischemic environment, a question that is currently under investigation.

Recent preclinical work investigating the role of cell therapies for CNS repair has shown potential neuroprotection in the different animal models of neurodegenerative disorders and CNS injury. Mechanisms currently under investigation include engraftment and transdifferentiation, modulation of the locoregional inflammatory milieu, and modulation of the systemic immunologic/inflammatory response. While the exact mechanism of action remains controversial, the growing amount of preclinical data demonstrating the potential benefit associated with cell therapy for neurological diseases and injury warrants the development of well-controlled clinical trials to investigate therapeutic safety and efficacy.

For instance, regeneration of the CNS involves various concepts, including i) the Regrowth of disrupted neuronal axons, ii) the 33

Replacement of lost neural cells, and iii) the Recovery of lost neural function, all of which are essential components of CNS regeneration.

Although pioneering clinical experience with stem cell-related therapy seems promising, it is too early for general clinical use of this technique, since many questions remain unanswered. Indeed, while questions about safety, dose. and administration route/timing/frequency are the first ones to be addressed when designing a stem cell-based clinical approach, there is accumulating evidence from recent pre-clinical studies that other issues may also be at stake. For instance, the choice of stem cells to be used and their precise mechanism of action, the need/possibility for concurrent tissue regeneration in case of irreversible tissue loss, the differentiation degree and specific vascular identity of the transplanted cells, and the long-term survival of engrafted cells in the absence of a normal supportive tissue environment should be well considered.

Many researchers have focused their attention on certain types of cells that are potential candidates for their characteristics in regenerating the CNS. These cells can be classified into three categories:

- 1. Stem cells: adult stem cells derived from different tissues such as neural stem cells or bone marrow-derived mensenchymal stem cells and potentially, embryonic stem cells.
- 2. Progenitor cells: neuronal or glial progenitor cells.
- Differentiated or precursor cells: neural precursor cells and specific neuronal subtype *in vitro* differentiated from progenitor cells or from adult or embryonic stem cells.

All three cell types have already been implanted into damaged CNS in animal experiments showing different properties and efficiency that must be appropriately marked to obtain the best results.

Stem cells (SCs) are immature cells endowed with self-renewal potential that are able to differentiate into various cell lineages, regardless of their source (pluripotent).

Progenitor cells are a type of cell already commissioned to a specific lineage and like stem cells have a capacity to differentiate into a specific type of cell but their self renewal and potentiality *in vivo* and *in vitro* are limited (unipotent, sometimes multipotent).

Differentiated or precursor cells are a more specialized cell type that have a specific physiological role and are not able to proliferate.

The optimal candidate for cell-based CNS regeneration must: proliferate efficiently, differentiate appropriately, survive in the recipient, integrate into the host tissue, work appropriately and not be harmful to the recipient. A variety of cell types have been examined and tested for their capacity. *In vitro* studies have examined the ability of stem cells to differentiate into all cell types of neural tissue investigated the functional characteristics of these cells. *In vivo* studies in animal models of neurological diseases have examined the capacity of stem cells to graft into the host neural tissue and then assayed the functional recovery of the diseased CNS.

These research has shown that cell therapy is a promising option for the treatment of CNS diseases. Therefore, strategies to augment cell function, survival, and homing could be crucial to improve success rates for cell therapy.
1.3.3. The Development of Cell-Based Therapies

Stem cell research has the potential to transform disease treatment, reduce costs to society and enhance the quality of life for millions of patients. Stem cells also hold the promise of important business opportunities - with new directions for industry innovation and product development. The development of cell-based therapies is delayed by ethical and policy barriers as well as by technological and scientific obstructions. Generic methods for the derivation and establishment of new cells and cell lines and for the propagation, characterization and differentiation need to be established and validated. More specifically, some development processes suffer from the lack of viable and up-scaled techniques, the limited control over the expansion processes, the limited control over the directed differentiation process, the absence of biological markers to identify the specific cells intended for therapy and to monitor the differentiation process, the absence of reliable preservation methods (long term and short term), the lack of standardization in the field, and the lack of human embryonic cell lines free of contamination by animal components.

The advanced therapy products such as living, non-germ-line somatic cells administered to humans for therapeutic purposes are regulated as medicinal products, and require premarket approval. The regulatory, ethical and quality control levels have been addressed in official documents published by regulatory bodies in various Countries such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of the United States or the European Medicines Agency (EMEA). These regulatory bodies provide guidelines necessary to design a medical team in charge of a phase I/II somatic cell therapy clinical trial. The main points for implementing a clinical trial are:

- Patient Safety
- Quality Product Assurence:
- 1. Safety
- 2. Purety
- 3. Effectiveness
- 4. Correct Identity
- 5. Correct Strength
- Facilities
- Maintenance and testing

1.3.4. Patient Safety

When developing cell therapy, proponents of this treatment must accept the responsibility to ensure that participants are not exposed to known unreasonable risks and that the experimental products are as safe as possible. It is critically important that clinical trials assure the safety of human subject participants by using quality controlled products, and by practicing good clinical medicine.

Patients should approach these treatments with extreme caution, should inquire about their proven efficacy and legal use in the country where they live, and should only accept treatment from a licensed physician who should educate the patient completely on the risks and possible side effects involved with cell therapy. These same cautions apply for patients interested in participating in clinical trials of cell therapy treatments.

1.3.5. Quality Product Assurence

Cell therapy has the potential to revolutionize the management of diseases that are currently incurable or have inadequate treatments. Cell therapy products represent a rising area of therapeutic intervention and their relative newness and complexity present considerable challenges in accomplishing product release.

It is indispensable to maintain an high level of safety and quality in preparing cellular products for therapy. GMP (Good Manufacturing Practice)-graded cell processing such as cell preparation, culture, and manipulation is obligatory for the delivery of such advanced cell therapy.

Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) is an international set of regulations, codes, and guidelines by which drugs (known as medicinal products in Europe), medical devices, diagnostic products, foods and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) are manufactured. The purpose of GMP is to ensure a quality product. In the European Union and USA, the GMPs are enforced, with more compliance requirements than those stated in the WHO GMPs, are in force; while in the USA, FDA's version of GMPs, including requirements over and above those stated in the WHO document. Similar forms of GMP are used in other countries, such Australia, Canada, Japan, Singapore and where highy sophisticated GMP standards are required.

In general, cell culture operations should be carefully managed in terms of quality of materials, manufacturing controls, and equipment validation and monitoring:

- Both manufacturing and testing procedures should be implemented which ensure the control of cell cultures with regard to identity and heterogeneity.
- Cell culturing practices and facilities should be designed to avoid contamination of one cell culture with another.
- Characterization of therapeutic entity which requires the manufacturer to prove scientifically that the product is safe, and efficacious.
- The essential characteristics of the cultured cell population (phenotypic markers such as cell surface antigens, functional

properties, activity in bioassays, as appropriate) should be defined, and the stability of these characteristics established with respect to time in culture. This profile should be used to define the limits of the culture period.

• Materials used during *in vitro* manipulation procedures should be clearly identified and a qualification program with set specifications should be established for each component to determine its acceptability for use during the manufacturing process. When using reagent grade material, the qualification program should include testing for safety, purity, and potency of the component where appropriate.

Quality control is imperative in order to confirm the conformity, sterility and the function of cells. The normes require that the quality control be independent and objective.

1.3.6. Facilities

In the case of pharmaceutical products, bacterial contamination is prevented by sterilization by heat or filtration after manufacturing. However, in order to maintain living cells for cell therapy cells cannot be sterilized after processing. Therefore, a dedicated GMP facility, conforming to specified standards in order to avoid microbial contamination of the product and the environment and/or to protect the operator, is obligatory.

Thus, the Italian Guidelines for Somatic Cell Therapy, and also other guidelines from other contries, prescribe that all operations be performed in Biosafety Level 3 (BL3) laboratories, with controlled access to the laboratories and high efficiency particulate filtered air (HEPA filter). Specific training of the personnel and standard operating procedures must be provided.

1.4. Human ALS disease and animal models: Preclinical studies for development of new cell-based strategies

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), described in 1869 by the French neurologist Jean-Martin Charcot, is a fatal neurodegenerative disease whose cause is still unknown. ALS is sometimes referred to as 'Lou Gehrig disease' after the famous American baseball player who was diagnosed with the disorder. The clinical distinctiveness of the ALS pathophysiology is characterized by the progressive Motor Neuron (MN) degeneration in the spinal ventral horns, in the most brainstem motor nuclei, corticospinal and corticobulbar systems. The loss of MN leads to progressive atrophy of skeletal muscles. The fatal outcome caused by ALS is usually within 2-5 years after onset and it is due to the acute muscular atrophy leading to the respiratory failure with the denervation of the respiratory muscles and diaphragm. (Bradley WG. et al., 2001). The annual incidence of ALS disease is about 2-6 cases/100,000 with a lifetime risk of developing ALS of 1 per 800 (Cleveland and Rothstein 2001). The median age of onset is 55 years (Adult-Onset ALS form), although it can start at younger ages (Juvenile-Onset ALS form) (Chancellor AM, 1996).

To date many attempts have been made to understand the cellular and molecular ALS pathophysiological mechanisms. However, little is known about the genetic defects or environmental factors that cause or predispose to ALS.

The 90% of ALS cases occurs in sporadic form (sALS) whereas the familial form of ALS (fALS) accounts for 5–10% of cases.

The fALS cases exhibit significant phenotypic and genetic heterogeneity (table 1). Among them, about 20% are caused by missense mutations in the SOD1 gene that codes for the enzyme Cu2+Zn2+ superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1). To date it has been characterized about 70 different mutations in the *SOD1* gene that span all *SOD1* gene exons. Although most cases of SOD1-related fALS follow autosomal dominant inheritance, autosomal recessive inheritance has been rarely reported.

Recently, the genetic linkage studies have identified the loci for fALS juvenile-onset subtypes: Two recessively inherited loci map to chromosomes 2q and 15q whereas one dominant juvenile onset locus maps to chromosome 9q34 (Hentati A. *et al.*, 1994; Hentati A. *et al.*, 1998; Chance PF. *et al.*, 1998). In a recent study Hosler et al have identified the locus for an adult onset subtype of fALS with frontotemporal dementia (FTD) that maps to chromosome 9q21-q22 (Hosler BA. *et al.*, 2000).

Although specific genetic alterations do not appear to cause sALS, a number of potential susceptibility and modifier loci have been identified. In the 1999 Cleveland et al reviewed the contributions that genetic linkage studies had made to found the deletions within the Cterminal KSP repeat region of the neurofilament heavy-subunit (*NFH*) gene in a 1% of sporadic ALS patients. These sALS genetic linkages suggest that NF-H variants may represent risk factors for ALS disease (Cleveland DW. *et al.*, 1999).

The fALS and sALS forms show very similar clinical characteristics and common histopathological features such as ubiquitinated inclusions and axonal swellings with the abnormal accumulations of neurofilaments in degenerating motoneurons (Ince PG. et al., 2000). These evidences suggests that common mechanisms may be implicated in both fALS and sALS pathogenesis. On the other hand the genetic mutations described so far in fALS and sALS patients affect proteins involved in a wide range of cellular mechanisms, including free radical scavenging, energy metabolism, axonal transport, RNA processing, DNA repair, vesicular transport, and angiogenesis (table 1 and 2). Many hypotheses have been formulated to explain the ALS pathogenic mechanisms involved in the selective vulnerability of the affected MNs: these include mitochondrial dysfunction, Glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, protein misfolding, proteosomal dysfunction, aberrant growth factor signaling, microinflammatory process and glial activation. Nevertheless the exact mechanisms that trigger the focal MN degeneration of spinal cord brainstem and cerebral cortex in ALS patients remain to be elucidate. For instance it is believed that the development of the ALS disease is caused by an interplay between endogenous (genetic, metabolic) and exogenous factors (environmental, lifestyle).

Currently, the management of ALS is essentially symptoms-based, and many different drugs have been tested on their capacity to alleviate or delay the symptoms of ALS patients and to extend their survival, but none has proved to be successful.

The only currently Food and Drug Administration-approved treatment for ALS that slightly slows disease progression and prolongs the survival of ALS patients, with no improvement in muscle function, is riluzole (Bensimon G *et al.*, 1994).

This drug is an antiglutamatergic agent and limits glutamate release from nerve endings possibly by stabilizing the inactive state of voltage dependent sodium channels and by a G protein-coupled intracellular pathway. However the effect size of riluzile treatment was small, as the median increase in ALS patients survival is about two to three months.

fALS Gene/Loci	Onset	Comments	References
SOD1	А	Dominant and Recessive type of inheritance 20% fALS.	Shav CE. et al., 1998
Ch 18q21	А	Dominant type of inheritance	Sapp PC <i>et al.</i> , 2003
Ch 16q12	А	Dominant type of inheritance	Abalkhail H <i>et al.</i> , 2003
fALS Gene/Loci	Onset	Comments	References
TDP-43	А	Dominant type of inheritance. The TDP-43 protein was identified as a component of ubiquitinated inclusions in FTLD-ALS	Maekawa S <i>et al.</i> , 2009
Ch 20ptel- p13	А	Dominant type of inheritance	Sapp PC <i>et al.</i> , 2003
VAPB	A	Dominant type of inheritance.	Nishimura AL et al.,

Table 1: Familial ALS Loci.

		The vesicle-associated membrane	2004	
		protein/synaptobrevin-associated		
		membrane protein B (VAPB)		
		involved in the ER-Golgi transport		
		systems.		
		Dominant type of inheritance.		
		ALS with dementia, Parkinsonism.		
		The mutations of the microtubule-	Hutton M. <i>et al.</i> , 1998	
MAPI	A	associated protein tau (MAPT) have	Hutton M. et al., 1998	
		been associated with several		
		neurodegenerative disorders.		
Ch 0a21 22	۸	Dominant type of inheritance	Hosler BA. et al.,	
Cli 9q21-22	A	1%-4% fALS.	2000	
Ch Xp11-		fALS X-linked	Citizera T. et al. 1009	
q12	A	Dominant type of inheritance	Siddique 1 <i>el ul.</i> , 1998	
Alsin	т	Recessive type of inheritance	Hadapa at al. 2001	
(ALS2)	J		Hadano <i>ei ui</i> ., 2001	
SETX	J	Dominant type of inheritance	Chen YZ et al., 2004	
Ch 15q15.1-	Т	Recessive type of inheritance	Hentati A. et al. 1998	
q21.1	5		1101100 11. Cr u., 1990	

A= Adult; J= Juvenile. FTLD-ALS= Fronto Temporal Lobar Dementia-ALS

Table 2: ALS susceptibility/ modifier Loci.

ALS susceptibility/ modifier loci	Onset	Comments: variants and associations	References
NFH	А	The NFH gene encodes for the neurofilament heavy-subunit. The codon deletions in KSP repeats are found in 1% cases of sALS.	Figlewicz DA <i>et a</i> l., 1994
EAAT2	А	Suppressed expression of the glial glutamate transporter EAAT2/GLT-1 in 60% of sALS patients.	Jackson M. <i>et al.</i> , 1999
VEGF	А	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor gene Promoter SNPs in sALS cases	Lambrechts D. et al. 2003
SMN1	A	Copy number variants. sALS	Corcia P et al., 2006
SMN2	А	Copy number variants. sALS	Veldink JH <i>et al.</i> , 2005
CNTF	J	Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor , a potent survival factor for motor neurons. Null allele in fALS	Giess R et al., 2002
ΑροΕ ε4	A	ε4 genotype	Drory VE et al., 2001

A= Adult; J= Juvenile.

Several studies of pathogenic mechanisms of ALS relies in the analysis of ALS autopsy samples, but these data have not yielded reliable information about the pathophysiological mechanisms of MN degeneration from disease onset to the death of the patients.

In the last century the advanced Magnetic Resonance (MR) neuroimaging applications to patients suffering from ALS have become an indispensable methods for the understanding of ALS pathophysiology under in-vivo-conditions, mainly because of its noninvasive nature. The wide technical advances in MR imaging-based studies should be enhanced more extensively for monitoring treatment efficacy of the ALS-modifying or neuroprotective agents in the context of clinical trials. At present, the assessment of Riluzile treatment effects on 1H-MR spectroscopy measures in ALS is only preliminary.

Under these circumstances, biomedical research is the only expect to develop possible therapeutic strategies.

In this sense experimental in vivo models have been developed to improve the knowledge of the SLA pathophysiology and the development of new pharmacological treatments. These include animals with spontaneous MN degeneration, transgenic rodents, and animals in which spinal MN death was produced with pharmacological tools (table 3).

Table 3:	Overview	of ALS	animal	models.

Animal Models	Description	Pathological changes	References
wobbler mouse	The vps 54 spontaneous mutants	Upper and lower MN degeneration, progressive muscular atrophy of the forelimbs.	Ref. tab. 5
Transgenic mutant SOD1 rodents	ALS-linked SOD1 mutations	Mitochondria swellings, vacuoles, SOD1 aggregates, neurofilament accumulations, MN loss. The severity of the ALS phenotype is directly proportional to the mutant SOD1expression levels.	Rosen DR . <i>et</i> al., 1993
Mutant NF-L rodents	ALS-linked NF disorganization	Perikaryal and axonal NF accumulations. Massive degeneration of spinal MN	Lee MK. et al., 1994
hNF-H overexpressor rodents	ALS-linked NF disorganization	Perikaryal accumulations and axonal atrophy Altered conductivity but no neuronal loss	Cote F <i>et al.</i> , 1993
Peripherin overexpressor rodents	ALS-linked NF disorganization	Age-dependent IF aggregates in perikarya and axons 40% loss of spinal MN	Millecamps S et al., 2006
Dynamitin overexpressor rodents	ALS-linked microtubule- based transport defects	Abnormal gaits and decrease in strength. Axonal IF swellings 25% loss of MN axons at 16 months	LaMonte BH et al., 2002
kinesin heterozygous Knockout rodents	ALS-linked microtubule- based transport defects	Staggering gait after 1-year of age Progressive muscle weakness	Zhao C. <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2001
Dynein mutations heterozygous rodents	ALS-linked microtubule- based transport defects	Progressive motor dysfunction Loss of 4–70% of motor neurons at 16 months	Bommel <i>H</i> et al., 2002
Dynactin overexpressor rodents	ALS-linked microtubule- based transport defects	Defects in vesicular transport in cell bodies of motor neurons, axonal swelling and axo-terminal degeneration	Laird FM <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2008
Alsin knockout mice	ALS-linked endosomal	Defects of endosome trafficking, late-onset	Hadano S. et

	trofficiana	degeneration of careballer	al 2006
	defects	Purkinie cells and of	, 2000
	dereets	corticospinal axons	
Transgenic mutant TDP- 43 mice	ALS linked TDP-43 mutations	Gait abnormalities at 3 months of age and an average survival of 153 days.	
wild-type TDP-43 overexpressor rodents	ALS linked TDP-43 mutations	Lack of cytoplasmic TDP-43 aggregates Dose-dependent degeneration of cortical and spinal motor neurons and subsequent development of spastic quadriplegia	Wils H <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Mutants TDP- 43 overexpressor rodents	ALS linked TDP-43 mutations	Develop paralysis and death as early as 12 days.	StallingsNR. et al., 2009
Rodent Models of non-genetic spinal MN degenerations	Acute and chronic spinal MN degeneration models induced by excitotoxic agents, sciatic axotomy or sindbis virus	The main objective of these experimental studies is to test the different MN- proective agents for testing potential therapeutic approaches.	Deshpande DM <i>et al.</i> , 2006

As a result, scientists can now carry out pre-clinical experiments aimed to test various approaches to ALS therapies in ALS animal models such as anti-glutamate agents, neurotrophic factors, antioxidant, antiapoptotic factors, cell and gene therapy strategies.

In the face of extraordinary advances in the knowledge of the stem cell biology that will likely hold remarkable potential for therapies and cures, Several recent lab studies have focused on ALS cell therapy approaches.

There already exists evidence from ALS pre-clinical studies that stem cells have the capacity to alleviate or retard the symptoms and to prolong the survival of the ALS animal models. (table 4)

Table 4: Overview of preclinical cell therapies in animal models of ALS

Animal Models	Cell source	Injection sites and cell numbers	Effect on onset and/or survival	References
Presymptom atic SOD1 ^{G93A} rats	Cervical sc hNSCs (8 w old fetus)	Bilateral lumbar SC injections, 4 sites, 50 000 cells/site	Delay in onset Increase in Life Span	Xu L <i>et al.</i> , 2006
Presymptom atic SOD1 ^{G93A} mice	LeX+/CXCR4+ mNSCs from CBA- eGFP or Hb9-eGFP mouse brains (6–8 w old) treated with bFGF, laminin, Shh and RA	Bilateral lumbar SC injections, 1 site, 1x10 ⁴ cells	Delay in onset Increase in Life Span. Delayed loss of lumbar motor neurons.	Corti S <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2007
Presymptom atic nmd mice (P1-2)	ALDH ^{II} SSC ¹⁰ mNSC from Thy1- YFP SC treated with Shh, RA, cAMP and NGF	Intrathecal delivery, 2x10 ⁴ cells	Delay in onset Increase in Life Span. Delayed loss of lumbar motor neurons. Preservation of large axons (ventral root)	Corti S <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006
Presymptom atic irradiated SOD1 ^{G93A} mice (8 w old)	hUCB cells	R.o. injection, 34.2– 35x10 ⁶ cells	Delay in onset Increase in Life Span	Ende N <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Presymptom atic, irradiated SOD1 ^{G93A} mice (8 w old)	mBM cells	R.o. injection, 5 · 10 ⁶ cells	Delay in onset Increase in Life Span	Ende N et al., 2000
Symptomati c SOD1G93A mice (P114)	hNT cells	Bilateral lumbar SC injection, 1 site, 7.5 $\cdot 10^4$ cells/site	No effect on average survival	Garbuzova- Davis S <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2008
Adult rats with sciatic axotomy	K048 hNSCs treated with Shh	Unilateral lumbar SC injection, 1 site, $1 \cdot 10^5$ cells	Partial recovery from paralysis	Gao J <i>et al.</i> , 2005
5–7 w old rats with chronic, bilateral motor neuron deficiency	mES cells treated with Shh and RA	Bilateral lumbar SC injections, 1 site, 6 · 10 ⁴ cells	Partial recovery from paralysis	Deshpande DM <i>et al.</i> , 2006

Animal Models	Cell source	Injection sites and cell numbers	Effect on onset and/or survival	References
Presymptomatic, irradiated SOD1 ^{G93A} mice (4 w old)	mBM cells from Thy1-YFP or CBA-eGFP or SOD1 ^{G93A} mice	I.p. injection, 30 · 10 ⁶ cells	Delay in onset and increase in life span of wildtype BMCs. No effect of SOD1 ^{G93A} BMCs	Corti S <i>et al.</i> , 2004
Presymptomatic SOD1 ^{G93A} mice (P56)	hNT cells	Bilateral lumbar SC injection, 1 site, $7.5 \cdot 10^4$ cells	Slight delay of onset	Garbuzova- Davis S <i>et al.</i> , 2003
Symptomatic SOD1G93A mice (P114)	hNT cells	BilaterallumbarSCinjection, 1 site, $7.5 \cdot 10^4$ cells /site	No effect on average survival	Garbuzova- Davis S <i>et al.</i> , 2008
Adult rats with sciatic axotomy	K048 hNSCs treated with Shh	Unilateral lumbar SC injection, 1 site, $1 \cdot 10^5$ cells	Partial recovery from paralysis	Gao J <i>et al.</i> , 2005

BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; ChAT; choline acetyltransferase; CMAP, compound muscle action potential; CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; CXCR4, chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4; GDNF, glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GFP, green fluorescent protein; hMSC, human mesenchymal stem cell; hNPC, human neural progenitor cell; hNSC, human neural stem cell; HNu, human nuclear antigen; hUCBC, human umbilical cord blood cell; L1CAM, L1 cell adhesion molecule; MAP2, microtubule-associated protein 2; mBMC, mouse bone marrow cell; MN, neuronal nuclei; NF, neurofilament; O4, oligodendrocyte marker; rAAV, recombinant adeno-associated virus; rMSC, rat mesenchymal stem cell; SC, spinal cord; SOD1, superoxide dismutase 1;Tuj1, antibody against β -III tubulin; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; YFP, yellow fluorescent protein.

1.4.1. The Wobbler mouse.

The original wobbler mouse mutation (wr) was first described by Falconer (1956) as a autosomal recessive genetic modification that appeared spontaneously in the congenic C57BL/6J stock and caused a wobbly gait characteristic of the mice (Falconer et al., 1956). Subsequently, the original wr/wr mouse strain was crossbred with a high fertility NFR/N stock to improve productivity. Since then, mice of the new wobbler (Wr) lineage have been well characterized (Mitsumoto, H. et al., 1988; Mitsumoto, H., and W. G. Bradley., 1982). This hybrid strain presents the same phenotypic characteristics as mice of the original Wr line (Takeo Ishiyama et al., 1997). The autosomal recessive mutation is pleiotropic, causing progressive motorneuron degeneration and defective spermiogenesis (Duchen L.W. and Strich S.J., 1968; Heimann, P. et al., 1991). A more accurate characterization of the motoneuronal degeneration in the ventral horn of the cervical spinal cord, in the brainstem, and in the cortical regions of the wobbler (Wr) brain have prompted researchers to consider the Wr mouse as a good model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Pioro E.P., et al. 1998).

The statistical analysis of the Wr strain progeny by Falconer and colleagues, has provided the genetic mapping of the wr mutation to proximal mouse chromosome 11 in a region homologous to human chromosome 2p13–14. A recent study by Thomas Schmitt-John has refined the genetic localization of the *wr* locus, identifying a missense mutation in the *Vps54* gene (Schmitt-John, T. *et al.*, 2005). This locus encodes for the vacuolar protein sorting 54 (Vps54), a subunit of the Golgi-associated retrograde protein (GARP) complex involved in the

retrograde transport of endosomes from the periphery to the Golgi apparatus. Until now the precise mechanism by which the missense mutation in Vps54 causes motoneuron disease is not known. Chimera analysis has shown that the Vps54 mutation exerts a pleiotropic action through a tissue or cell-autonomous mechanism in the affected organs, spinal cord and testis (Augustin *et al.*, 1997). Up to now, there is no evidence for mutations of Vps54 human homologus in patients with ALS. Because of the clinical symptomatology and neuropathological Wr findings fit closely with human ALS it possible that common pathways to cell death, perhaps including impaired vesicle traffic are involved (Meisler MH, *et al.*, 2008).

The evolution of motor neurodegeneration in the Wr line develops into three clinical phases: the presymptomatic phase, the evolutionary phase and the stationary phase (table 5) (Duchen *et al.*, 1968).

Clinical Phases	Time Slot	Clinical Characteristics	Pathological Findings	References
Preclinical Phase	The first mo of age	Subtle alteration in the righting reflex. Slight reduction in the normal weight ranges	Subtle Morphological Changes of spinal cord and brain stem MN	Bose <i>et al.</i> , 1999.
Evolutionary Phase	1–3 mo of age	40-50% of reduction in weight. Progressive Muscolar atrophy.	Loss of beetwen 20% to 40% of the MN in brainstem and cervical spinal cord. Neurodegeneration in the cerebral cortex and cortical hyperexcitability	Nieto- Gonzalez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010; Pioro et al 1998;
Stabilization Phase	3–6 mo of age	Preserved motility only in the hindlimbs	Arrest of MN Degeneration. Severe muscular denervation of the forelimbs.	Melki J. et al., 1991

Table 5: Overview of the clinical Wr phases and neuropathological Wr findings.

The presymptomatic phase occur in the first 4 weeks of postnatal life, in which the mice that are homozygous for the *wr* mutation do not display severe clinical signs of the motor neuron disorder unless there is a subtle alteration in the righting reflex at three to seven postnatal days of age and an impaired performance during grid walking at 2 wk of age.

Moreover, prior to 3 week of age, the Wr mice show a slight reduction in the normal weight ranges(Bose *et al.*, 1998; Bose *et al.*, 1999).

The histological and molecular studies of the presymptomatic phase have revealed subtle morphological alterations of the motorneurons in the cervical spinal cord, in the brainstem, in the ventral reticular magnocellular nucleus, and in the motor nuclei of the cranial nerve V and VII of the mutant. These anomalies are characterized by an enlargement of motorneuron soma and a weak labeling of Nissl bodies. Sporadic neurons with a faded Nissl staining or chromatolysis have also been described in thalamic nuclei of the extrapyramidal system at 2 week of mutant age (Schmitt-John T., and Bartsch J.W., 1999). During the third week of Wr age the affected neurons show the first evidence of mild axon degeneration with ultra structural alterations of the cytoskeleton, abnormal invagination of the myelin sheaths, dilation of the endoplasmic reticulum, and the presence of large and dense secondary lysosomes. (Mitsumoto, H., and W. G. Bradley., 1982)

Alterations in the synthesis of neurofilaments, Chaperone Protein neuropeptide, Growth Factors and Growth-Factor-Receptor in the affected Wr Central Nervous System regions between the late presymptomatic phase and the early evolutionary phase have also been reported (table 6)

From the third to the fourth week of Wr age, Wr weight is between 40-50 % less than that of their control littermates and remains lower thereafter. At this juvenile stage, Wr mice show the first overt symptoms of the progressive neurological syndrome that develops

until the second to third month of life. This stage corresponds to the evolutionary phase of the motor neurodegeneration (Coulpier M. *et al.*, 1996; Bose *et al.*, 1999).

The clinical abnormalities of the Wr mice result in muscular atrophy and motor impairment that are particularly conspicuous in the forelimbs, e.g., biceps and triceps muscles. The symptoms in the early evolutionary phase are a tremor of the head, weakness of forelegs and unsteady gait. These clinical onsets progress in later stages until motility is retained only in the hindlimbs (Andrews J.M. *et al.*, 1974).

The major histological features of the early evolutionary phase are characterized by a cytoplasm vacuolization of the motoneurons in the cervical spinal cord, brainstem and deep cerebellar nuclei followed by a progressive loss of affected motoneurons (Mitsumoto H and Bradley WG 1985; Duchen L.W. and Strich S.J.,1968; Campbell MJ *et al.*, 1972).

At 6 week of mutant age there is a loss of beetwen 20% to 40% of the motoneurons in brainstem and cervical spinal cord accompanied by extensive astrogliosis (Baulac *et al.*, 1983; Pollin M.M., *et al.*, 1990; Junier *et al.*, 1994). The neuronal loss is then stabilized but the vacuoles, which are present in the cell body of the surviving affected motoneurons, become increasingly large and numerous, until they completely fill the soma. These vacuoles originate from the dilation of the endoplasmic reticulum (Duchen *et al.*, 1968; Andrews J.M. *et al.*, 1975).

The morphological changes of the motorneuronal soma are accompanied by axonal degeneration, an event explained by the reduction of axonal number or diameter and the alteration of axonal transport systems.

The slow axonal transport, fast anterograde, and fast retrograde transports display a reduction of the proteins transported (Bird M.T. *et al.*, 1971; Mitsumoto *et al.*, 1986; Mitsumoto *et al.*, 1990; Mitsumoto *et al.*, 1993).These phenomena may be related to the accumulation of abnormal neurofilaments observed during the presymptomatic period.

The most relevant molecular alterations observed in the Wr cervical spinal cord during evolutionary phase concern the molecular factors belonging to the pathways of neurotrophism, motorneuronal differentiation, astrogliosis and oxidative stress.

During the Wr evolutionary phase there is an increased expression of proteins believed to be involved in motoneuronal development and gliosis, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and its associated receptors, trkB and p75 NTR, c-Jun, transforming growth factor alpha (TGF α), and the growth-associated protein GAP-43 (Table 6). These evidences indicate that the Wr mutation may stimulate the production of molecules endowed with glio- or neurotrophic properties in an attempt to delay degeneration, considering that these factors promotes neuronal survival after axotomy and differentiation of embryonic neurons (Henderson *et al.*, 1986).

However, the Wr motorneuronal degeneration progress and there is a decline of expression of choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) protein, the limiting enzyme for the synthesis of acetylcholine, a main neurotransmitter released by motoneurons. Astrogliosis with strong expression of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) are found in Wr gray and white matters of the cervical spinal cord, primary motor cortex, and subpial regions. This phenomena is in common with ALS patients. To date the cause of astrocytosis in Wr mice and ALS patients are unknown. Some authors consider the astrogliosis event a secondary response to neurodegeneration In the other hand, available evidences suggest that the Wr mutation cause the abnormal astrocytic differentiation. In this sense, the dysfunction of astricyties could have a role in the motorneuronal degeneration.

In the 2002 study Corvino et al demonstrated the Wr astroglia hyperexpression of the S100B, a calcium-binding protein. These authors have show that the high concentrations of S100B protein is correlate with the increased immunoreactivity for the indicator of lipid peroxidation 4- hydroxynonenal (HNE) in the Wr spinal cord, providing the direct evidence of the occurrence of oxidative stress in Wr pathology (Corvino *et al.*, 2002).

The higher expression of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) with chronic free radical production found in Wr mice cervical spinal cord is one of the indirect evidences on the participation of oxidative stress in Wr neuropathology (Clowry and McHanwell., 1996).

Whether astroglia dysfuncitons are responsible for oxidative stress or not is yet a controversial question;

Recently, several studies have shown the mitochondrial dysfunction in the Wr motor cortex and spinal cordat the early stage of evolutionary phase. These findings lead to the hypothesis that

production of free radicals by affected mitochondries and its subsequent impact on lipid peroxidation, may play a key role in causing the early pathology in the Wr motor neurons (Xu G.P. *et al.*, 2001; Kunjan R. D. *et al.*,2003).

Links between oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunctions in human ALS disease have also established (Bowling A. *et al.*,1993; Shaw, P.J., Eggett, C.J., 2000; Sasaki S and Iwata M., 2007).

Several studies have demonstrated that caspase-dependent apoptosis or necrosis does not account for Wr motoneuron death (Blondet B. *et al.*, 200; Coulpier M. *et al.*,1996; Popper P. *et al.*, 1997; Chu-Wang I.W. *et al.*, 1978; Pilar G. and Landmesser L., 1976; Clarke P.G.H., 1990; Bigini *et al.*, 2007).

In the 2007 study, Bigini and colleagues have shows the lack of apoptotic markers, such as caspase activation and DNA fragmentation, in the degenerating motorneuron of the Wr cervical spinal cord. Moreover Bigini et al characterize the intense vacuolization and the morpho-functional alterations of mitochondria in the cytoplasm of degenerating motor neurons suggesting the possible involvement of autophagic cell death in the Wr cervical motor neurons (Bigini *et al.*, 2007). However the identity of the components of the death pathways that are mobilized in Wr mice has not yet been identified.

The Wr cervical spinal cord motordegeneration, muscular denervation, astrocytosis, overexpression of trophic factors and oxidative stress with hyperexpression of NOS and S100B are the characteristics that fit with the spinal cord of ALS patients. Despite these correlations, the Wr spinal cord neuropathology differ from the human ALS in fact of the selective Wr vulnerability of the cervical spinal cord compared to the lumbar tract. This Wr pathophysiological characteristic is a particularly interesting tool for further investigating the cellular determinants of motor neuron degeneration. In this line of purpose Bastone and colleagues have recently identified different pattern of proteins expression between the affected cervical tract and the Iumbar tract of the Wr spinal cord. These authors show the selective Wr lumbar tract overexpression of proteins involved in vesicular and axonal transport and proteins involved in mitochondrial function. The hyperexpression of these proteins may have a neuroprotective effects and significantly contribute in maintaining integrity and functionality of motor neurons in the lumbar tract of the Wr spinal cord (Bastone *et al.*,2009).

Several ultrastructural abnormalities have been found in the evolutionary phase of the Wr brain closely resembling those observed in the brain of patients with ALS.

In the 1998 study, Pioro and colleagues demonstrated the neuronal pathology in the neocortex of the mutant wobbler mouse by *in vivo* magnetic resonance spectroscopy 1H-MRS. These analysis have revealed a reduction in the ratio of *N*-acetylaspartate (NAA), one of the major metabolites localized to neurons, and creatine phosphocreatine (Cr) which serves as an internal standard in the cerebral cortex of the wobbler mouse during the early evolutionary phase (8-12 wees of mouse age). The decrease of NAA/Cr signal in 1H-MRS analysis is a typical characteristic finding in ALS patients,

indicating neuronal dysfunction and/or loss (Giroud M. et al., 1996; Gredal O. et al., 1997).

Pioro et al analyzed the metabolic alteration in the wobbler neocortex ex vivo by immunocytochemistry. These studies revealed the accumulation of ubiquitin and phosphorylated heavy neurofilament (P+NFH) in the wobbler cerebral cortex (Pioro E.P. *et al.*, 1998).

Similar immunocytochemical changes have also been reported in cortical neurons of patients with ALS (Leigh PN. *et al.*,1991).

Recently Nieto-Gonzalez and colleagues have demonstrated the cortical hyperexcitability of the Wr mice and their correlation whit alterations in inhibitory gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA)ergic system (Nieto-Gonzalez *et al.*, 2010).

Similar cortical hyperexcitability has been demonstrate in the ALS patients, but the cause is still unknown (Caramia MD *et al.*, 2000; Vucic S *et al.*, 2008). The studies of Nieto-Gonzalez et al raises the possibility that alterations in inhibitory gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA)ergic system could be explain this human ALS cortical symptom.

The evidence of neuronal pathology in the Wr mouse brain shows that neuronal target cells of the *wr* mutation are not restricted to motoneurons, but extend to upper brain areas, supporting the validity of Wr mice as an animal model of ALS where cortical motor neuron degeneration is usually present.

Table 6: Overview of Molecular Alterations in the Wr MN and Their Glial Environment.

Molecule	V	Tissue	Method	References
BDNF	+	MN	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: ICC	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
BDNF	+	MN, SC	Protein: ICC	Tsuzaka K <i>et al.</i> , 2001
TGFα	+	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: ICC	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
SMDF	0	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR	Junier M.P. <i>et al.,</i> 1998
NT-3	0	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: ICC	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
TNF-α, IL-1β	+	SC, brainstem, cerebellum	RNA: RT-PCR	Schlomann U. <i>et al.</i> , 2000
IL-2, IL-6, IL- 10, IL-12, IL-18 IFN-γ	0	SC, brainstem	RNA: RT-PCR	Schlomann U. <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Trk B	+	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
Trk C	0	SC dMN	RNA: RT-PCR	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
C-Jun	+	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
P75NTR	+	dMN	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: ICC	Junier M.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
NF light	0 + +	SC SC dMN	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: Western RNA: RT-PCR	Pernas-Alonso R. et al., 1996
NF medium	+	SC	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: Western	Pernas-Alonso R. et al., 1996
GAP-43	+	MN, dhSC	RNA: ISH Protein: ICC	Gonzalez D. M.C et al., 1999
Adhesion molecule F3	0	SC	RNA: RT-PCR	Pernas-Alonso R. et al., 1995
peripherin	0	SC	RNA: RT-PCR	Pernas-Alonso R. et al., 1995
ubiquitin	+	Cortical neurons	ICC	Pioro E.P. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
NOS (NAPDH diaphorase)	+	dMN	Activity: histochemistry	Gonzalez D. M.C et al., 1999
PAR-1	+	SC	RNA: RT-PCR	Salcedo R.M. <i>et al.</i> , 1998
TRPM-2	+	SC, MN	RNA: ISH, northern	Krieger C. <i>et al.</i> , 1991
ADAM-8	+ 0	SC, brainstem cortex	RNA: RT-PCR Protein: ICC, western	Schlomann U. <i>et al.</i> , 2000

The variations (V) as compared to control litter mates are symbolized with + (increase), - (decrease), 0 (no change). MN, motoneurons; dMN, motoneurons

presenting histological signs of degeneration; astro, astrocytes; glia, microglial cells; SC, spinal cord; dhSC, dorsal horn of the spinal cord; ICC, immunocytochemistry; ISH, *in situ* hybridization; SMDF, sensory and motor neuron-derived factor; TRPM-2, testosterone-repressed prostatic message 2. TGF- α and TNF- α are putative candidates for a role of motoneuronal inducers of astrogliosis (Junier M.P. *et al.*, 1998, Krieger C. *et al.*, 1991). Activation of the cell-surface receptor of the activated protease (PAR-1) by the serine protease thrombin may underlie an eventual reciprocal action of the reactive astrocytes upon the MN. Activation of PAR-1 by thrombin has recently been shown to result in apoptosis of various neuronal populations and of avian MN in particular. In Wr spinal cords, PAR-1 mRNA levels are slightly increased at birth, and multiplied by 5 in 4-wk-old mutants. Its cellular sources correspond to spinal MN and in vitro Wr astrocytes release enhanced levels of thrombin-like activities (Salcedo R.M.*et al.*, 1998).

The progression of the motorneuron degeneration during the Wr is associated with progressive physiological evolutionary phase muscular denervation atrophy of the head, the neck, the shoulders, and the forelimbs and less significantly the posterior muscles. At the end of the Wr evolutionary phase the affected muscles show several anomalies of the neuromuscular synapses whit a severe reductions of the neuronal-cell adhesion molecule (N-CAM) expression, acetylcholine esterase activity and a reorganization of the neuromuscular contacts (Melki J. et al., 1991).

The Wr evolutionary period is followed by a stabilization phase, in which the clinical symptoms appear to reach a steady state. During this stage the Wr motoneuron loss stops and the valcuolization of the motorneuron disappear at 14 months of Wr age. The survival of affected mice is approximately 1 year when they are maintained together with normal littermates (Duchen *et al.*, 1968).

The terminal stage of the Wr muscular atrophy is reached at the stationary state with the most severe symptoms that appear in the forelegs muscle. In fact the electromyographic recordings of the forelimbs muscles at the Wr stationary state display characteristics of muscular denervation, whereas, the hind limb muscles are electromyographically normal (Andrews J.M. *et al.*,1974).

In summary the refined investigations of the Wr neurodegeneration at the clinical, cellular, and molecular levels reveal that motoneuron degeneration is accompanied by the classical etiopathological mechanisms that are common to other types of neurodegenerative illnesses excitotoxicity, defective free radical detoxification pathways, and accumulation of toxic protein aggregates. Thus the studies of the effects of potential therapeutic agents in Wr model, enable the researchers to develops new efficient therapies, such cell therapy, also for other as human neurodegenerative diseases.

Scope of the thesis

Stem cell research has the potential to transform disease treatment, reduce costs to society and enhance the quality of life for millions of patients(Chapter1).

The stem cell technology for neurological disorders such as Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis disease (ALS) promise to provide potentially curative treatments for this and other progressive and debilitating conditions.

In this thesis we analyze the neuroprotective and neurorestorative proprieties of human SkmSCs transplanted in an animal model of ALS diseases (Chapter 2). Moreover we demonstrated the utility of human neural stem cells, isolated from LND tissues, for studying disease and identifying potential therapeutics (Chapter3).

References

Abalkhail H, Mitchell J, Habgood J, Orrell R, de Belleroche J. A new familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis locus on chromosome 16q12.1-16q12.2. Am J Hum Genet. 2003 Aug;73(2):383-9. Epub 2003 Jun 26.

Alessandri G, Pagano S, Bez A, Benetti A, Pozzi S, Iannolo G, Baronio M, Invernici G, Caruso A, Muneretto C, Bisleri G, Parati E. Isolation and culture of human musclederived stem cells able to differentiate into myogenic and neurogenic cell lineages. Lancet, 2004 364, 1872-1883.

Andrews J.M. The fine structure of the cervical spinal cord, ventral root and brachial nerves in the wobbler (wr) mouse. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 1975; 34, 12–27.

Andrews J.M., Gardner M.B., Wolfgram F.D., Ellison G.W., Porter D.D., and Brandkamp W.WStudies on a murin form of spontaneous lower motor neuron degeneration- the wobbler (wr) mouse. Am. J. Pathol. 1974; 76, 63–78.

Armand O, Boutineau AM, Mauger A, Pautou MP, Kieny M. Origin of satellite cells in avian skeletal muscles. Arch Anat Microsc Morphol Exp, 1983 72(2), 163-181.

Asakura A, Komaki M, Rudnicki M (2001) Muscle satellite cells are multipotential stem cells that exhibit myogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation. Differentiation 68:245–253

Asakura A, Komaki M, Rudnicki M. Muscle satellite cells are multipotential stem cells that exhibit myogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation. Differentiation, 2001 68, 245-253. Augustin M., Heimann P., Rathke S., and Jockusch H. Spinal muscular atrophy gene wobbler of the mouse: evidence from the chimeric spinal cord and testis for cellautonomous function. Dev. Dyn. 1997; 209, 286–295.

Baulac, M., Rieger, F., and Meininger, V. The loss of motoneurons corresponding to specific muscles in the wobbler mouse mutant. Neurosci. Lett. 1983; 37:99–104.

Beauchamp JR, Heslop L, Yu DS, Tajbakhsh S, Kelly RG, Wernig A, Buckingham ME, Partridge TA, Zammit PS. Expression of CD34 and Myf5 defines the majority of quiescent adult skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Biol, 2000 151(6), 1221-1234.

Becher H, Knoche H. Light microscopic observations on synaptic connections of the nerve cells in the reticular formation. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr Z Gesamte Neurol Psychiatr, 1962 203, 1-2.

Bensimon G, Lacomblez L, Meininger V, The ALS/Riluzole Study Group: A Controlled Trial of Riluzole in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. N Engl J Med 1994, 330:585-591.

Bigini P, Atzori C., Fumagalli E., Cagnotto A., Barbera S., Migheli A., Mennini T., Lack of caspase-dependent apoptosis in spinal motor neurons of the wobbler mouse. Neuroscience Letters 2007; 426, 106–110.

Bird M.T., Jr E.S., Koestner A., and Reinglass J. The wobbler mouse mutant: an animal model of hereditary motor system disease. Acta Neuropathol. 1971; (Berl). 19, 39–50.

Bischoff R, Heintz C. Enhancement of skeletal muscle regeneration. Dev Dyn, 1994 201(1), 41-54.

Blondet B., Aït-Ikhlef A., Murawsky M., and Rieger F. Transient DNA fragmentation in nervous system during the early course of a murine neurodegenerative disease. Neurosci.Lett. 2001; 305, 202– 206.

Bommel H, Xie G, Rossoll W, Wiese S, Jablonka S, Boehm T, Sendtner M: Missense mutation in the tubulin-specific chaperone E (Tbce) gene in the mouse mutant progressive motor neuronopathy, a model of human motoneuron disease. J Cell Biol 2002, 159:563-569.

Bongso A, Fong CY, Ng SC, Ratnam S. Isolation and culture of inner cell mass cells from human blastocysts. Hum Reprod, 1994 9, 2110-2117.

Bose P., Fielding R., Ameis K.M., and Vacca- Galloway L.L. A novel behavioral method to detect motoneuron disease in wobbler mice aged three to seven days old. Brain Res. 1998; 813, 334–342.

Bose P., Fielding R., Ameis K.M., and Vacca- Galloway L.L. A novel behavioral method to detect motoneuron disease in wobbler mice aged three to seven days old. Brain Res. 199;. 813, 334–342.

Bose P., Fielding R., and Vacca-Galloway L.L. () Effects of assisted feeding on wobbler mouse motoneuron disease and serotoninergic and peptidergic sprouting in the cervical spinal horn. Brain Res. Bull. 1999; 48, 429–439.

Bowling A., Schulz J.B., Brown R.H.J., and Beal M.F. Superoxide dismutase activity, oxidative damage, and mitochondrial energy metabolism in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurochem. 1993; 61, 2322–2325.

Bradley WG, Anderson FA Jr, Bromberg MB, Gutmann L, Harati Y, Ross MA, Miller RG. Current management of ALS: Comparison of

the ALS CARE Database and the AAN Practice Parameter. Neurology. 2001;57:500-504

Bruce SA, Deamond SF, Ts'o PO. In vitro senescence of Syrian hamster mesenchymal cells of fetal to aged adult origin. Inverse relationship between in vivo donor age and in vitro proliferative capacity. Mech Ageing Dev, 1986 34(2), 151–173

Brüstle O, Choudhary K, Karram K, Hüttner A, Murray K, Dubois-Dalcq M, McKay RD. Chimeric brains generated by intraventricular transplantation of fetal human brain cells into embryonic rats. Nat Biotechnol, 1998 16(11), 1040-1044.

Campagnoli C, Roberts IA, Kumar S, Bennett PR, Bellantuono I, Fisk NM. Identification of mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells in human first-trimester fetal blood, liver, and bone marrow. Blood, 2001 98(8), 2396–2402.

Campbell MJ. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1972; 31, 190.

Caramia MD, Palmieri MG, Desiato MT, Iani C, Scalise A, Telera S, Bernardi G. Pharmacologic reversal of cortical hyperexcitability in patients with ALS. Neurology 2000; 54:58-64.

Chance PF, Rabin BA, Ryan SG, Ding Y, Scavina M, Crain B, Griffin JW, Cornblath DR: Linkage of the gene for an autosomal dominant form of juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis to chromosome 9q34. Am J Hum Genet 1998, 62:633-640.

Chancellor AM.Diagnosing motor neurone disease. BMJ. 1996 Mar 16;312(7032):650-1.

Chen YZ, Bennett CL, Huynh HM, Blair IP, Puls I, Irobi J, Dierick I, Abel A, Kennerson ML, Rabin BA, Nicholson GA, Auer-Grumbach M, Wagner K, De Jonghe P, Griffin JW, Fischbeck KH, Timmerman V, Cornblath DR, Chance PF. DNA/RNA helicase gene mutations in a form of juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS4). Am J Hum Genet. 2004 Jun;74(6):1128-35. Epub 2004 Apr 21.

Chu-Wang I.W. and Oppenheim R.W. () Cell death of motoneurons in the chick spinal cord.. J. Comp. Neurol. 1978; 177, 33–58.

Clarke P.G.H. Developmental cell death: morphological diversity and multiple mechanisms. Anat. Embryol. 1990; 181, 195–213

Cleveland DW, Rothstein JD. From Charcot to Lou Gehrig: deciphering selective motor neuron death in ALS. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001;2:806–809.

Cleveland DW. From Charcot to SOD1: mechanisms of selective motor neuron death in ALS. Neuron. 1999 Nov;24(3):515-20.

Clowry G.L. and mcHanwell S. Expression of nitric oxide synthase by motor neurons in the spinal cord of the mutant mouse wobbler. Neurosci. Lett. 1996; 215, 177–180.

Corcia P, Camu W, Halimi JM, Vourc'h P, Antar C, Vedrine S, Giraudeau B, de Toffol B, and Andres CR. SMN1 gene, but not SMN2, is a risk factor for sporadic ALS. Neurology 67: 1147–1150, 2006.

Corti S, Locatelli F, Donadoni C, et al. Wild-type bone marrow cells ameliorate the phenotype of SOD1-G93A ALS mice and contribute to CNS, heart and skeletal muscle tissues. Brain 2004;127:2518–2532.

Corti S, Locatelli F, Papadimitriou D, et al. Neural stem cells LewisX+ CXCR4+ modify disease progression in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model. Brain 2007;130:1289–1305. Corti S, Locatelli F, Papadimitriou D, et al. Transplanted ALDHhiSSClo neural stem cells generate motor neurons and delay disease progression of nmd mice, an animal model of SMARD1. Hum Mol Genet 2006;15:167–187.

Cote F, Collard JF, Julien JP: Progressive neuronopathy in transgenic mice expressing the human neurofilament heavy gene: a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell 1993, 73:35-46.

Coulpier M., Junier M.P., Peschanski M., and Dreyfus P.A. Bcl-2 sensitivity differenciates two pathways for motoneuronal death in the wobbler mouse. J. Neurosci. 1996; 16, 5897–5904.

Deshpande DM, Kim YS, Martinez T, Carmen J, Dike S, Shats I, Rubin LL, Drummond J, Krishnan C, Hoke A, Maragakis N, Shefner J, Rothstein JD, Kerr DA. Recovery from paralysis in adult rats using embryonic stem cells. Ann Neurol. 2006 Jul;60(1):32-44.

Doetsch F, García-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla ACellular composition and three-dimensional organization of the subventricular germinal zone in the adult mammalian brain. J Neurosci. 1997 Jul 1;17(13):5046-61.

Doria G, Mancini C, Utsuyama M, Frasca D, Hirokawa K. Aging of the recipients but not of the bone marrow donors enhances autoimmunity in syngeneic radiation chimeras. Mech Ageing Dev, 1997 95(1-2), 131–142.

Drory VE, Birnbaum M, Korczyn AD, Chapman J. Association of APOE epsilon4 allele with survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. 2001 Sep 15;190(1-2):17-20.
Duchen L.W. and Strich S.J. An hereditary motor neurone disease with progressive denervation of muscle in the mouse: the mutant wobbler. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 1968; 31, 535–542.

Ende N, Weinstein F, Chen R, Ende M. Human umbilical cord blood effect on sod mice (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis). Life Sci 2000;67:53–59.

Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature, 1981 292, 154-156.

Fagel DM, Ganat Y, Silbereis J, Ebbitt T, Stewart W, Zhang H, Ment LR, Vaccarino FM. Cortical neurogenesis enhanced by chronic perinatal hypoxia. Exp Neurol. 2006 May;199(1):77-91.

Fichera G. Impianti omoplastici feto-umani nei cancro e nel diabete. Tumori, 1928 14, 434.

Figlewicz DA, Krizus A, Martinoli MG, Meininger V, Dib M, Rouleau GA, Julien JP. Variants of the heavy neurofilament subunit are associated with the development of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Hum Mol Genet. 1994 Oct;3(10):1757-61.

Gao J, Coggeshall RE, Tarasenko YI, Wu P. Human neural stem cell-derived cholinergic neurons innervate muscle in motoneuron deficient adult rats. Neuroscience 2005;131:257–262.

Garbuzova-Davis S, Sanberg CD, Kuzmin-Nichols N, et al. Human umbilical cord blood treatment in a mouse model of ALS: optimization of cell dose. PLoS ONE 2008;3:e2494.

Garbuzova-Davis S, Willing AE, Zigova T, et al. Intravenous administration of human umbilical cord blood cells in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: distribution, migration, and differentiation. J Hematother Stem Cell Res 2003;12:255–270. Gibson MC, Schultz E. Age-related differences in absolute numbers of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Muscle Nerve, 1983 6(8), 574-580.

Giess R, Holtmann B, Braga M, Grimm T, Muller-Myhsok B, Toyka KV, and Sendtner M. Early onset of severe familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with a SOD-1 mutation: potential impact of CNTF as a candidate modifier gene. Am J Hum Genet 70: 1277– 1286, 2002.

Giroud M, Walker P, Bernard D et al. Neurol Res 1996; 18, 241–243.

Gonzalez Deniselle M.C., Gonzales S.L., Lima A.E., Wilkin G., and Nicola A.F.D. The 21-aminosteroid U-74389F attenuates hyperexpression of GAP-43 and NAPDH-diaphorase in the spinal cord of wobbler mouse, a model for amyotrophic lateral scerosis. Neurochem. Res. 1999 ; 24, 1–8.

Gotherstrom C, Ringden O, Tammik C, Zetterberg E, Westgren M, Le Blanc K. Immunologic properties of human fetal mesenchymal stem cells. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2004 190(1), 239–245.

Gredal O, Rosenbaum S, Topp S et al. Neurology 1997; 48, 878–881.

Grounds MD. Age-associated changes in the response of skeletal muscle cells to exercise and regeneration. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998 854, 78-91.

Hadano S, Benn SC, Kakuta S, Otomo A, Sudo K, Kunita R, Suzuki-Utsunomiya K, Mizumura H, Shefner JM, Cox GA, Iwakura Y, Brown RH Jr, Ikeda JE. Mice deficient in the Rab5 guanine nucleotide exchange factor ALS2/alsin exhibit age-dependent 73 neurological deficits and altered endosome trafficking. Hum Mol Genet. 2006 Jan 15;15(2):233-50. Epub 2005 Dec 1.

Hadano S, Otomo A, Kunita R, Suzuki-Utsunomiya K, Akatsuka A, Koike M, Aoki M, Uchiyama Y, Itoyama Y, Ikeda JE. Loss of ALS2/Alsin exacerbates motor dysfunction in a SOD1-expressing mouse ALS model by disturbing endolysosomal trafficking. PLoS One. 2010 Mar 22;5(3):e9805.

Harrison DE. Long-term erythropoietic repopulating ability of old, young, and fetal stem cells. J Exp Med, 1983 157(5), 1496–1504.

Hayflick L. The illusion of cell immortality. Br J Cancer, 2000 83(7), 841–846.

Heimann, P. et al., Differentiation 1991; 47, 77-83.

Henderson C.E., Camu W., Mettling C., Gouin A., Poulsen K., Karihaloo M., et al. Neurotrophins promote motor neuron survival and are present in embryonic limb bud. Nature 1993; 363, 266–270.

Hentati A, Bejaoui K, Pericak-Vance MA, Hentati F, Speer MC, Hung WY, Figlewicz DA, Haines J, Rimmler J, Ben Hamida C, et al.: Linkage of recessive familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis to chromosome 2q33-q35. Nat Genet 1994, 7:425-428.

Hentati A, Ouahchi K, Pericak-Vance MA, Nijhawan D, Ahmad A, Yang Y, Rimmler J, Hung W, Schlotter B, Ahmed A, et al.: Linkage of a commoner form of recessive amyotrophic lateral sclerosis to chromosome 15q15-q22 markers. Neurogenetics 1998,2:55-60.

Heslop L, Beauchamp JR, Tajbakhsh S, Buckingham ME, Partridge TA, Zammit PS. Transplanted primary neonatal myoblasts can give rise to functional satellite cells as identified using the Myf5nlacZl+ mouse. Gene Ther, 2001 8(10), 778-783.

Hosler BA, Siddique T, Sapp PC, Sailor W, Huang MC, Hossain A, Daube JR, Nance M, Fan C, Kaplan J, Hung WY, McKenna-Yasek D, Haines JL, Pericak-Vance MA, Horvitz HR, Brown RH Jr. Linkage of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with frontotemporal dementia to chromosome 9q21-q22. JAMA. 2000 Oct 4;284(13):1664-9.

Hutton M, Lendon CL, Rizzu P, Baker M, Froelich S, Houlden H, et al. Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. Nature 1998; 393: 702–5.

Ince PG: Neuropathology. In Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Edited by: Brown RJ, Meininger V, Swash M. London: Martin Dunitz; 2000:83-112.

Ishiyama T, Klinkosz B, Pioro EP, Mitsumoto H. Genetic transfer of the wobbler gene to a C57BL/6J x NZB hybrid stock: natural history of the motor neuron disease and response to CNTF and BDNF cotreatment. Exp Neurol. 1997 Nov;148(1):247-55.

Jackson M, Steers G, Leigh PN, Morrison KE. Polymorphisms in the glutamate transporter gene EAAT2 in European ALS patients. J Neurol. 1999 Dec;246(12):1140-4.

Jiang, Y., B. N. Jahagirdar, R. L. Reinhardt, R. E. Schwartz, C. D. Keene, X. R. Ortiz-Gonzalez, M. Reyes, T. Lenvik, T. Lund, M. Blackstad, J. Du, S. Aldrich, A. Lisberg, W. C. Low, D. A. Largaespada & C. M. Verfaillie: Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. Nature 2002, 418, 41–49.

Johnstone, B., T. M. Hering, A. I. Caplan, V. M. Goldberg & J. U. Yoo: In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. Exp. Cell Res. 1998, 238, 265–272.

Junier M., Coulpier M., Forestier N.L., Cadusseau J., Suzuki F., Peschanski M., et al. Transforming Growth Factor $\alpha \Box$ (TGF α) expression in degenerating motoneurons of the murine mutant wobbler: a neuronal signal for astrogliosis? J Neurosci. 1994; 14, 4206–4216.

Junier M.P., Legendre P., Esguerra C.V., Tinel M., Coulpier M., Dreyfus P.A. Regulation of growth factor gene expression in degenerating motoneurons of the murine mutant wobbler: a cellular patch-sampling/RTPCR study. Mol. Cell Neurosci. 1998; 12, 168– 177.

Justesen, J., K. Stenderup, E. F. Eriksen & M. Kassem: Maintenance of osteoblastic and adipocytic differentiation potential with age and osteoporosis in human marrow stromal cell cultures. Calc. Tissue Int. 2002, 71, 36–44.

Karakelides H, Nair KS. Sarcopenia of aging and its metabolic impact. Curr Top Dev Biol, 2005 68, 123-148.

Kassem, M., L. Mosekilde & E. F. Eriksen: 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 potentiates fluoride-stimulated collagen type I production in cultures of human bone marrow stromal osteoblast-like cells. J. Bone Min. Res. 1993, 8, 1453–1458.

Katagiri T, Akiyama S, Namiki M, Komaki M, Yamaguchi A, Rosen V, Wozney JM, Fujisawa-Sehara A, Suda T. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 inhibits terminal differentiation of myogenic cells by suppressing the transcriptional activity of MyoD and myogenin. Exp Cell Res 1997 230, 342–351.

Katagiri T, Yamaguchi A, Komaki M, Abe E, Takahashi N, Ikeda T, Rosen V, Wozney JM, Fujisawa-Sehara A, Suda T. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 converts the differentiation pathway of C2C12 myoblasts into the osteoblast lineage. J Cell Biol 1994 127, 1755–1766.

Krieger C., Perry T.L., Hansen S., and Honoré T. The wobbler mouse: amino acid contents in brain and spinal cord. Brain Res. 1991; 551, 142–144.

Kunjan R. Dave, Walter G. Bradley, and Miguel A. Pe´rez-Pinzo´n Early mitochondrial dysfunction occurs in motor cortex and spinal cord at the onset of diseas in the Wobbler mouse. Experimental Neurology 2003; 182 412–420.

Laird FM, Farah MH, Ackerley S, Hoke A, Maragakis N, Rothstein JD. Et al.,. Motor neuron disease occurring in a mutant dynactin mouse model is characterized by defects in vesicular trafficking. J Neurosci. 2008 Feb 27;28(9):1997-2005.

Lambrechts D, Storkebaum E, Morimoto M, Del-Favero J, Desmet F, Marklund SL, Wyns S, Thijs V, Andersson J, van Marion I, et al.: VEGF is a modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and humans and protects motoneurons against ischemic death. Nat Genet 2003, 34:383-394.

LaMonte BH, Wallace KE, Holloway BA, Shelly SS, Ascaño J, Tokito M, Van Winkle T, Howland DS, Holzbaur EL. Disruption of dynein/dynactin inhibits axonal transport in motor neurons causing late-onset progressive degeneration. Neuron. 2002; 30;34(5):715-27. Le Blanc, K., C. Gotherstrom, C. Tammik & O. Ringden: HLA expression and immunologic properties of differentiated and undifferentiated adult and fetal mesenchymal stem cells. Bone Marrow Transplantation 2003, 31, S244–S245.

Lee, M.K., Marszalek, J.R., and Cleveland, D.W. 1994. A mutant neurofilament subunit causes massive, selective motor neuron death: Implications for the pathogenesis of human motor neuron disease. Neuron 13:975-988.

Leigh PN, Whitwell H, Garofalo O et al. Brain 1991; 114, 775–788.

Lemischka I. Searching for stem cell regulatory molecules. Some general thoughts and possible approaches. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1999 872, 274-87.

Li Q, Ford MC, Lavik EB, Madri JA. Modeling the neurovascular niche: VEGF- and BDNF-mediated cross-talk between neural stem cells and endothelial cells: an in vitro study. J Neurosci Res. 2006 Dec;84(8):1656-68.

Li Q, Michaud M, Stewart W, Schwartz M, Madri JA. Modeling the neurovascular niche: murine strain differences mimic the range of responses to chronic hypoxia in the premature newborn. J Neurosci Res. 2008 May 1;86(6):1227-42.

Li Z, Wu JC, Sheikh AY, Kraft D, Cao F, Xie X, Patel M, Gambhir SS, Robbins RC, Cooke JP, Wu JC. Differentiation, survival, and function of embryonic stem cell derived endothelial cells for ischemic heart disease. Circulation, 2007 116, 46-54.

Maekawa S, Leigh PN, King A, Jones E, Steele JC, Bodi I, Shaw CE, Hortobagyi T, Al-Sarraj S. TDP-43 is consistently co-localized 78

with ubiquitinated inclusions in sporadic and Guam amyotrophic lateral sclerosis but not in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with and without SOD1 mutations. Neuropathology. 2009 Dec;29(6):672-83. Epub 2009 Jun 3.

Mauro A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol, 1961 9, 493-495.

Megeney LA, Kablar B, Garrett K, Anderson JE, Rudnicki MA. MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev. 1996 10(10), 1173-1183.

Meisler MH, et al.Evaluation of the Golgi trafficking protein VPS54 (wobbler) as a candidate for ALS. Amyotroph Lateral Sc 2008; 9(3):141–148.

Melki J., Blondet B., Pinçon-Raymond M., Dreyfus P., and Rieger F. Generalized molecular defects of the neuromuscular junction in skeletal muscle of the wobbler mutant mouse. Neurochem. Int. 1991; 18, 425–433.

Mets T, Verdonk G. Variations in the stromal cell population of human bone marrow during aging. Mech Ageing Dev, 1981 15(1), 41–49.

Michejda M. Which stem cells should be used for transplantation? Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy. Fetal Diagn Ther, 2004 19(1), 2-8.

Millecamps S, Robertson J, Lariviere R, Mallet J, Julien JP. Defective axonal transport of neurofilament proteins in neurons overexpressing peripherin J Neurochem. 2006 Aug;98(3):926-38. Epub 2006 Jun 19. Mitsumoto H and Bradley WG. In: Adachi M, Hirano A and Aronson SM, eds ,The Pathology of the Myelinated Axon. Tokyo: Igaku Shoin, 1985; 126-149.

Mitsumoto H. and Gambetti P. Impaired slow axonal transport in wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. 1986; Ann Neurol. 19, 36–43.

Mitsumoto H., Ferut A.L., Kurahashi K., and McQuarrie I.G. Impairment of retrograde axonal transport in wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. Muscle Nerve 1990; 13, 121–126.

Mitsumoto H., Kurahashi K., Jacob J.M., and McQuarrie I.G. Retardation of fast axonal transport in wobbler mice. Muscle Nerve 1993; 16, 542–547.

Mitsumoto, H., and W. G. Bradley.. Murine motor neuron disease (the wobbler mouse): Degeneration and regeneration of the lower motor neuron. Brain 1982; 105: 811–834.

Mitsumoto, H.. A study of motor neuron disease: An approach with an animal model (the wobbler mouse). In Contributions to Contemporary Neurology: A Tribute to Joseph M. Foley, M.D. (R. B. Daroff and J. P. Conomy, Eds.), 1988; pp. 127–142. Butterworth, Boston.

Nishimura AL, Mitne-Neto M, Silva HC, Richieri-Costa A, Middleton S, Cascio D, Kok F, Oliveira JR, Gillingwater T, Webb J, Skehel P, and Zatz M. A mutation in the vesicle-trafficking protein VAPB causes late-onset spinal muscular atrophy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Am J Hum Genet 75:822–831, 2004.

Noble M, Barnett SC, Bögler O, Land H, Wolswijk G, Wren D. Control of division and differentiation in oligodendrocyte-type-2 astrocyte progenitor cells.Ciba Found Symp, 1990 150, 227-249. Ordahl CP. Myogenic shape-shifters. J Cell Biol. 1999 147(4), 869-878.

Ordemann R, Hutchinson R, Friedman J, Burakoff SJ, Reddy P, Duffner U, Braun TM, Liu C, Teshima T, Ferrara JLM. Enhanced allostimulatory activity of host antigenpresenting cells in old mice intensifies acute graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest, 2002 109(9), 1249–1256.

Orkin SH, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis and stem cells: plasticity versus developmental heterogeneity. Na. Immunol, 2002 3, 323-328.

Pernas-Alonso R., Schaffner A.E., Hansen C.T., Barker J.L., and Porzio U.d. Acetylcholine esterase and peripherin mRNA level decrease in wobbler mouse. Neuroreport 1995; 6, 597–600.

Pernas-Alonso R., Schaffner A.E., Perrone-Capano C., Orlando A., Morelli F., Hansen C.T., et al. Early upregulation of medium neurofilament gene expression in developing spinal cord of the wobbler mouse mutant. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 1996; 38, 267–275.

Phinney DG. Building a consensus regarding the nature and origin of mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem, 2002 38, 7–12.

Pilar G. and Landmesser L. Ultrastructural differences during embryonic cell death in normal and peripherally deprived ciliary ganglia. J. Cell Biol. 1976; 68, 339–356.

Pioro E.P., Wang Y., Moore J.K., Ng T.C., Trapp B.D., Klinkosz B., et al. Neuronal pathology in the wobbler mouse brain revealed by in vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and immunocytochemistry. Neuroreport 1998; 9, 3041–3046.

Pollin M.M., McHanwell S., and Slater C.R. Loss of motor neurons from the median nerve motor nucleus of the mutant mouse wobbler. J. Neurocytol 1990; 19, 29–38.

Popper P., Farber D.B., Micevych P.E., Minoofar K., and Bronstein J.M. TRPM-2 expression and Tunel staining in neurodegenerative disease: studies in the wobbler and rd miceExp. Neurol. 1997; 143, 246–254.

Rathke-Hartlieb S., Schmidt V.C., Jockusch H., Schmitt-John T., and Bartsch J.W. Spatiotemporal progression of neurodegeneration and glia activation in the wobbler neuropathy of the mouse. Neuroreport 1999; 10, 3411–3416.

Roccanova L, Ramphal P. The role of stem cells in the evolution of longevity and its application to tissue therapy. Tissue Cell, 2003 35(1), 79–81.

Romero-Ramos M, Vourc'h P,. Young HE,. Lucas PA, Wu Y, Chivatakarn O, Zaman R, Dunkelman N,. el-Kalay MA,. Chesselet MF. Neuronal differentiation of stem cells isolated from adult muscle. J Neurosi Res, 2002 69, 894-907.

Rosen DR, Siddique T, Patterson D, Figlewicz DA, Sapp P, Hentati A, Donaldson D, Goto J, O'Regan JP, Deng HX, Rhmani Z, Krizus A, McKenna-Yasek D, Cayabyab A, Gaston SM, Berger R, Tanzi RE, Haplerin JJ, Herzfeldt B, Bergh R Van den, Hung WY, Bird T, Deng G, Mulder DW, Smyth C, Laing NG, Soriano E, Pericak-Vance MA, Haines J, Rouleau GA, Gusella JS, Horvitz HR, Brown RH Jr: Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nature 1993, 362:59-62. Rosenblatt JD, Lunt AI, Parry DJ, Partridge TA. Culturing satellite cells from living single muscle fiber explants. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 1995 31(10), 773-779.

Salcedo R.M., Festoff B.W., and Citron B.A.Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase PCR to gauge increased protease-activated receptor 1 (PAR-1) mRNA copy numbers in the wobbler mutant mouse. J. Mol. Neurosci. 1998; 10, 113–119.

Sanchez-Ramos, J., S. Song, F. Cardozo-Pelaez, C. Hazzi, T. Stedeford, A. Willing, T. B. Freeman, S. Saporta, W. Janssen, N. Patel, D. R. Cooper & P. R. Sanberg: Adult bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neural cells in vitro. Exp. Neurol. 2000, 164 247–256.

Sapp PC, Hosler BA, McKenna-Yasek D, Chin W, Gann A, Genise H, Gorenstein J, Huang M, Sailer W, Scheffler M, Valesky M, Haines JL, Pericak-Vance M, Siddique T, Horvitz HR, Brown RH Jr. Identification of two novel loci for dominantly inherited familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Am J Hum Genet. 2003 Aug;73(2):397-403. Epub 2003 Jul 9.

Sasaki S and Iwata M. Mitochondrial alterations in the spinal cord of patients with sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosisJ Neuropathol Exp Neurol . 2007; 66: 10–16.

Schäfer R, Zweyer M, Knauf U, Mundegar RR, Wernig A. The ontogeny of soleus muscles in mdx and wild type mice. Neuromuscul Disord, 2005 15(1), 57-64.

Schlomann U., Rathke-Hartlieb S., Yamamoto S., Jockusch H., and Bartsch J.W. Tumor Necrosis Factor α induces a metalloprotease-Disintegrin, ADAM8 (CD 156): implications for neuron-glia 83 interactions during neurodegeneration. J. Neurosci 2000; 20, 7964–7971.

Schmitt-John, T. et al. Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. Nat. Genet. 2005; 37, 1213–1215.

Schultz E, Jaryszak DL. Effects of skeletal muscle regeneration on the proliferation potential of satellite cells. Mech Ageing Dev, 1985 30(1), 63-72.

Schultz E, Jaryszak DL. Effects of skeletal muscle regeneration on the proliferation potential of satellite cells. Mech Ageing Dev, 1985 30(1), 63-72.

Schultz E, McCormick KM. Skeletal muscle satellite cells. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol. 1994 123, 213-57.

Schultz E, McCormick KM. Skeletal muscle satellite cells. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol. 1994 123, 213-57.

Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA. Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell, 2000 102(6), 777-786.

Shamblott MJ, Axelman J, Littlefield JW, Blumenthal PD, Huggins GR, Cui Y, Cheng L, Gearhart JD. Human embryonic germ cell derivatives express a broad range of developmentally distinct markers and proliferate extensively in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2001 98, 113-118.

Shaw CE, Enayat ZE, Chioza BA, Al-Chalabi A, Radunovic A, Powell JF, Leigh PN.Mutations in all five exons of SOD-1 may cause ALS. Ann Neurol. 1998 Mar;43(3):390-4. Shaw, P.J., Eggett, C.J. Molecular factors underlying selective vulnerability of motor neurons to neurodegeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.J. Neurol. 2000; 247 (Suppl 1), 117–127.

Siddique T, Pericak-Vance MA, Caliendo J, Hong ST, Hung WY, Kaplan J, McKenna-Yasek D, Rimmler JB, Sapp P, Saunders AM, Scott WK, Siddique N, Haines JL, Brown RH. Lack of association between apolipoprotein E genotype and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurogenetics. 1998 Mar;1(3):213-6.

Stallings NR, Puttaparthi K, Luther CM, Burns DK. Et al..Neurobiol Dis. Progressive motor weakness in transgenic mice expressing human TDP-43. 2010 Nov;40(2):404-14. Epub 2010 Aug 2.

Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell, 2007 131, 1-12.

Tamaki T, Okada Y, Uchiyama Y, Tono K, Masuda M, Nitta M, Hoshi A, Akatsuka A. Skeletal muscle-derived CD34+/45- and CD34-/45- stem cells are situated hierarchically upstream of Pax7+ cells. Stem Cells Dev, 2008 17(4), 653-667.

Tavazoie M, Van der Veken L, Silva-Vargas V, Louissaint M, Colonna L, Zaidi B, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Doetsch F. A specialized vascular niche for adult neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2008 Sep 11;3(3):279-88.

Thompson S, Stern PL, Webb M, Walsh FS, Engstrom W, Evans EP, Shi WK, Hopkins B, Graham CF. Cloned human teratoma cells differentiate into neuron-like cells and other cell types in retinoic acid. J Cell Sci, 1984 72, 37-64.

Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science, 1998 282, 1145-1147.

Tsuzaka K., Ishiyama T., Pioro E.P., and Mitsumoto H. Role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. Muscle Nerve 2001; 24, 474–480.

U.S. National Institutes of Health. Advisory Committee to the Director. Human fetal tissue transplantation research: report. Bethesda, MD: The Committee, 14 December 1988. 41.

Van Zant G, Liang Y. The role of stem cells in aging. Exp Hematol, 2003 31(8), 659–672.

Van Zant G, Liang Y. The role of stem cells in aging. Exp Hematol, 2003 31(8), 659–672.

Vawter DE, Caplan A. Strange B. The Politics and Ethics of Fetal Tissue Transplant Research in the United States. J Lab Clin Med 120(1), 30-34.

Veldink JH, Kalmijn S, Van der Hout AH, Lemmink HH, Groeneveld GJ, Lummen C, Scheffer H, Wokke JH, and Van den Berg LH. SMN genotypes producing less SMN protein increase susceptibility to and severity of sporadic ALS. Neurology 65: 820– 825, 2005.

Verfaillie CM. Adult stem cells: assessing the case for pluripotency. Trends in CellBiology, 2002 12(11), 502–508.

Vogel W, Grunebach F, Messam CA, Kanz L, Brugger W Buhring HJ. Heterogeneity among human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and neural progenitor cells. Haematologica, 2003 88(2), 126–133. Vucic S, Nicholson GA, Kiernan MC. Cortical hyperexcitability may precede the onset of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosisBrain. . 2008; 131:1540--1550.

Wada MR, Inagawa-Ogashiwa M, Shimizu S, Yasumoto S, Hashimoto N. Generation of different fates from multipotent muscle stem cells. Development, 2002 129(12), 2987-2995.

Wils H, Kleinberger G, Janssens J, Pereson S, Joris G, Cuijt I, Smits V, Ceuterick-de Groote C. et al.,. TDP-43 transgenic mice develop spastic paralysis and neuronal inclusions characteristic of ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Feb 23;107(8):3858-63. Epub 2010 Feb 3.

Wynn R, Thornley I, Freedman M, Saunders EF. Telomere shortening in leucocyte subsets of longterm survivors of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematol, 1999 105(4), 997–1001.

Xu L, Yan J, Chen D, et al. Human neural stem cell grafts ameliorate motor neuron disease in SOD-1 transgenic rats. Transplantation 2006;82:865–875.

Xu, G.P., Dave, K.R., Moraes, C.T., Busto, R., Sick, T.J., Bradley, W.G., Perez-Pinzon, M.A. Dysfunctional mitochondrial respiration in the Wobbler mouse brain. Neurosci. Lett. 2001; 300, 141–144.

Young HE, Steele TA, Bray RA, Detmer K, Blake LW, Lucas PW, Black AC. Human pluripotent and progenitor cells display cell surface cluster differentiation markers CD10, CD13, CD56, and MHC class-I. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1999 221(1), 63-71.

Young HE, Steele TA, Bray RA, Hudson J, Floyd JA, Hawkins K, Thomas K, Austin T, Edwards C, Cuzzourt J, Duenzl M, Lucas PA, Black AC. Human reserve pluripotent mesenchymal stem cells are present in the connective tissues of skeletal muscle and dermis derived from fetal, adult, and geriatric donors. Anat Rec. 2001 264(1), 51-62.

Yu J, Vodyanik M, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane J, Tian S, Jonsdottir G, Ruotti V, Nie J, Thomson J. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science, 2007 21 318(5858), 1917-1920.

Zhao C, Takita J, Tanaka Y, Setou M, Nakagawa T, Takeda S, Yang HW, Terada S, Nakata T, Takei Y, et al.: Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2A caused by mutation in a microtubule motor KIF1Bbeta. Cell 2001, 105:587-597. Chapter 2 Innovative Stem Cell Therapy using human skeletal muscle derived stem cells in a mouse model of motor neuron disease

Laura Canzi MSc^{1,4}, Stefania Navone Ph.D.¹, Valeria Castellaneta², Ileana Zucca Ph.D.³, Gloria Invernici Ph.D.¹, Silvia Cristini Ph.D.¹, Tiziana Mennini Ph.D.², Paolo Bigini Ph.D.², Eugenio A. Parati M.D.¹.

¹Department of Cerebrovascular Disease, IRCCS Foundation, Neurological Institute "C. Besta". via Celoria, 11 20133 Milan, Italy. ²Department of Molecular Biochemistry and Pharmacology, Mario Negri Institute for Pharmacological Research, via La Masa, 19 20156 Milan, Italy. ³Department of Scientific Direction, IRCCS Foundation, Neurological Institute "C. Besta". Via Celoria, 11 20133 Milan, Italy. ⁴Ph.D. Program in Translational and Molecular Medicine (DIMET) University of Milano-Bicocca.

submitted

2.1. Abstract

Stem Cell Therapy represents a promising approach for treating incurable and fatal motor neurodegenerative disorders associated with progressive muscular atrophy such as Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS). Various sources of Stem Cells have been used in pre-clinical cell therapy research to evaluate their therapeutic potential on different neurodegenerative disorders. As candidates for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, mesenchymal stem cells possess numerous protective features as well as the capability to differentiate into functionally specialized neurons.

To determine the potential of non-neural stem cells for Central Nervous System (CNS) cell therapy, we investigated the usefulness of human Skeletal muscle derived stem cells (SkmSCs) transplants in the oldest known rodent model of the naturally occurring ALS disease, Wobbler (Wr) mouse.

In order to perform effective cell therapies, SkmSCs'homing was evaluated in a noninvasive manner. Using MRI longitudinal studies, we verified the location, distribution and long-term viability of human SkmSCs labeled with the contrast agent EndoremTM, a superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) associated with dextran, and transplanted in the lateral ventricles of the Wr brain. Remarkably, using histology, we show that, upon transplantation, SPIO-labelled hSkmSCs migrate and integrate in a manner appropriate for their location. In order to identify the colocalization between SPIO signal and human SkmSCs engraftment, we performed histology with Antidextran and human specific neural marker antibodies.

Moreover, in order to determine the functional outcomes of SkmSCs engraftment, we performed clinical evaluation of ALSrelated Wr motorneuropathological progression and muscular atrophy. Interestingly, the behavioural tests and histological analysis seem to suggest a functional motor recovery and a significant slowing of disease progression. Although further experiments to elucidate the human SkmSCs beneficial effects are required, the possibility to link the interactions between transplanted cells in host tissue to behavioural studies represents an original approach, likely to be associated with future clinical translation. Taken together, our findings demonstrate that human SkmSCs transplanted into the Wr brain survive and can improve behavioural deficits associated with widespread ALS disease pathology.

2.2. Introduction

Cell based therapies holds great promise for the treatment of acute and chronic central nervous system diseases that currently lack effective therapies. The main idea of stem cell therapy is based on the mainstream concept of protecting the parenchymal cells from degeneration and replacing those that have already failed in their function. As candidates for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are emerging as an effective therapeutic approach to a wide range of neural insults. Indeed, recent reports have shown that administration of MSCs also produced beneficial effects in animal models of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's disease, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, and stroke (Rina Aharoni et al., 2009). Human MSCs niches reside in various tissues, from which different amounts of human MSCs can be isolated.

Among them, Skeletal muscle derived stem cells (SkmSCs) have been functionally defined as multipotential cells with the capacity to transdifferentiate into many types of cells including neurons and glial cells (Alessandri *et al.*, 2004; Mignon *et al.*, 2005; Romero-Ramos *et al.*, 2002; Schultz *et al.*, 2006; Tamaki *et al.*, 2007; Vourc'h *et al.*, 2004; Baek YS *et al.*, 2009). The plastic ability of human SkmSCs to differentiate into neurogenic cell lineage and their neuroprotective effects make them a good candidate for autologous stem cell-based therapy purposes.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), described in 1869 by the French neurologist Jean-Martin Charcot, is a fatal neurodegenerative disease whose cause is still unknown. ALS is sometimes referred to as 'Lou Gehrig disease' after the famous American baseball player who was diagnosed with the disorder. The clinical distinctiveness of the ALS pathophysiology is characterized by the progressive motor neuron degeneration in the spinal ventral horns, in most brainstem motor nuclei, corticospinal and corticobulbar systems. The loss of motor neurons leads to progressive atrophy of skeletal muscles. The fatal outcome caused by ALS is usually within 2–5 years after onset and it is due to acute muscular atrophy leading to respiratory failure with denervation of the respiratory muscles and diaphragm. (Bradley, 1996). The annual incidence of ALS disease is about 2–6 cases/100,000 with a lifetime risk of developing ALS of 1 per 800 (Cleveland and Rothstein, 2001). The median age of onset is 55 years (Adult-Onset ALS form), although it can start at younger ages (Juvenile-Onset ALS form). To date, many attempts have been made to understand the cellular and molecular ALS pathophysiological mechanisms. However, little is known about the genetic defects or environmental factors that cause or predispose persons to ALS.

In 90–95% of instances, there is no apparent genetic linkage (a form of the disease referred to as sporadic ALS), but in the remaining 5–10% of cases, the disease is inherited in a dominant manner (a form referred to as familial ALS). The hallmark of both forms is progressive muscle weakness, atrophy and spasticity. Denervation of the respiratory muscles and diaphragm is generally the fatal event. Development of an effective therapy to ALS is complicated by the multiple events considered to contribute to the selective loss of motor neurons. Many different drugs have been tested for their capacity to alleviate or retard the symptoms of ALS patients and to prolong their survival, but none has proved to be effective. The only currently Food and Drug Administration-approved treatment for ALS that slightly slows disease progression and prolongs the survival of ALS patients, with no improvement in muscle function, is riluzole. (Wokke J *et al.*, 1996).

Under these circumstances, biomedical research is the only hope to develop possible therapeutic strategies.

In this sense experimental in vivo models have been developed to improve the knowledge of the ALS pathophysiology and the 93 development of new pharmacological treatments. These include animals with spontaneous motoneuron degeneration, transgenic rodents, and animals in which spinal motoneuron death was produced with pharmacological tools.

Among them, Wr mice are one of the most valuable models for the study of ALS syndrome progression and therapeutic treatment effects.

The original wobbler mouse mutation (wr) was first described by Falconer (1956) as a autosomal recessive genetic modification that appeared spontaneously in the congenic C57BL/6J stock and caused a wobbly gait characteristic of the mice (Falconer et al., 1956). Subsequently, the original wr/wr mouse strain was crossbred with a high fertility NFR/N stock to improve productivity. Since then, mice of the new Wr lineage have been well characterized (Mitsumoto, H. et al., 1988; Mitsumoto, H., and W. G. Bradley., 1982). This hybrid strain presents the same phenotypic characteristics as mice of the original Wr line (Takeo Ishiyama et al., 1997). The autosomal recessive mutation is pleiotropic, causing progressive motorneuron degeneration and defective spermiogenesis (Duchen L.W. and Strich S.J., 1968; Heimann, P. et al., 1991). A more accurate characterization of the motoneuronal degeneration in the ventral horn of the cervical spinal cord, in the brainstem, and in the cortical regions of the Wr brain have prompted researchers to consider the Wr mouse as a good model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Pioro E.P., et al. 1998;).

A recent study by Thomas Schmitt-John has refined the genetic localization of the *wr* locus, identifying a missense mutation in the *Vps54* gene (Schmitt-John, T. *et al.*, 2005). This locus encodes for the vacuolar protein sorting 54 (Vps54), a subunit of the Golgi-associated

retrograde protein (GARP) complex involved in the retrograde transport of endosomes from the periphery to the Golgi apparatus. Until now the precise mechanism by which the missense mutation in Vps54 causes motoneuron disease is not known. Chimera analysis has shown that the Vps54 mutation exerts a pleiotropic action through a tissue or cell-autonomous mechanism in the affected organs, spinal cord and testis (Augustin *et al.*, 1997). Up to now, there is no evidence for mutations of Vps54 human homologus in patients with ALS. Because the clinical symptomatology and neuropathological Wr findings fit closely with human ALS, it possible that common pathways to cell death, perhaps including impaired vesicle traffic are involved (Meisler MH, *et al.*, 2008).

The evolution of motor neurodegeneration in the Wr line develops into three clinical phases: the presymptomatic phase, the evolutionary phase and the stationary phase (Duchen *et al.*, 1968).

The presymptomatic phase occur in the first 4 weeks of postnatal life, in which the mice that are homozygous for the *wr* mutation do not display severe clinical signs of the motor neuron disorder. (Bose *et al.*, 1998; Bose *et al.*, 1999).

From the third to the fourth week of Wr age, Wr weight is between 40-50 % less than that of their control littermates and remains lower thereafter. At this juvenile stage, Wr mice show the first overt symptoms of the progressive neurological syndrome that develops until the second to third month of life. This stage corresponds to the evolutionary phase of the motor neurodegeneration (Coulpier M. *et al.*, 1996; Bose *et al.*, 1999).

The clinical abnormalities of the Wr mice result in muscular atrophy and motor impairment that are particularly conspicuous in the forelimbs, e.g., biceps and triceps muscles. The symptoms in the early evolutionary phase are a tremor of the head, weakness of forelegs and unsteady gait. These clinical onsets progress in later stages until motility is retained only in the hindlimbs (Andrews J.M. *et al.*, 1974).

At 6 weeks of mutant age, there is a loss of beetwen 20% to 40% of the motoneurons in brainstem and cervical spinal cord accompanied by extensive astrogliosis (Baulac *et al.*, 1983; Pollin M.M., *et a.*, *l* 1990; Laage *et al.*, 1988; Hantaz-Ambroise *et al.*, 1993; Junier *et al.*, 1994).

Muscle weakness and contracture in the forelimbs progress rapidly until eight weeks of age. Subsequently, these neuromuscular deficits progress slowly. Motor function of the forelimbs decline to the terminal stage at 10-12 weeks of age.

The Wr evolutionary period is followed by a stabilization phase, in which the clinical symptoms appear to reach a steady state.

Noninvasive monitoring of stem cells, using high-resolution molecular imaging, will be instrumental to improve clinical neural transplantation strategies. Neurotransplantation holds great promise for the treatment of acute and chronic central nervous system diseases. The ability to track stem cell transplants in the brain by in vivo neuroimaging will undoubtedly aid our understanding of how these cells mediate functional recovery after transplantation.

In order to reach this goal, SPIO-labeled human SkmSCs were transplanted into the lateral cerebral ventricles of 4 weeks Wr mice. We then used MRI to analyze migration patterns of SPIO-labeled transplanted SkmSCs. Using MRI, we were able to detect the SPIOrelated signal into the Wb CNS until sacrifice. Moreover, using histology, we show, interestingly, that upon transplantation, SPIOlabelled SkmSCs migrated and integrated in a manner appropriate for their location.

Additionally, our results of behavioural tests in SkmSCs transplanted Wr mice seem to suggest a functional motor recovery and a significant slowing of disease progression. Results of the present study confirm and extend our previous findings, showing that human SkmSCs are able to differentiate into neural cell lineage. The SkmSCs, when transplanted into the lateral ventricles of Wr mice of 4 weeks of age, home along ventricles and integrate into the region of severe motor neurodegeneration, ameliorating the clinical outcome.

Knowledge of hSkmSCs migration patterns and the possibility to link the interactions between transplanted cells in host tissue to behavioural studies represents good strategies to improve the design of future clinical transplantation efforts.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. In vitro Characterization of Human SkmSCs

We isolated, expanded and characterized five human SkmSCs lines in order to verify their proliferative and differentiative potential.

Our protocol to isolate and culture human SkmSCs is previously described (Alessandri et al., 2004).

After the digestion of Fetal muscle specimens (2gr) lead to obtain a large number of cells (6x107), with a heterogenic population of differentiated and immature cells, are obtained. The suspended cells, containing differentiated and more immature cells, are seeded in tissue culture flasks using serum-free growth medium.

After three passages (P3), these primary cultures are depleted of differentiated cells due to the serum-free conditions and only the more immature cells survive and grow. Under these circumstances, we are able to isolate an homogeneous human SkmSCs population with human mesenchymal stem cells-like morphology that grow as adherent cultures. As human SkmSCs gradually continue to grow and reached confluency, they are constantly collected in order to count the cell number with Trypan Blue Assay. A result, we observed that human SkmSCs kept in culture for several weeks (up to P20) maintain a stem cell-like'proliferation profile (fig. 1 A) The immunophenotypic analysis by FACS of this cell population showed that a high percentage of the human SkmSCs (P8-10) expressed characteristic CD markers of mesenchymal stem cells, e.g., CD105 (89.18 \pm 4.44%), CD73 (98.27 \pm 2.57%), CD90 (96.59 \pm 2.57%), CD44 (98,9 \pm 0,75); CD166 (69.25 \pm 5.95%) and CD56 (69, 7 \pm 11, 6).

However hematopoietic stem cell CD markers seem to be present in a lower fraction of human SkmSCs (P8-10), e.g., CD34 (44,8 \pm 27,8), and CD133 (33,5 \pm 19,1) (fig. 1 B) This suggested a common precursor between the hematopoietic and mesenchymal lineages (Yin A H et al., 1997). For neural differentiation assays, morphologically homogeneous human SkmSCs, (P10) were plated into matrigel-coated dishes in presence of growth factor deprived medium + 2% of FBS.

Human SkmSCs, when induced with neural differentiation media for seven days, started showing morphological changes suggestive of cells of astrocytic/neuronal and oligodendroglial lineages by day 4. At seven days post neural differentiation conditions, the Human SkmSCs samples stained positive and for early neural markers such as Nestin, Tuj1/Beta tubulin-III, GFAP on immunocytochemistry with a reproducible percentage of all neural markers, respectively: Nestin $56\% \pm 3,6$; Tuj1/Beta tubulin-III 78% \pm 7,5 and GFAP 76% \pm 7,2 (fig.1 C and D)

These cells are cryopreservable and retain both proliferation and differentiation capacities even after long term in culture.

2.3.2. In vitro labeling of SkmSCs with SPIO and PLL transfect agent

In order to perform longitudinal studies with MRI of transplanted Wr mice, we labeled human SkmSCs (P10) with SPIO contrast agent.

We observed that SPIO labelling of human SkmSCs is feasible and does not impair cell viability or biological characteristics in vitro. We achieved a 100% labelling efficiency as determined by Anti-Dextran and Hoechst 33258 staining (fig. 2 A).

Moreover, there was no difference in the FACS analysis of CD expression markers and differentiation behaviour between SPIOlabeled and unlabeled Human KmSCs (data not show).

2.3.3. In vivo-ex vivo correlation of SkmSCs tracking Hoechst/SPIO- double labeling

The double labeling of SkmSCs with fluorescent (Hoechst 33258) and SPIO tracers allowed us to evaluate the possible anatomical correspondence between the hypo-intense signal associated with the presence of iron oxide and the fluorescence related to the nuclear marker.

MRI analyses, performed 1 day after cell transplantation, showed hypo-intense areas corresponding to the ventricular system. These results were similar to those observed in animals only receiving the SPIO-labeled SkmSCs (Fig 3A; Fig 3B) and were observed for all transplanted Wr mice. The visualization of brain slices from the two Wr sacrificed one day after SkmSCs transplantation, confirmed the almost selective localization of fluorescent nuclei along the different compartments of ventricular system. Figure 2B shows four different representative images of axial MRI slices, six days after cells transplantation, corresponding to the anterior body of lateral ventricles (Fig. 2B upper-left panel), the body of lateral ventricles close to the hippocampus (Fig. 2B upper-right panel) and the periaqueductal grey and cistern magna in the cerebellum and brainstem (Fig. 2B lower-left panel). Quite interestingly, the observation of spinal cord slices revealed that, already 24h after transplantation, a relevant amount of Hoechst positive nuclei is localized in the external surface, likely associated with meningeal layers (Fig. 2B lower-right panel). The MRI analysis confirmed the pattern of SPIO distribution observed one day after cells transplantation. In addition highly magnified pictures, revealed the presence of Hoechst 33258 positive nuclei in correspondence of ventricular compartments characterized by a strong decay of signal intensity (Fig. 2B lower-left insert). These results further strengthen the correlation between the two exogenous tracers internalized in observed SkmSCs before transplantation and account for the presence of cells far from the site of administration and close to the site of motor neuron degeneration. Although several spinal cord sections analyzed from Wr mice 1 and 6 days after transplantation, displayed a relevant number of Hoechst 33258 positive nuclei, we did not find a migration of fluorescent cells to the gray matter and, in particular in the ventral horns.

In spite of a small decay of SPIO-induced hypo-intense signal detected by MRI, a drastic reduction in both the intensity and the overall number of Hoechst 33258 positive nuclei was observed in the ventricular system of Wr mice 42 days after SkmSCs transplantation. This apparent dichotomy among the two different approaches of cell tracking could be likely due to the bleaching of fluorescent dye or the detachment of bysbenzimide molecules from the minor groove of DNA. The hypothesis that these results were related to an actual loss of transplanted cells (reduction of fluorescent nuclei) and a release of SPIO nanoparticles inside the CSF (maintenance of hypo-intense signal by MRI) can be excluded by the presence of cells immunoreactive for the human-nuclei and carboxy-dextran (Fig. 4 A-D).

2.3.4. Clinical outcome

From the 4th to the 7th week of life, the body weight increase was almost similar between the Wr mice transplanted with SkmSCs and the group receiving PBS alone. In the last week of clinical observation the group of treated mice showed a higher trend than that of vehicletreated mice but this difference did not statistically differ among the two groups (Fig. 5A). The rapid and progressive alteration of forepaw adduction observed in Wr mice receiving PBS by i.c.v. was greatly attenuated by SkmSCs transplantation (Fig. 5B). The beneficial effect was already found at the 1st week after transplantation and was maintained along the whole duration of clinical observation. The attenuation of the degree of forelimbs muscle atrophy was accompanied by a significant improvement of muscular strength in Wr mice transplanted with SkmSCs (Fig. 5C). The significant difference in terms of muscular strength between the two experimental groups occurred at the 6th week of life and was protracted until the end of the study.

2.3.5. Histopathology of human SkmSCs transplanted Wr mice

Figure 5 D-E shows a representative immunohistochemistry of Choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) positive motor neurons in cervical spinal cord from 9 weeks-old healthy mice (Fig. 5D) and from agematched Wr mice. A reduction of about 60% of ChAT positive neurons was found in the cervical spinal cord Wr mice receiving PBS alone $(6.3\pm0.42 \text{ meanMNs}\pm\text{S.E.})$ compared to age-matched healthy mice $(32.6\pm2.7 \text{ meanMNs}\pm\text{S.E.})$. The transplantation with SkmSCs did not lead to a reduction in the rate of motor neuron death at the cervical spinal cord level of 9-week-old Wr mice $(6.19\pm0.22$ meanMNs \pm S.E.). Histograms showing the difference of the amounts of ChAT positive motor neurons in the three experimental groups considered in the present study are reported in Figure 5 F.

2.3.6. Molecular characterization of SkmSCs regenerative proprieties

In the aim to characterize the molecular factors involved in therapeutic proprieties of SkmSCs in the Wr mice, we performed a human gene expression profile of the regulation of key neurogenesis processes in total brains and spinal cords of Wr mice 2 weeks after SkmSCs transplant. We focused our analysis on changes in gene expression higher than fourfold. A deeper analysis revealed that of the 84 genes analized, more than one showed a statistically significant increase in expression. The identified genes were classified into different groups: neural development, synaptic plasticity, neuronal transmission, myogenic differentiation and cell cycle/proliferation, depending on their function and the pathway in which in they were implicated (Table 1).

2.4. Discussion

The treatment of incurable neurodegenerative diseases with allogenic or autologous cells are becoming a reality in the field of regenerative medicine (Mathiasen A.B. et al., 2009; Arbab A.S et al., 2009). In particular, stem cells have unlimited self-renewal capacity, high multilineage differentiation potential, and injury site homing capability (Deans R.J., Moseley A.B., 2000).

As results, there is a massive and widespread interest in the ALS stem cell therapy, both in how it is helping people with ALS today and how it may benefit ALS patients in the future.

Therefore the regenerative capacity of different types of stem cells are under intensive pre-clinical investigations with ALS animal models.

With promising results from these studies, an important topic is how to monitor the temporal and spatial migration, the homing and the engraftment efficiency of the administered cells, along with the functional improvement of the target organs/tissues.

Recent attention has focused particularly on the role of the bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) inhibitors, in promoting neural induction and differentiation (Mabie PC, Mehler MF, Kessler JA, 1999; . Li W, LoTurco JJ, 2000; Lim DA et al., 2000). One of the earliest identified BMP antagonist/neural-inducing factors is Noggin. For the neuroregenerative purposes we have chosen to supplement the culture medium with Noggin to improve the neural commitment (Wada T, et al., 2009). Several results have shown that transgenic expression of Noggin by MSCs, or culturing MSCs in a defined medium with Noggin, promote neural differentiation (. Kohyama J, et al., 2001). Thus, we speculated that SkmSCs may be primed *in vitro* towards neurogenic lineage by the addition of Noggin.

Although non-invasive methods for tracking various types of cells in real time with SPIO nanoparticles for in vivo MRI studies have been shown, there is a lack of information concerning the ability to track human SkmSCs.

Here, we prove that the biology of SPIO labelled-SkmSCs is not altered in vivo, allowing us to monitor the fate of these cells in vivo over extended periods of time (up to 18 weeks). These findings may have significant impact on the eventual translation of SkmSCs regenerative medicine to the clinic.

Histological examination of brain sections showed the presence of donor labeled cells in the area of decreased MR signal intensity, confirming a correlation between MRI findings and conventional histological evidence. These findings have important ramifications for the eventual transplantation of stem cells into the human brain and the role of MRI in facilitating the process and tracking stem cell migration.

Here we show cell tracking studies, along with functional outcome analysis of SkmSCs transplants in Wr motor neuron pathology. These approaches are essential for the translation of stem cell regenerative strategies from experimental studies to clinical therapies.

Current scientific evidence supports the claims that MSCs can provide a predominantly supportive and trophic function instead of a replacement capability in neurodegenerative diseases (Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M., 2004).

The RT profiler analysis of SkmSCs-transplanted Wr CNS revealed that one of the genes overexpressed is human CDK5R1. This gene encodes for the Cyclin-dependent kinase 5, regulatory subunit 1 (p35).The complex of Cdk5 and p35, the neuron-specific regulatory subunit of Cdk5, plays important roles in brain development, such as neuronal migration, neurite outgrowth and neurotransmitter release in the presynaptic terminal (. Tomizawa K. et al., 2002). The overexpression of p35 in human SkmSC two weeks after transplantation, may suggest a possible effect of these cells in reducing the functional decay affecting spinal cord motor neurons of Wr mice.

Another gene overexpressed in transplanted Wr mice, is FGF-13. Quite interestingly, has been reported that the treatment with FGF-13 increases ChAT activity for seven days in neuronal cultures from rat embryonic cortex (Greene JM, et al., 1998).

ChAT activity is considered an indirect marker of motor neuron functionality and its significantly reduced levels have been found in different models of motor neuron degeneration and motor nerve pathology. A marked decrease of ChAT activity was reported by our group in the cervical spinal cord and in forelimbs biceps muscles of Wr mice already at the early symptomatic stage. This reduction proportionally decreased by the evolution of clinical progression thus indicating a direct association between the functional activity of ChAT and the degree of denervation and muscular atrophy (Bigini P. et al., 2001). Quite interestingly the percentage of the decrease of 106 ChAT activity at the different stages of the disease progression in Wr mice, was lower compared to the percentage of loss of cholinergic cervical motor neurons measured by immunohistochemistry (Bigini P et al., 2004). This difference could be due to an hyperactivity of ChAT activity in the remaining neurons, likely as a compensatory effect . The ChAT activity can be influenced by a wide range of players (Wu D, Hersh LB., 1994). The overespression of FGF-13 in the transplanted Wr CNS may suggest that FGF-13, expressed and secreted from human SkmSC even far from the pathological areas, was able to increase the activity of the remaining motor neurons thus not producing a direct effect on motor neuron survival.

Finally, we have seen that the gene MEF2C, involved in myogenesis is expressed up to 2,600 fold in respect to the control. Myocyte enhancer factor 2C (MEF2C) is a member of the MEF2 family which cooperates with the MyoD family to drive skeletal muscle development during embryogenesis and to maintain sarcomere integrity during the postnatal maturation of skeletal muscles. Knockout mice for MEF2C showed hypoplatic myofibers, defects in the M line, marked reduction of muscular mass and muscle fibers degeneration that caused perinatal death (Potthoff MJ, et al., 2007). A relevant disorganization of myofibers has been described in forelimbs muscles of Wr mice at the first stages of muscle atrophy (Mitsumoto H, Bradley WG., 1982)). The overexpression of MEF2C from transplanted SkmSC may therefore improve or maintain the sarcomere integrity during the first phases of muscular atrophy thus slowing the morphofunctional decay and significantly ameliorating paw function and muscle strength scores observed in Wr mice receiving SkmSCs.
However, investigators need to know the migration and accumulation status of the administered cells and the functional improvement of the target organs/tissues.

2.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the issue of whether human SkmSCs can integrate, differentiated in neural lineage and improve clinical outcome of rodent animal model for ASL disease, is only one of the several aspects that must be clarified by rigorous laboratory experimentation in order to translate our results of pre-clinical stem cells therapy from bench to bedside.

2.6. Materials and Methods

SkmSCs isolation, culture, and differentiation

SkmSCs were derived from muscles of 12-16 week-old fetuses obtained following the ethical guidelines of the European Network for Transplantation (NECTAR) and were processed as previously reported (Alessandri G. *et al*, 2004). Briefly, These tissues are dissected into small pieces and enzymatically and mechanically dissociated. Single cells are plated in the presence of 20 ng/ml EGF and 10 ng/ml bFGF in a serum-free stem-cell medium (SCM) optimized for neural stem cell growth supplemented with rhNoggin (100ng/ml, R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) (Growth Medium).

The experimental protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico 'Carlo Besta' and Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico-Mangiagalli- Regina Elena.

Immunocytochemistry

For differentiation assay, human SkmSCs were plated on matrigelcoated glass-chamber slides (Nunc, Naperville, IL, USA), in basal medium with 2 % of FBS for 7 days and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. After that, cell composition was analysed by means of immunostaining with lineage-specific antibodies: such as GFAP (rabbit, 1:500), NG2 (rabbit, 1:200), b-III tubulin (mouse, 1:100) (purchased from Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA) and Nestin (mouse 1: 100 R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN USA). After several washings, the cultures were incubated with secondary antibody, conjugated with either Cy2 or Cy3 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, Pennsylvania, USA) and finally were mounted with Fluorsave and were viewed under a Zeiss Axiophot-2 microscope.

FACS analysis

The phenotypic characterization of SkmSCs were evaluated by flow cytometry (FACS) as described previously (Alessandri, G. *et al.*, 2004). Anti-CD44, CD166, CD73 were purchased from BD Pharmingen, (San Jose, CA, USANJ, USA) CD56, CD133/2, CD34 were purchased from Miltenyi Biotec (Bisley, Surrey, UK), CD105, was purchased from ABDSerotec (Raleigh, NC, USA) and CD90 was purchased from Millipore (Temecula, CA,USA) The controls were isotype-matched mouse immunoglobulins.

Magnetic Labeling of human SkmSCs

SPIO particles Endorem (AMI-25; Guerbet; particle size, 80–150 nm; stock solution, 11.2 mg Fe/ml) and poly-L-lysine transfection agent were incubated for 30 min at 37° in culture medium before being added to the cells for 24 h as previously reported (Neri M. *et al.*, 2008). After incubation, the cells were washed off to remove the medium with un-internalized SPIOs and resuspended in fresh media.

Hoechst 33258 dye Staining of SPIO-labeled human SkmSCs

SPIO-labeled human SkmSCs cultures in 12-well plates were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and incubated with 2 μ M Hoechst 33258 reagent (Molecular Probes, Eugene,Oregon, USA) for 1 hour at 37°C in the dark. After 1 h of incubation the cells were three washed with PBS and were plated on matrigel-coated glass-chamber slides (Nunc, Naperville, IL, USA), in Growth Medium for 2 days and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. After that, SPIO efficiency was analysed by means of immunostaining with anti-dextran antibody (StemCell Technologies, Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA marca). The Hoechst 33258 reagent is taken up by the nuclei of the cells, and apoptotic cells exhibit a bright blue fluorescence, whereas living cells are dark blue.

Animals

Mice were maintained at a temperature of $21\pm1^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity 55±10% and 12h of light. Food (standard pellets) and water were supplied ad libitum. Procedures involving animals and their care were conducted in conformity with the institutional guidelines that are in compliance with national (D.L. No. 116, G.U. Suppl. 40, Feb. 18, 1992, Circolare No. 8, G.U., 14 Luglio 1994) and international laws and policies (EEC Council Directive 86/609, OJ L 358, 1 Dec.12, 1987; NIH Guide for the Care and use of Laboratory Animals, U.S. National Research Council, 1996). All efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering. When mice showed the first pathologic symptoms (reduced hind-limb adduction after tail suspension), food and water were supplied inside the cage. The protocol for the use of laboratory animals was approved by the Italian Ministry of Health and by an internal ethical committee.

Wr mice were originally obtained from NIH genetics and then bred at Charles River Italy, Calco (LC), Italy. Since heterozygous mice do not show any phenotypic difference compared to homozygous healthy littermates, heterozygous founders were designed by genotyping.

Genotiping of Wobbler mice

Genotyping of Wobbler mice were based on restriction polymorphism in Cct4 gene (Rathke-Hartlieb S. *et al.*, 1999). The PCR reactions were performed as follows: initial denaturation step 4 min at 94°C followed by 35 cycles of 30 s at 90°C denaturation, 30 s TAnn and 30 s 72°C polymerization. Restriction enzymes were obtained from Roche. PCR products (15 μ l) were digested in a total volume of 25 μ l with 1 μ l of AluI for 45 min at 37°C, separated by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis and stained with ethidium bromide. All animals received food and drinking water ad libitum. Mice showing the Wobbler phenotype (genotype wr/wr) (the phenotype appears at about 30–40 days of age) were used. Littermates having normal phenotype (genotype +/+) were used as control

Experimental schedule

The recruitment of wobbler mice for our studies was carried out after clear diagnosis of the disease based on phenotype analysis (4th week of life). Age-matched healthy littermates, homozygous for the wild-type form of the VPs54 gene, were selected after genotyping (Rathke-Hartlieb S *et al.*, 1999).

Thirty wobbler mice were recruited and randomly assigned two experimental groups. The first experimental group (n = 15) received unlabelled hSkmSCs (see next paragraph), the second group (n = 15)received the same volume of sterile PBS. Both groups were weekly examined by standardized behavioral trials (see below) in order to monitor their clinical progression and motor dysfunction. In order to verify that, at the starting point, both groups had a similar clinical condition, the first behavioural trial was carried out one day before transplantation. Behavioural trials were stopped at the 8th week of life, corresponding to the peak of clinical progression, and animals were sacrificed by intracardial perfusion (see below) cervical spinal cord was collected for immunohistochemical experiments (see below).

To track the route of cells in the brain and in spinal cord at different times, 4-week-old wobbler mice (n = 6) received 5x 10^5 SPIO-labeled hSkmSCs into the lateral ventricles (ICV). For both groups, the first MRI analysis was carried before cells transplantation. The following MRI were performed 1 day after SPIO-labeled hSkmSCs and then all animals were weekly monitored until the 18^{th} week of life. At the end of MRI experiments all animals were

sacrificed by intracardial perfusion, brains and spinal cords were collected for immunohistochemical studies.

For the cell localization in different brain areas and at three different times transplantation, a group of 4-week-old wobbler mice (n = 6) were transplanted with 5x 10^5 hSkmSCs loaded by SPIO and incubated by the nuclear fluorescent vital dye Hoechst 33258 (Sigma-Aldrich,MO, USA). MRI experiments were carried 1 day before cell transplantation and 1 day, 6 days and 42 days after transplantation. One third (n = 2) of animals, randomly selected before the first MRI, were sacrificed just after the first (1 day), the second (6 days) and the third (42 days) MRI analysis, respectively. Brain and spinal cord were carefully removed and rapidly frozen by dry ice. Twenty μ m thick serial coronal sections were observed under UV lasers to reveal the presence of Hoechst positive nuclei.

Finally, 4-week-old wobbler mice receiving unlabelled hSkmSCs (n = 4) were sacrificed twoo weeks after transplantation for the detection of the gene expression of several human genes (see below). To exclude fouls positive results, the same panels of genes was evaluated in a second group of 4-week-old wobbler mice (n = 4) sacrificed two weeks after ICV administration of the same of saline solution utilized to suspend hSkmSCs during for the transplantation. For each experimental group the same number of males and females were recruited, since no sex-related difference in the evolution of the wobbler disease has been reported.

Human SkmSCs Transplantation in ALS animal models

For injection of SkmSCs, mice were anesthetized using isoflurane and placed in a stereotaxic frame. The head was shaved and a ~ 1 cm 113 incision was made to expose the skull. Using a microdrill, two 1–2 mm holes were produced to allow two i.c.v. injections (stereotaxic coordinates of 4-week-old control mice +/-1.0mm lateral to bregma, +/-0mm rostro-caudal to bregma and 3.0mm deep from the skull surface; stereotaxic coordinates of 4-week-old Wr mice +/-0.8mm lateral to bregma, +0.5mm rostro-caudal to bregma and 2.5mm deep from the skull surface). As sham controls, animals were injected with 10 μ l PBS without cells. All injections were performed with a Hamilton syringe. The syringe was left in place for 2 min after injection to allow dispersion of the cells. A total of 5x105 cells with a total volume of 5 μ l was injected per animal. No immunosuppression was given since human fetal cells were utilized. Following surgery, the skin over the skull was sutured closed and animals were placed in separate, heated cages and monitored until fully recovered.

MRI experiments

MRI scanning was performed by a 7 Tesla and 30cm bore Bruker specttrometer (BioSpin 70/30 USR) equipped with a surface mouse brain RF coil. A 3-orthogonal plane gradient echo tri-pilot scan was used as a geometric reference to locate the olfactory bulbs and to choose the sections from. T2 weighted images (Axial, sagittal, coronal; RARE factor=8, TR=3.3sec, TE=54ms, inter echo time=13.5ms, FOV=2.2x2.2cm2, data matrix 256x256, slice thickness=1mm) were acquired to visualize anatomical details. T2* weighted images (Axial; FLASH Flip Angle=30deg,TR=1sec, TE=7ms. FOV= 1.8x1.8cm2. matrix 128x128. data slice thickness=0.6mm) were acquired to visualize the susceptibility artefacts due to the presence of iron. In order to acquire the image of 114

the spinal cord with a Gray-White Matter contrast T1 weighted images (Axial; Spin-echo, TR=300msec, TE=11.7ms, FOV=2.7x2.7cm2, data matrix 256x256, slice thickness =0.5mm) were acquired.

Disease progression assessment

Behavioural trials were performed by the same operator blind to the treatment and were performed according to the procedure previously described (Mennini T, et al., 2006).

The following tests were employed to evaluate the neuropathological progression affecting wobbler mice:

1) Paw abnormality: Paw abnormality is an observational test. The operator assigns a score to these parameters, scaled from 0 to 4, on the basis of the severity of abnormalities. The paw position is graded as follows: 0, normal; 1, retracted digits; 2, curled digits; 3, curled wrists; 4, forelimb flexed to body.

2) Grip strength: Mice are lifted by the tail and allowed to grasp with both forelegs to a horizontal bar, which is connected to a mechano-electric transducer (Basile). The grip strength of the front paws is measured at the point when the mouse releases the horizontal bar as a result of a gentle traction applied by the operator. Healthy mice can record values higher than 100 g, whereas values recorded by wobbler mice are very low (< 20 g) and drastically reduced during symptom progression. When animals are no longer able to grip the bar, grip strength is recorded as 0 g. Values of grip strength were normalized by dividing each value by body weight to control for weight differences between wobbler and healthy mice. Because wobbler mice develop early and severe atrophy of forelegs without a clear impairment of hindleg muscles, the classical rotarod test cannot be considered a reliable tool to evaluate the clinical progression in these mice.

Motor neuron counting

Animals were perfused transcardially with 4% paraformaldehyde (w/v) in 0.1M PBS (Sigma-Aldrich) and following steps were carried out according to the procedure previously described (Bigini and Mennini, 2004). Immediately after perfusion, spinal cords were rapidly removed and post-fixed for 4 h in the same fixative (4°C) and then dehydrated and cryoprotected with serial steps in 10%, 20% and 30% sucrose in 0.1 M PBS at 4°C until they sank. Subsequently, spinal cord were included in OCT (Tissueteck, Netherlands) and frozen in n-pentane at -45°C. Serial 30 µm thick coronal sections were cut and immunohistochemistry against choline acetyl transferase (ChAT) (mouse monoclonal antibody, Immunological Science, Italy, 1:1000) was performed according to the protocol described by Houser et al. (1984). ChAT positive neurons counting was carried out in the cervical region corresponding to C2-C5 from 9-week-old wobbler. At least 25 sections for each animal were stained by ChAT. The number of MNs for each animal was expressed as the mean number \pm S.D of large-sized ChAT neurons (>250 µm2 of surface) calculated in each single section. Olympus-DB software, coupled to the microscope camera, was used to count the ChAT positive cells > 250 μ m2. The number of large-sized ChAT neurons was also performed at the same spinal cord level (C2-C5) of healthy mice homozygous for the Vps54

gene (n 0 3) to assess the extent of MN loss in both groups of wobbler mice (n = 14 for each group).

Immunohistochemistry

At different times after transplantation, the isolated-CNS of Wobbler mice were equilibrated for 24 h in 30% sucrose and fixed in 4% PFA. The Serial sections, cut at the vibratome or cryoste, or wholemount spinal cords were processed by immunofluorescence with GFAP, Anti human nuclei, AHN (Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA) and DAPI.

Real Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

RNA extractions were performed on three total brains and spinal cords of Wr mice 2 weeks after transplanted with SkmSCs and on controls of SkmSCs cultured as described above.

For the detection of genes related to the regulation of key neurogenesis processes such as the cell cycle and cell proliferation, differentiation, motility, and migration, Real-time PCR was performed using the Neurogenesis and Neural Stem Cell RT² ProfilerTM PCR Array according to manufacturer's instructions (SuperArray Bioscience Corporation, Frederick, MD, USA). Pathway-focused gene expression analysis was performed with the PCR Array System and the PCR Array Data Analysis Web Portal. Each Neurogenesis and Neural Stem Cell RT² ProfilerTM PCR Array was done on separate cDNAs at least three times.

Statistical analysis

Numerical values are expressed as mean±SD. Comparisons of parameters were performed with Student's t test. Comparisons of

parameters among 3 groups were made with a one-way ANOVA test. A value of P<0.05 was considered significant.

2.7. Figures and Legends



Figure 1: In vitro characterization of human SkmSCs

(A) Growth Rate of SkmSCs: the cell number within the individual passages was determinated by the use of phase-contrast microscopy and trypan blue exclusion test. Growth rate=(n+1)-n/n

values; n=number of passage. (B) FACS analysis of SkmSCs: representative flow cytometry dot plots show the high percentage of expression of MSCs markers. (C-D) Immunofluorescent analysis of neural markers upon differentiation of SkmSCs. (C) Differentiated SkmSCs stained positively for b-tubulin III (red) and GFAP (green); (D) Immunostaining for Nestin (red). DIV, days in vitro. All nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Results are representative of five different SkmSCs lines. Results are displayed as mean ±SD.

Figure 2: human SkmSCs SPIO internalization and *in vivo* MRI tracing.



SkmSCs SPIO internalization and *in vivo* MRI tracing. SPIO labeling was efficient and did not affect cell viability of SkmSCs *in vitro*. (A) SPIO-labeled SkmSCs stained with an anti-dextran antibody (in red) and counterstained with a viable cells dye Hoechst 33258 (blue) for quantitative and qualitative analysis of SPIO labeling efficiency. (B) MRI of control mice brain postgrafted with hoechst/SPIO-double labeled SkmSCs was performed on living Wr mice one week

postinjection. Axial MRI shows hypointensities representing Hoechst/SPIO-labeled SkmSCs in the lateral ventricle of the brain (upper panels), and in the pial surface of the brain stem (lower panel left) and cervical spinal cord (lower panel right) (Insert.) Corresponding histological section show the colocalization with MRI hypointense signal and Hoechst staining of SkmSCs.

Α Wr CTRL TO Τ1 T2 T3 **T**4 **T**5 в Τ0 Т2 15 11 Т3 C CALIFORNIA CONTRACTOR OF A CON

Figure 3: Long-term monitoring of SPIO-labeled human SkmSCs

(A-B) Representative MRI axial sections of (A) T2-weighted images mouse brains and (B) T1-weighted images cervical spinal cord. (C) Photograph of Wr CNS. The immunostaining of Wr wholemount spinal cord cervical region with AHN (red) 18 weeks post-transplant.

All nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. T0=MRI acquisition of pre-transplanted mouse brain; T1=0 h post-transplant; T2=2 weeks post-transplant; T3=4 weeks post-transplant; T4=8 weeks post-transplant; T5=12 weeks post-transplant.

Figure 4: SPIO-labeled human SkmSCs integration in Wr brain

(A) Immunostaining of Wr brain medial region 18 weeks posttransplant with AHN (red) and NG2 (green). (B) Corresponding mouse brain axial T2-weighted MRI. (C) Scatter Gram. (D) Immunostaining of Wr brain medial region 18 weeks post-transplant with anti-dextran antibody (red) and GFAP (green). (E) Corresponding mouse brain axial T2-weighted MRI (F) Scatter Gram. S1BF= somatosensory 1 barrel field; VPL= Ventral Posterolateral Thalamic Nucleus.

Figure 5: Clinical outcome and histopathology of SkmScs trasplanted Wr mice.



(A-C) Behavioral scores of Wr mice that received human SkmScs or veichle. Each point represents the mean \pm SD of 15 animals per group. (D-E) Representative immunohistochemistry of ChAT positive motor neurons in cervical spinal cord from 9 weeks-old healthy mice and from age-matched Wr mice. (F) Effects of human SkmScs transplant on Motoneurons survival. Data represent mean \pm SD of 14 replications. ^^^p<0.0001.

Table 1. Fold differences in gene expression profile of humanSkmScs trasplanted Wr CNS

_

Gene ID	Fold difference	p value	
Decreased gene expression			
S100B	16.6	0.0025	
S100A6	21062.4	0.0001	
Increased gene expression			
APBB1	646.9	0.002	
CDK5R1	64.7	0.001	
DVL3	146.7	0.042	
GNAO1	1445.7	0.004	
FGF-13	20.1	0.003	
MEF2C	2660.7	0.005	

Results are expressed in fold change signal between in vitro SkmSCs and SkmSCs-transplanted Wr CNS. Values are expressed as mean+SD. *P<,0.05 SkmScs trasplanted Wr CNS versus SkmScs cultured in vitro.

References

Alessandri G et al. (2004) Isolation and culture of human musclederived stem cells able to differentiate into myogenic and neurogenic cell lineages. Lancet 364:1872-1883

Bigini P, Bastone A, Mennini T (2001) Glutamate transporters in the spinal cord of the wobbler mouse. Neuroreport 12:1815-1820.

Bigini P, Mennini T (2004) Immunohistochemical localization of TNFalpha and its receptors in the rodent central nervous system. Methods Mol Med 98:73-80.

Bradley WG (1996) Overview of motor neuron disease: Classification and nomenclature. Clin Neurosci 3:323–326.

Cleveland DW, Rothstein JD (2001) From Charcot to Lou Gehrig: deciphering selective motor neuron death in ALS. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:806-819.

Deans RJ, Moseley AB (2000) Mesenchymal stem cells: biology and potential clinical uses. Exp Hematol 28:875–884.

Glavaski-Joksimovic A et al. (2010) Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-secreting genetically modified human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote recovery in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci Res 88:2669-2681.

Greene JM, et al. (1998) Identification and characterization of a novel member of the fibroblast growth factor family. Eur J Neurosci 10:1911-1925.

Kohyama J, et al. (2001) Brain from bone: efficient "metadifferentiation" of marrow stroma-derived mature osteoblasts to neurons with Noggin or a demethylating agent. Differentiation 68:235-244.

Kranz A *et al.* (2010) Transplantation of placenta-derived mesenchymal stromal cells upon experimental stroke in rats. *Brain Res* 22:128-136.

Li W, LoTurco JJ (2000) Noggin is a negative regulator of neuronal differentiation in developing neocortex. Dev Neurosci 22:68-73.

Lim DA et al. (2000) Noggin antagonizes BMP signaling to create a niche for adult neurogenesis. *Neuron* 28:713-726.

Mabie PC, Mehler MF, Kessler JA (1999) Multiple roles of bone morphogenetic protein signaling in the regulation of cortical cell number and phenotype. J Neurosci 19:7077-7088.

Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M (2004) Marrow stromal cell transplantation after traumatic

Mathiasen AB, Haack-Sorensen M, Kastrup J (2009) Mesenchymal stromal cells for cardiovascular repair: current status and future challenges. Future Cardiol 5:605–17.

Mennini T, et al. (2006) Nonhematopoietic erythropoietin derivatives prevent motoneuron degeneration in vitro and in vivo. Mol Med 12:153-160.

Mitsumoto H, Bradley WG (1982) Murine motor neuron disease (the wobbler mouse): Degeneration and regeneration of the lower motor neuron. Brain 105:811–834.

Neri M, et al. (2008) Efficient in vitro labeling of human neural precursor cells with superparamagnetic iron oxide particles: relevance for in vivo cell tracking. Stem Cells 26:505-516.

Pioro EP, et al. (1998) Neuronal pathology in the wobbler mouse brain revealed by in vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and immunocytochemistry. Neuroreport 9:3041–3046.

Potthoff MJ, et al. (2007) Regulation of skeletal muscle sarcomere integrity and postnatal muscle function by Mef2c. Mol Cell Biol 27:8143-8151.

Rathke-Hartlieb S, Schmidt VC, Jockusch H, Schmitt-John T, Bartsch JW (1999) Spatiotemporal progression of neurodegeneration and glia activation in the wobbler neuropathy of the mouse. Neuroreport 10:3411-3416.

Schmitt-John T, et al. (2005) Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. Nat Genet 37:1213–1215.

Schultz SS, Lucas PA (2006) Human stem cells isolated from adult skeletal muscle differentiate into neural phenotypes. J Neurosci Methods 152:144-155. Tomizawa K (2002) Cdk5/p35 regulates neurotransmitter release through phosphorylation and downregulation of P/Q-type voltage-dependent calcium channel activity. J Neurosci 22:2590-2597.

Wada T, et al. (2009) Highly efficient differentiation and enrichment of spinal motor neurons derived from human and monkey embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 4:6722.

Wu D, Hersh LB (1994) Choline acetyltransferase: celebrating its fiftieth year. J Neurochem 62:1653-1663.

Chapter 3 Human Neural Stem Cells: a model system for the study of Lesch-Nyhan Disease neurological aspects

Silvia Cristini¹, Stefania Navone¹, Laura Canzi^{1,4}, Francesco Acerbi^{2,3}, Emilio Ciusani⁴, Uros Hladnik⁵, Paola De Gemis⁵, Giulio Alessandri¹, Augusto Colombo⁶, Eugenio Parati¹ and Gloria Invernici¹

¹Laboratory of Cellular Neurobiology, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico "Carlo Besta", 20133, Milan, Italy; ²Department of Neurosurgery, Fondazione Istituto Neurologico Carlo Besta, 20133, Milano, Italy; ³University of Milan, 20133, Milan, Italy; ⁴Laboratory of Clinical Investigations, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico "C. Besta", 20133, Milan, Italy; ⁵Medical Genetics Unit, "Mauro Baschirotto" Institute for Rare Diseases - B.I.R.D., Costozza di Longare (Vicenza), Italy; ⁶Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Fondazione IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, 20122, Milan, Italy; ⁴Ph.D. Program in Translational and Molecular Medicine (DIMET) University of Milano-Bicocca

Human Molecular Genetics, 2010

3.1. Abstract

The study of Lesch-Nyhan-diseased (LND) human brain is crucial for understanding how mutant HPRT might lead to neuronal dysfunction. Since Lesch-Nyhan disease is a rare, inherited disorder caused by a deficiency of the enzyme HPRT, human neural stem cells (hNSCs) that carry this mutation are a precious source for delineating the consequences of HPRT deficiency and for developing new treatments.

In our study we have examined the effect of HPRT deficiency on the differentiation of neurons in hNSCs isolated from human LND fetal brain.

We have examined the expression of a number of transcription factors essential for neuronal differentiation and marker genes involved in dopamine (DA) biosynthetic pathway. LND hNSCs demonstrate aberrant expression of several transcription factors and DA markers. HPRT-deficient dopaminergic neurons also demonstrate a striking deficit in neurite outgrowth. These results represent direct experimental evidence for aberrant neurogenesis in LND hNSCs and suggest developmental roles for other housekeeping genes in neurodevelopmental disease.

Moreover, exposure of the LND hNSCs to retinoic acid (RA) medium elicited the generation of dopaminergic neurons.

The lack of precise understanding of the neurological dysfunction in LND has precluded development of useful therapies. These results evidence aberrant neurogenesis in LND hNSCs and suggest a role for HPRT gene in neurodevelopment. These cells combine the peculiarity of a neurodevelopmental model and a human, neural origin to provide an important tool to investigate the pathophysiology of HPRT deficiency and more broadly demonstrate the utility of human neural stem cells for studying disease and identifying potential therapeutics.

3.2. Introduction

Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND) is a X-linked recessive disorder that occurs as frequently as one in every 380,000 live births in Canada and 1/235,000 live births in Spain (Crawhall, J.C. et al., 1972). This disorder involves a virtually complete absence of activity of the enzyme hypoxanthine-phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT). The HPRT gene consists of 9 exons and 8 introns. An opening reading frame of 654 nucleotides corresponds to the protein-encoding region (Wilson, J.M. et al., 1983). The HPRT gene is well known for its clinical and genetic heterogeneity. At least 2,000 different mutations have been reported (O'Neill, J.P. et al., 1998). The human HPRT amino acid sequence is similar to that of rodents, implying that it is very conservative and sensitive to any single base substitution (Konecki, D.S. et al., 1982). Molecular defects may result in partial or entire gene deletion, insertion, duplication, splicing error, or formation of a stop condon, leading to an alternation in the size of the translated protein. Some molecular defects cause only a single amino acid substitution. Any changes that alter the three-dimensional shape of the protein or reduce its active sites, at least partially decrease enzyme

stability, functional activity, and enzyme synthesis (Mak,B.S. *et al.*, 2000).

The lack of HPRT activity results in an excessive overproduction of uric acid and related symptoms of gout and renal dysfunction. In addition, patients with Lesch-Nyhan syndrome have relatively uniform motor phenotype that consists of severe generalized dystonia superimposed on hypotonia, sometimes with less prominent choreoathetosis or spasticity (Jinnah,H.A. *et al.*, 2006), mental retardation, dysarthria and very dramatic compulsive self-mutilation habits (Lesch,M. and Nyhan,W.L., 1964).

It is documented that dopaminergic neurons are damaged in affected patients (Visser J.E *et al.*, 2000; Nyhan,W.L. *et al.*, 2000). However, the mechanism by which features of Lesch-Nyhan syndrome result from impaired purine metabolism is still not well understood.

In an attempt to study the underlying causes of the complex phenotype observed in persons with Lesch-Nyhan syndrome, at least two mouse models have been created that exhibit HPRT deficiency (Hooper M. *et al.*, 1987; Kuehn,M.R *et al.*, 1987). Mouse models contribute to our understanding of biology with respect to the similarities and differences between species and various organ systems, and provide models for testing therapeutics. Even though the HPRT-deficient mice have failed to fully recapitulate the phenotype in the human disease, they do have an abnormal phenotype at the molecular, biochemical, morphological, and pharmacological levels (Elsea S.H. and Lucas R.E., 2002). Some studies have sought to more closely model the neurobiological consequences of the enzyme defect by studying HPRT-deficient dopaminergic neurons in cultures prepared from the knockout mice (Boer P. *et al.*, 2001; Smith D.W. *et al.*, 2000). HPRT-deficient mouse dopaminergic neurons are valuable for exploring the purine synthesis pathways with regard to the interactions with the dopaminergic pathways and the resulting effects on the basal ganglia. The recent development of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cell technology provides models of human genetic diseases. iPS cells give a new opportunity to analyze the pathways that lead to disease pathogenesis based on a particular genetic trait at the cellular level. Park and colleagues (Park I.H. *et al.*, 2008) generated an iPS line from a female carrier of Lesch-Nyhan Syndrome (LNSciPS2) that will be a valuable resource for studies of homologous recombination in iPS cells, and for analysis of X chromosome reactivation during reprogramming and random inactivation with differentiation.

Dopaminergic neuronal cultures were prepared also from HPRTdeficient PC12 (Bitler,C.M. and Howard,B.D., 1986; Yeh J. *et al.*, 1998), HPRT-deficient neuroblastoma mutants (ShirleyT.L. *et al.*, 2007; Lewers J.C. *et al.*, 2008) and HPRT2 MN9D sublines (Ceballos-PicotI. *et al.*, 2009). Another model of LND in human cells was created by Urbach and colleagues (Urbach A. *et al.*, 2004) by inducing the mutation in human embryonic stem cells (ES).

Since LND is a developmental disorder, it is not at all clear that the knock-down of the gene comes close to recapitulating the more complex developmental changes that clearly occur in this disease as defined in the literature. A limitation of cell models is that the findings may be restricted to the *in vitro* environment, with little relevance for the *in vivo* state, especially in the brain. This limitation can be addressed by examining brain tissue from affected Lesch-Nyhan patients.

To test the hypothesis regarding a defect in neurodevelopment we isolated, from LND human fetal brain specimens, human neural stem cells (hNSCs). These cells have two main properties: self-renewal capacity and pluripotent differentiation potential (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999; Parati E.A *et al.*, 2004). It has been suggested that these cells could play a major role in transplantation and be able to advance our knowledge in human development. Our *in vitro* model provides an alternative approach to study HPRT deficiency effect since LND hNSCs are capable of differentiation into dopaminergic neurons under controlled inducing conditions *in vitro* and could provide new insights into LND by permitting analysis in a human system, using a large number of genetically modifiable cells but without any genetic manipulation.

To our knowledge, we isolated and studied for the first time hNSCs from brain specimens of LND human fetuses and tested the hypothesis that HPRT deficiency can adversely affect specific processes in neural development, including differentiation and proliferation. The study of the differentiation of LND hNSCs to dopaminergic neurons may offer an opportunity to delve into the developmental processes that lead to the malfunction of the dopaminergic neurons in LND.

3.3. Results

In order to generate an *in vitro* model for Lesch-Nyhan disease, to our knowledge, we isolated, for the first time, hNSCs from two 14week Lesch-Nyhan-affected fetuses according to the procedure previously described (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999). This technique uses a serum-free medium containing mitogens (EGF and bFGF) which facilitate the expansion of stem cells, while differentiated cells generally become apoptotic and display poor growth capacity (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999).

Characterization of the genetic mutation accounting for the deficient enzyme activity reveals that one fetus carries a r.319_402 deletion, while the other one carries a missense point mutation (c.208G>T, p.Gly70Trp). No other significant difference between the two LND hNSC lines was detected in all the analyses performed in this study.

Under these culture conditions, the morphological appearance of the Lesch-Nyhan hNSCs after 7 days of culture was typically neurospherical and showed no apparent morphological differences when compared to healthy ones. All pathological cells appeared healthy without overt signs of toxicity, such as a high frequency of non-viable cells, debris or apoptotic figures (Figure 1A).

We analysed *HPRT1* levels by Real-Time PCR and found that LND hNSCs express *HPRT1* at mRNA level.

The lack of HPRT function in LND hNSCs was confirmed by measurement of live culture incorporation of ¹⁴C-hypoxanthine into

IMP. The healthy hNSCs readily incorporated ¹⁴C-hypoxanthine, while LND hNSCs exhibited enzyme activity that was below detectable limits (Figure 1B).

HPRT malfunction is responsible for the accumulation of uric acid; to further analyse HPRT presence in hNSCs isolated from developing Lesch-Nyhan brains, we analysed the levels of uric acid in our hNSCs (Figure 1C). Indeed, the accumulation of uric acid was significantly higher in LND hNSCs than in healthy cells.

In addition, we compared the proliferation rate of healthy and LND cells under the selection of 6TG and HAT to confirm that the HPRT protein is not expressed in the LND hNSCs. HAT medium inhibits the *de novo* pathway of purine synthesis and prevents growth of cells that lack an active salvage pathway. The LND cells proliferated in the presence of 6TG and died in HAT medium while healthy cells behaved in an opposite fashion (Figure 1D). These results confirmed the deficiency of HPRT in LND hNSCs.

Human NSCs generated from LND fetal tissues have gross morphology that is similar to hNSCs derived from unaffected fetal tissue (Figure 1A). On the basis of appearance, LND hNSCs grown as neurospheres do not differ from healthy neurospheres.

To determine if HPRT deficiency impaired cellular proliferation, we analysed their growth rate and the frequency of neurosphere formation. To this end, we compared the behaviour of the two LND hNSCs to five healthy hNSCs lines with similar gestational age and culture history. Proliferation rates of LND hNSCs were assessed at different passages (from passage 2 to passage 10). The growth of LND hNSCs was not significantly different from normal at all passages. As shown in Figure 2A, Lesch-Nyhan hNSCs proliferated well in serumfree conditions and showed no significant alterations.

Next, to determine the frequency of neurosphere formation, we initially plated single-cell suspensions at low cell density in Growth Medium containing methylcellulose to ensure that distinct colonies were derived from single cells and therefore clonal in origin. We found that LND hNSCs form neurospheres at the same frequency as those from unaffected individuals (Figure 2B).

RT-PCR revealed the expression of neural precursor and stem cell markers such as GFAP, nestin, β -tubulin III, NG2, SOX2, FLT4 and CD133 in healthy and LND undifferentiated neurospheres. As far as the expression of GFAP, NG2, SOX2 and CD133 was concerned, the data showed no particular alteration when compared to healthy hNSCs (Figure 2C), but regarding β -tubulin III and FLT4 expression, LND hNSCs appeared to express smaller amounts than healthy ones. Western blot analysis of neural markers GFAP, β -tubulin III and GFAP protein levels comparable to healthy cells and confirmed a reduced level of β -tubulin III in LND hNSCs (Figure 2C).

Since one of the hallmarks of LND is neurological alteration, we induced hNSCs to differentiate as previously described (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999) and performed immunofluorescence to test the morphology and the number of typical neural precursors such as nestin, GFAP, β -tubulin III and NG2 at different times (Table 1). We found interesting differences between pathological and healthy cells. In fact, LND cells revealed significant reductions for β -tubulin III

positive cells already after 3 days *in vitro* (DIV) of differentiation and this discrepancy increased during time, whereas no significant difference was observed for GFAP expression (Figure 3A). Oligodendrocyte precursors, still present at 5 DIV, became greater in number at 7 DIV in LND cells with respect to those in healthy ones. The data at 7 DIV were confirmed by Real-Time PCR (Table 2).

To determine whether the reduction in the number of LND neurons was due to an increase in cell death or to a block in differentiation, cells were stained by using the TUNEL method and by using corresponding markers for the individual cell types, at different stages of differentiation. Only a few TUNEL-positive cells were observed in the healthy differentiated hNSCs while, the number of LND TUNELpositive cells from 3 to 7 days of differentiation (Figure 3B) was significantly higher.

To identify the cell types of the TUNEL-positive cells, double staining was performed using β -tubulin III, GFAP and NG2 as markers for neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Figure 3B, C).

Interestingly, the most apoptotic processes in LND differentiated cells were charged to astrocytes as demonstrated by double labelling with TUNEL plus immunostaining with GFAP. The percentages of LND TUNEL-positive astrocytes at 3, 5 and 7 DIV were respectively $20\% \pm 1.5$, $18\% \pm 1.7$ and 16.87 ± 0.9 while the values of healthy differentiated cells were significantly lower: 0%, $1\% \pm 0.3$, $2.30\% \pm 0.6$ at 3, 5 and 7 DIV respectively.

LND TUNEL-positive neurons were significantly higher than healthy ones and the values ranged from 2.98% at 3 DIV, 2.15% at 5 DIV and 4.35% at 7 DIV. No TUNEL-and-NG2 double-positive cells were found either in LND or healthy cells at 3, 5 and 7 days upon differentiation.

We hypothesized that the differences in the extent of neuronal differentiation between Lesch-Nyhan and healthy hNSCs were probably due to dopamine (DA) dysfunction, a distinctive aspect of LND. To investigate these findings, we performed analysis to detect, in undifferentiated hNSCs, the presence of mRNA transcripts, relevant in dopaminergic neuron development and function, such as tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), D2 receptor (D2R) and nuclear receptor-related 1 (NURR1), determined by RT-PCR. This analysis did not indicate any relevant difference (Figure 4A). To further delve into the dopaminergic differentiative pathway of LND hNSCs, these cells were induced to differentiate towards dopaminergic neurons and immunofluorescence was performed to test the presence of key dopaminergic enzymes, such as dopamine transporter (DAT) and TH (Figure 4B and 4C). No significant differences existed between LND and healthy hNSCs regarding the percentage of cells positive to dopaminergic markers even if the physical appearance of Lesch-Nyhan dopaminergic neurons was significantly different when compared to healthy ones. Statistical analysis to examine the overall effect of HPRT deficiency in LND dopaminergic neurons revealed a significant reduction in soma area (Figure 4D). Although the number of neurites per cell could not be clearly evaluated at this developmental stage, LND dopaminergic neurons' neurite length was significantly reduced (Figure 4D).

During human fetal development, multiple transcription factors participate in the induction and maintenance of many aspects of the neurochemical phenotype of LND neural cells (Lin J.C. and Rosenthal A., 2003). Although the proliferative potential of LND hNSCs appears unaltered, it is possible that the LND stem cells have distinctive gene expression patterns that have implications for later steps in development. To detect any alterations in the expression of genes related to the identification, growth and differentiation of stem cells, we performed a gene expression profile of stem-cell specific markers as well as stem cell differentiation markers. The comparison between LND and healthy hNSCs revealed 10 genes between the analyzed 84 genes, whose mRNA expression was more than three-fold different in LND hNSCs (Table 3). A deeper analysis revealed that five of these genes analysed showed a statistically significant decrease in expression and play a role in neural cell differentiation (ALDH1, CD44, NCAM1, NEUROG2 and TUBB3) while PPAR\delta, a transcription factor expressed during neuronal in vitro maturation (Cimini A. et al., 2007) and BMP2, key determinant of neural crest induction and development (Gossrau G. et al., 2007), were upregulated. All of the other genes misexpressed in LND hNSCs are involved in transcriptional pathways (Kurooka H. and Honjo T. 2000) (Table 3). Expression levels of ALDH1 in hNSCs were compared at the cellular level among controls and LND. Quantitative PCR confirmation (Table 3) revealed a thirty-fold decrease in the expression of the ALDH1 gene.

The major biosynthetic pathway of retinoic acid (RA) from retinol is the irreversible oxidation of retinal to retinoic acid catalyzed by a cytosolic aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) (Elizondo G. *et al.*, 2000). To determine whether RA synthesis by ALDH1 has a role in 140 the development of LND dopaminergic neurons, we aimed to compensate for ALDH1 downregulation by *in vitro* RA administration. The LND and healthy hNSCs were cultured in Growth Medium containing 5 μ M RA. Seven days later, we first examined morphological changes during RA-induced neuronal differentiation (Liour S.S., *et al.*, 2000) and found that RA restores normal neurite formation and soma area (data not shown). Characteristic patterns of TH expression were observed in LND cells cultured in RA-enriched culture medium (Figure 4E).

In order to address the role of nitric oxide (NO) in the dopamine deficit that develops in HPRT-deficient brain, the formation of NO was evaluated by measuring the stable NO and its products, nitrite and nitrate (Table 4). These results revealed that LND hNSCs' NO production was significantly higher than that of healthy hNSCs and was prevented by the addition of L-NAME (100 μ M). As the majority of NO produced in the brain is from the predominant NOS1 isoform, we determined its expression at mRNA level in healthy and LND hNSCs. Our results (Table 4) indicated that as far as LND hNSCs were concerned, NOS1 was not responsible for NO overproduction. To further investigate the idea that increased NO levels inhibit dopaminergic differentiation of LND hNSCs, these cells were treated with L-NAME (100 μ M) upon differentiative conditions. After 7 days we examined TH (Figure 5C) and β -tubulinIII (data not shown). Positive cells were counted in a blind manner and no significant difference was observed between LND hNSCs with and w/o L-NAME addition upon differentiative condition.

3.4. Discussion

HPRT activity in patients with classic LND is typically absent or less than 1.5% of normal values. This genetic defect leads to a typical pathological pattern which includes characteristic neurological symptoms. It is still not clear how the deficiency in HPRT activity leads to these symptoms, although it is documented that dopaminergic neurons are damaged in affected patients (Visser J.E *et al.*, 2000; Nyhan,W.L. *et al.*, 2000).

In an attempt to study the underlying cause of the complex phenotype observed in persons with Lesch-Nyhan syndrome, HPRTdeficient mouse models have been created. These mice are useful for studying the biochemical and physiological pathways especially involved in embryonic and fetal development, and specific functions in various organs. They provide a useful model system for the development of new therapeutic techniques.

An alternative approach is the generation of primary cultures from patients' cells. This methodology is limited due to the specific range of tissues from which cells can be obtained.

An innovative approach to study LND pathology is to examine the phenotype and possible aberrations of human fetal LND neural stem cells. By analysing human LND hNSCs, it is possible to study developmental abnormalities without regard to whether they are caused by direct action of *HPRT1* mutations, or, more likely, by a

combination of direct and indirect effects of *HPRT1* mutations and epigenetic factors.

As expected by prenatal diagnosis, LND hNSCs universally fail to incorporate hypoxanthine. When primary human fetal tissue is exposed to the mitogens EGF and FGF-2, aggregates of stem and progenitor cells form, which have been termed 'neurospheres'. These neurospheres can be expanded in culture for extended periods of time (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999) and as such provide an ideal alternative model to study human brain development. The neurosphere culture system allows the study of specific processes in neural development, including proliferation, migration and neuronal differentiation.

The results in this paper demonstrate that human fetal Lesch-Nyhan brain contains a population of neural stem cells which shows the same capacity to proliferate and form neurospheres as healthy hNSCs and which has the ability to express typical neural markers (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999). Cells within the neurospheres differentiate when exposed to an appropriate substrate and when deprived of growth factors to consistently produce neurons and glia. Therefore, human neurospheres offer two major advantages that make them ideal to study processes of neural development in LND: (i) tissue can be derived from human LND brain and neural stem cells can be expanded in culture for extended periods of time; (ii) neurospheres can be manipulated both genetically and epigenetically.

Here to our knowledge we report for the first time the use of neurosphere cultures to reveal molecular and cellular differences between LND and normal hNSCs. The limitation of our study is that *in vitro* models are not capable of considering all the variables of the
human body. Nevertheless, this study yields relevant data useful in designing *in vivo* studies to explore such variables.

Human LND NSCs' morphology was similar to that of hNSCs derived from unaffected fetal tissue. Proliferation rates and the lifespan of LND hNSCs were not significantly different from controls at any passage; the ability to grow these cells for extended periods of time allows their banking and makes them a valuable resource for LND studies *in vitro*.

Previous results indicate that it is the process of differentiation of dopaminergic neurons that is particularly affected adversely by a HPRT deficiency. This is consistent with the special importance of HPRT in the brain during neonatal life as indicated by the substantial increase in HPRT activity in human and rat brain during the first few weeks after birth, a period of active neuronal development (Adams A. and Harkness R.A., 1976). Thus it is reasonable to suppose some general differences in function and expression pattern between LND and healthy hNSCs. Based on our experience in defining the pattern of neural stem cell markers expression in healthy hNSCs, we compared the expression profile of healthy and LND hNSCs and found interestingly differences. The expression of β -tubulin III and FLT4 resulted significantly lower in LND hNSCs than in healthy ones. These alterations could be implicated in the clinical picture of LND since, as previously demonstrated, the decrease in the expression of β tubulin III could represent a neurodevelopmental abnormality (Shafey D et al., 2008). Furthermore, VEGF-C is required by brain neuroepithelial cells during embryonic development and has a direct neuroprotective effect on various types of neural progenitors cell expressing FLT4 (Le Bras B. *et al.*, 2006).

We next assessed the rate of neuronogenesis by culturing hNSCs in differentiating medium and establishing the number of neurons. Interestingly, the percentage of LND cells positive to neuronal markers was significantly lower when compared to healthy ones. The reduced number of LND neurons could be due to a block in differentiation or to enhanced cell death of differentiated neurons. The TUNEL stain results revealed a striking percentage of apoptotic events in LND astrocytes even at early stages of differentiation. As previously demonstrated by Pelled and colleagues (Guibinga G.H. et al., 2010), the HPRT-deficient astroglia cultures exhibited altered content of purine and pyrimidine nucleotides. In view of the quantitative dominance of glial cells in the brain, the abnormal nucleotide content in these cells, even if confined to a specific stage of development only, may be associated with the neurological deficit in LND. A hypothetical pathway involved in LND astrocytes apoptosis could be found in the accumulation of 5'-Aminoimidazole-4carboxamide riboside (AICAR) which has a toxic effect on neural cells (Pelled D., et al., 1999). AICAR may accumulate in those individuals in which an inborn error of purine metabolism causes an increase in the rate of de novo synthesis and/or an overexpression of cytosolic 5'-nucleotidase, that appears to be the enzyme responsible for AICAR hydrolysis.

5'-nucleotidase activity has been shown to increase in patients affected by Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. Moreover, astrocytes cell death may contribute indirectly to neuronal injury or other CNS pathologies since astrocytes provide neurotrophic support, protect against excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity, and maintain the normal homeostasis of the extracellular fluid (Guibinga G.H. *et al.*, 2010).

It is documented that dopaminergic neurons are damaged in affected LND patients (Visser J.E *et al.*, 2000; Nyhan,W.L. *et al.*, 2000). The severity of symptoms in Lesch–Nyhan disease remains constant once the neurobehavioral syndrome is fully expressed (Garcia Gil M. *et al.*, 2003) suggesting a developmental rather than a continuing degenerative process. The early presence of dopamine in the embryonic brain of primates (Anderson L.T., *et al.*, 1992; Olson L., *et al.*, 1973; Freeman T.B. *et al.*, 1991; Silani V. *et al.*, 1994) suggests a role for this neurotransmitter in the neurogenesis of the dopaminergic system and maturation of the striatum.

The establishment of an in vitro system that mimics the differentiation of undifferentiated Lesch-Nyhan and healthy neural stem cells into dopaminergic neurons gave us the opportunity to study the developmental processes that lead to the malfunction of the dopaminergic neurons in LND. When challenged to differentiate towards dopaminergic neurons, LND neurons showed a reduced neurite outgrowth and soma area. Morphological abnormalities could be a consequence of HPRT deficiency on purine metabolism. Previous studies demonstrate that guanine nucleotide depletion in neuroblastoma cell lines promotes neuronal differentiation and reduces proliferation, especially in dopaminergic neurons showing an abnormal neurite outgrowth (Messina E. et al., 2005; Connolly G.P. et al., 2001; Korenevsky A.V. et al., 1999).

Although the proliferative potential of LND hNSCs appears unaltered, it is possible that the LND hNSCs have distinctive gene expression patterns that have implications for later steps in development. To identify pathways affected by HPRT deficiency during early cortical development, Stem cell RT^2 profiler PCR array was then used to compare gene expression patterns between LND and normal stem cells. The benefit of looking at gene expression in neurospheres, as opposed to using primary fetal tissue, is that these cultures represent a relatively pure population of dividing cells at a specific time in development. We have shown that gene expression patterns are dramatically changed in LND neurospheres. Many of the specific signalling pathways are important for proliferation and differentiation, so the absence of significant differences in the proliferation of LND hNSCs could be explained by the fact that misexpression of these genes causes slight changes in the behaviour of the cells that we have failed to detect. The proneural gene neurogenin 2 (Ngn2) is a member of a family of bHLH transcription factors (Sommer L. et al., 1996), and is important not only for neuronal differentiation (Fode C. et al., 1998), but also for neuronal subtypespecification in various regions of the nervous system (Scardigli R et al., 2001).

We suggest that the dysregulation of the expression of transcription factor genes crucial for the proliferation and differentiation of hNSCs and for the maturation of neurons may be associated with the severe neurological phenotype of LND.

Along with the transcription factors described above, we have also demonstrated an altered expression of ALDH1. The downregulation ALDH1 suggests a possible involvement of aldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDH) in the pathogenesis of LND disorder. ALDH is involved in the synthesis of retinoic acid from retinal (Yoshida A. et al., 1992). Retinoic acid and related retinoids are likely to be of importance for mesencephalic DA neurons since receptors and handling enzymes are expressed at high levels both in the substantia nigra neurons and in their target regions (Zetterstrom R.H., et al., 1996). During development, expression of retinoic-acid-generating enzymes precedes TH expression in DA neurons (Wallen A et al., 1999), indicating that retinoids may be important for the induction of the dopaminergic phenotype. In this study, we show that in vitro supplementation of RA counteracts the developmental defect in LND DA-neuron morphology differentiated from LND hNSCs. This implies that RA is crucial to induce proper DA neuronal differentiation. Most appealing, by linking local RA synthesis to LND DA neuronal development and morphology, a novel mechanism is proposed, with essential implications for LND clinical pathology.

Another important aspect of this pathology, described by Song and Friedmann (Song S. and Friedmann T., 2007), is that HPRT deficiency induces secondary transcriptional aberrations in other genes as observed in our study, and the expression of the corresponding secondary genetic defects could play an important role in the development of some aspects of the HPRT-deficiency phenotype, especially the neurological deficits; in fact a relatively small number of unrelated genes are aberrantly expressed in HPRTdeficient mouse striatal tissue. These data suggest the possibility that functionally multigenic mechanisms of pathogenesis underlie this monogenic disease (Song S. and Friedmann T., 2007). The fact that physiological or developmental damage may occur very early in life could make it difficult to rescue the abnormalities by reintroducing a non-mutant HPRT cDNA. Nevertheless, the future development of this study will include the correction of HPRT deficiency.

Oxidative stress compromises dopamine neuron function and previous studies found that the oxidant sensitive mitochondrial enzyme, aconitase, was partially inactivated by the increased production of either NO, O_2^- , ONOO⁻, or H₂O₂, in HPRT-deficient brains (Visser J.E., *et al.*,2000; Gardner P.*et al.*, 2000). The present study revealed an overproduction of NO which was not correlated with NOS1 expression. Alternative sources of NO, however, should not be ignored. The inducible form of NOS, NOS2, while not normally expressed in the brain, can be induced under pathological conditions (Hunot S. and Hirsch E., 2003). It is possible that HPRT deficiency may cause an upregulation of NOS2 leading to toxicity through NO itself. LND hNSCs' exposure to L-NAME results in reduced levels of nitrites and nitrates (reflecting reduced NO) but did not influence the differentiation of neural stem cells to neurons.

To our knowledge our results present for the first time experimental evidence that HPRT "housekeeping" gene plays an important role in human fetal neurodevelopment by complex mechanisms that still need to be elucidated. Developmental neurobiology may throw light into the neurochemical and structural events that contribute to the clinical picture of Lesch–Nyhan disease. Such knowledge may then suggest therapeutic interventions.

3.5. Conclusions

In summary, our analysis points to the relevance of using human Lesch-Nyhan NSCs in complementing murine models for the study of this human genetic disease. It also reveals possibilities of utilizing LND human NSCs in investigating the role of HPRT in processes of neural development. Developmental neurobiology may throw light into the neurochemical and structural events that contribute to the clinical picture of Lesch–Nyhan disease. Such knowledge may then suggest therapeutic interventions.

3.6. Materials & Methods

Cell Culture and Neurosphere formation assay

Human fetal tissue was obtained from two 14-week-old legally aborted Lesch-Nyhan fetuses and from five 12-14 week-old healthy fetuses, according to the ethical guidelines of the European Network for Transplantation (NECTAR). Deficiency of HPRT was diagnosed on the basis of characterization of the genetic mutation accounting for the deficient enzyme activity: one fetus carries a r.319_402 deletion, while the other one carries a missense point mutation (c.208G>T, p.Gly70Trp).

The experimental protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico "Carlo Besta" and Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico-Mangiagalli-Regina Elena. HNSCs were isolated as previously described (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999; Galli R. *et al.*, 2000; Pagano S. F. *et al.*, 2000). HNSCs were cultured in serum-free human medium optimised for neural stem cell growth (Growth Medium) (Alessandri G *et al.*, 2004). Under these culture conditions, hNSCs grew as nonadherent cells and formed neurospheres.

For neurosphere formation assay, healthy and LND cells were dissociated at different passages and the resultant single cells were plated in six-well plates at a density of 2×10^4 cells per well in Growth Medium containing 0.8% (wt/vol) methylcellulose. The number of cell clusters with a diameter of over 2 mm was counted at 3 weeks after plating under a Nikon Eclipse TE300 inverted microscope equipped with a Zeiss Axiovision device camera.

Selection Media and Cell Proliferation

Selection media were added to healthy and LND cells to test for the activity of the purine salvage pathway. Thus, the hNSCs were grown with 6TG (1µg/ml, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Alternatively, the cells were incubated with HAT (1x10⁻⁴M hypoxanthine, $4x10^{-7}M$ aminopterin, $1.6x10^{-5}M$ thymidine; Gibco, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Cell viability was evaluated by trypan blue exclusion test after one to three days after adding the selection media.

Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

TaqMan Real-Time polymerase chain reaction was performed to investigate expression of HPRT, β -III tubulin, GFAP and NG2. Three separate RNA extractions were performed on the single LND hNSC line and the pooled controls, and processed separately. Each cDNA sample (corresponding to 100 ng total RNA) was amplified in triplicate using a GeneAmp 5700 Sequence Detection System 151 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) in a PCR volume of 20 μ l containing the TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (with AmpliTaq Gold DNA polymerase) and the Target Assay Mix (all from Applied Biosystems) for 35–40 cycles. The relative expression of each gene examined was normalized to GAPDH and calculated according to the formula 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} as described in the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystems).

For the detection of genes related to the identification, growth and differentiation of stem cells, Real-Time PCR was performed using the Stem Cells RT² *Profiler*TM PCR Array according to manufacturer's instructions (SuperArray Bioscience Corporation, Frederick, MD, USA). Pathway-focused gene expression analysis was performed with the PCR Array System and the PCR Array Data Analysis Web Portal. Each Stem Cells RT² *Profiler*TM PCR Array was done on separate cDNAs at least three times.

HPRT enzymatic determination

Activity of the enzyme HPRT was determined in LND and healthy hNSCs by a high-performance liquid chromatography-based method (Rylance H.J. *et al.*, 1982; Puig J.G. *et al.*, 2007). In brief, each cell line was incubated for 40 min at 37 °C in 10 mM HEPES, 125 mM NaCl, 2.6 mM KCl, 5.5 mM glucose, 1 mM CaCl₂, 50 mM MgCl₂, 18 mM NaH₂PO₄ and 10 μ M [¹⁴C] hypoxanthine. At the end of the incubation time, radioactive IMP was separated from hypoxanthine by high-performance liquid chromatography, and radioactivity in the IMP peak was measured. HPRT activity was expressed as incorporation of [¹⁴C] hypoxanthine normalized to cellular protein and percent of

healthy hNSCs. Numbers are the means±SD of five independent experiments.

Under these assay conditions, normal values for incorporation of $[^{14}C]$ hypoxanthine into $[^{14}C]$ IMP in cells were 98%–100%.

Western Blot analysis

The single LND hNSC line and the pooled controls $(5x10^5)$ undifferentiated cells each line) were suspended in 100 µl of cold RIPA lysis buffer (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) supplemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail. Protein whole extracts $(40\Box g)$ were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Pierce, USA). Membranes were probed with primary antibodies for GFAP (mouse, 1:500), GAPDH (mouse, 1:500) (both from Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA), β-III tubulin (mouse, 1:100, AXXORA, San Diego, CA, USA), nestin (mouse, 1:100, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), followed by secondary antibody horseradish peroxidase conjugated-anti-rabbit and anti-mouse IgG (Chemicon; 1:500). The lysate *ex vivo* human fetal healthy brain was used as a positive control.

TUNEL assay

To detect apoptosis in human LND and healthy differentiated NSCs, a DeadEND fluorometric tunel system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was used to carry out TUNEL method according to manufacturer's recommendations. Approximately $4x10^4$ hNSCs were plated on chamber slides upon differentiating conditions.

As a negative control, cells were incubated with reaction mixture without the enzyme terminal transferase. No stained nuclei were detected.

Quantification of Uric Acid and NO Production

Lesch-Nyhan and healthy hNSCs were grown in 4 ml media for 48 hours. The medium was concentrated to 1 ml by centrifugal filter devices (Centricon, Amicon, Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. We assessed the level of uric acid using Cobas6000 (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) as described in the manufacturer's instructions.

NO production was quantified by the accumulation of nitrite in the supernatants of hNSCs cultures by the standard Griess reaction according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D). Conversion of absorbance to NO micromolar concentrations was deduced from a standard curve. Treatment with the NOS inhibitor N-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (100 μ M, L-NAME, Sigma) dissolved in culture medium of LND hNSCs and maintained for 72 h. At that time, NO production was quantified as described.

Immunofluorescence and Morphological analyses and Neural Induction

HNSCs were plated on matrigel-coated glass chamber slides (Nunc, Naperville, IL, USA), in media without mitogens (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999). After that, cells were fixed at different times (3, 5 and 7 Days *in vitro* (DIV)) and analysed for the presence of neural markers such as GFAP (rabbit, 1:500), NG2 (rabbit, 1:200), β -III tubulin (mouse, 1:100) (purchased from Chemicon) by means of immunostaining as previously described (Alessandri G *et al.*, 2004). Three separate immunofluorescence analyses were performed on LND and healthy hNSCs; positive cells were counted in a blind manner.

Neuronal differentiation was induced by addition of *cis*-retinoic acid (RA, Sigma) to the differentiation media (Vescovi A.L. *et al.*, 1999) on matrigel-coated glass chamber slides (Nunc), at a final concentration of 5 μ M.

Neuronal differentiation was investigated upon differentiative condition after addition of 100 μ M L-NAME (Sigma). After 7 days, the samples were fixed for immunocytochemical studies as described above.

For the evaluation of Dopaminergic differentiation, LND and healthy proliferative hNSCs were treated as previously described (Wang X. *et al.*, 2004). Induced cultures were fixed and processed for dopaminergic markers immunostaining (mouse anti-TH, 1:500, rabbit anti-NF, 1:250; rat anti-DAT, 1:500, all from Chemicon).

Phase-contrast digital micrographs have been obtained by merging of single fluorescence digital images of random fields with a Nikon Eclipse TE300 microscope equipped with a Zeiss camera. Soma size and neurite length were examined using Axiovision software. At least 50 neurons were evaluated for each line.

Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction

Three separate RNA extractions were performed on two undifferentiated LND hNSC lines and the pooled undifferentiated controls and processed separately. Total RNA from Lesch-Nyhan and healthy hNSCs was isolated with TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. β -III tubulin, GFAP, nestin, NG2, SOX2, FLT4, CD133, D2R, NURR1, TH and GAPDH primer sequences are available on request. To ensure accuracy, each reaction was repeated three times. RT-PCR reactions were optimized for GAPDH to determine the cycle-kinetic and the cDNA concentration under non-saturating condition. The optimal number of cycles was 28 using 25 ng of cDNA in 20 μ l of the PCR reaction volume (Supplemetary Figure 1). Under these cycle-kinetic and the cDNA concentration conditions, we tested the expression of GAPDH gene in LND and healthy hNSCs. GAPDH levels was comparable in the analyzed cell lines.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Statistical analysis was performed using Wilcoxon rank sum test (*P* <0.05).

3.7. Figures and Legends

Figure 1. Characterization of LND human neural stem cells



(A) Human LND and healthy hNSCs after 7 DIV. (B) Activity of the enzyme HPRT was determined in LND and healthy hNSCs by HPLC-based method. (C) Uric Acid Production in healthy and LND hNSCs. (D) Analysis of HPRT activity using selection media. Normal cells stop growing in the presence of 6TG, while the mutant cells stop growing in the presence of HAT.

Figure 2. Proliferation and gene expression profiles of LND and healthy undifferentiated hNSCs



Figure 2

(A) LND and healthy hNSCs proliferative potential. (B) LND and healthy hNSCs frequency of neurosphere formation. Data are means± SD (n=3).(C) RT-PCR analysis (upper) and Western blot (bottom) of neural markers in LND and normal undifferentiated hNSCs.



Figure 3. Differentiative potential of LND hNSCs

(A) LND (upper) and normal (bottom) hNSCs differentiated cells stained positively for β -tubulinIII (red) and GFAP(green), oligodendrocytes stained positively for NG2 (green) and for nestin (red). All nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). DIV = Days *in vitro*.

(B) The data represent the percentages of TUNEL/GFAP or TUNEL/ β -tubulinIII or TUNEL/NG2 double-positive astrocytes or neurons or oligodendricytes after double-positive cells from ten randomly chosen fields of four independent experiments.

(C) Double staining of TUNEL positive cells with specific cell markers. TUNEL/ β -tubulinIII double-positive and TUNEL/GFAP double-positive were observed in LND hNSCs upon 7 DIV. All nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue).

Figure 4. Dopaminergic Differentiation and Gene expression in LND hNSCs



(A) RT-PCR analysis of dopaminergic marker in LND and in normal hNSCs. There is no difference between LND and healthy hNSCs. (B-C) Dopaminergic differentiation. LND hNSCs expressed DAT (red), NF (green) (in B), and TH (red in C). All nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). (D) Morphometrical parameters after dopaminergic differentiation of LND and healthy cells. Bottom panel: morphology of LND and healthy dopaminergic neurons stained with NF. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue) (E) Immunostaining of LND hNSCs upon differentiation w/o RA (left panel) and with 5μM RA (right panel): RA induced dopaminergic differentiation in LND hNSCs as demonstrated by the expression of TH (red). Astrocytes

were stained with anti-GFAP (green). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue)





(A) Optimization of RT-PCR to determine cDNA concentration under non-saturating condition. The detection of non-saturating conditions was carried out for GAPDH gene. The empty black circle indicates the c-DNA concentration (25 ng) utilized in the subsequent PCR of gene expression (right panel). In left panel the relative RT-PCR analysis of GAPDH (B) RT-PCR reactions were optimized for GAPDH to determine the cycle-kinetic. The optimal number of cycles was 28 using 25 ng of cDNA in 20 µl of PCR reaction volume (right panel). In left panel the relative RT-PCR analysis of GAPDH. (C) Immunostaining of LND hNSCs upon differentiation w/o L-NAME (left panel) and with 100µM L-NAME (right panel): L-NAME did not induced dopaminergic differentiation in LND hNSCs. TH positive cells are shown in red. Astrocytes were stained with anti-GFAP (green). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue).

Table 1

Immunofluorescent analysis of neural markers upon differentiation of hNSCs

	3 DIV		5 DIV		7 DI V	
	LND	Healthy	LND	Healthy	LND	Healthy
β-tubulin III	2%±0.1	* 7%±2	5.2%±1*	14%±2.3	7%±0.2*	20%±1
GFAP	16%+3	18%+2	51%+4	49%+6	70%+2	67%+5
NG2	N.D.	N.D	1%±0.1*	N.D.	5.6%±0.4*	2%±0.6

Human neural stem cells (hNSCs); Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND); not determined (N.D.); days *in vitro* (DIV).

*p<0.05 LND hNSCs versus healthy ones

values are expressed as mean±SD

Table 2

Real Time PCR analysis of neural markers upon differentiation

	β-tubulin III	GFAP	NG2
LND hNSCs	0.6±0.02%*	1.0±0.022%	1.24± 0.04%*
Healthy	1±0.01%	1±0.015%	1±0.03%
hNSCs			
(calibrator)			

Human neural stem cells (hNSCs); Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND)

* p<0.05 LND hNSCs versus healthy ones

Values are expressed as mean±SD

Table 3

Fold differences in gene expression profile in LND hNSCs

Gene ID	Fold difference	p value
Decreased gene expression		
CD44	2.28	0.003
NCAM1	2.14	0.010
NEUROG2	9.49	0.013
TUBB3	1.40	0.008
ALDH1A1	39.02	0.001
Increased gene expression		
PPARDδ	11.99	0.001
BMP2	14.46	0.006
NOTCH1	11.11	0.042
MYST1	4.27	0.005
GCN5L2	12.41	0.039

Human neural stem cells (hNSCs); Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND)

Table 4

	NO production (µmol/L)	NO production (µmol/L)	NOS1 at m-RNA level
	Growth Medium	Growth Medium plus L-	
		NAME 100 μM	
LND hNSCs	0,405±0.01*	no detection	no detection
Healthy hNSCs	0,197±0.008	no detection	no detection
Total brain	not analysed	not analysed	positive detection
(control)			

NO production and NOS1 expression in healthy and LND hNSCs

Human neural stem cells (hNSCs); Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND); nitric oxide (NO); nitric oxide synthase 1 (NOS1); NG-nitro-Larginine methyl ester (L-NAME).

*p<0.05 LND hNSCs versus healthy ones

Values are expressed as mean±SD

3.8. References

Adams, A. and Harkness, R.A. (1976) Developmental changes in purine phosphoribosyltransferases in human and rat tissues. *Biochem. J.*, 160, 565-576.

Alessandri,G., Pagano,S., Bez,A., Benetti,A., Pozzi,S., Iannolo,G., Baronio,M., Invernici,G., Caruso,A., Muneretto,C., *et al.* (2004) Isolation and culture of human muscle-derived stem cells able to differentiate into myogenic and neurogenic cell lineages. *Lancet*, 364, 1872-1883.

Anderson, L.T., Ernst, M. and Davis, S.V. (1992) Cognitive abilities of patients with Lesch-Nyhan disease. J. Autism. Dev. Disord., 22, 189-203.

Bitler, C.M. and Howard, B.D. (1986) Dopamine metabolism in hypoxanthine–guanine phosphoribosyltransferase-deficient variants of PC12 cells. *J. Neurochem.*, 47, 107-112.

Boer,P., Brosh,S., Wasserman,L., Hammel,I., Zoref-Shani,E. and Sperling,O. (2001) Decelerated rate of dendrite outgrowth from dopaminergic neurons in primary cultures from brains of hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase-deficient knockout mice. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 303, 45-48.

Ceballos-Picot,I., Mockel,L., Potier,M.C., Dauphinot,L., Shirley,T.L., Torero-Ibad,R., Fuchs,J. and Jinnah H.A. (2009) Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase regulates early developmental programming of dopamine neurons: implications for Lesch-Nyhan disease pathogenesis. Hum. Mol. Genet., 18, 2317-2327.

Cimini,A., Cristiano,L., Benedetti,E., D'Angelo,B., Cerù,M.P. (2007) PPARs expression in adult mouse neural stem cells: modulation of PPARs during astroglial differentiaton of NSC. *PPAR Res.*, 2007, 48242.

Connolly,G.P., Duley,J.A. and Stacey,N.C. (2001) Abnormal development of hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase-deficient CNS neuroblastoma. *Brain Res.*, 918, 20-27.

Crawhall,J.C., Henderson,J.F. and Kelley,W.N. (1972) Diagnosis and treatment of the Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. Pediatr. Res., 6, 504-513.

Elizondo,G., Corchero,J., Sterneck,E. and Gonzalez,F.J. (2000) Feedback inhibition of the retinaldehyde dehydrogenase gene ALDH1 by retinoic acid through retinoic acid receptor \Box and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein β . *J. Biol. Chem.*, 275, 39747-39753.

Elsea,S.H. and Lucas,R.E. (2002) The mousetrap: what we can learn when the mouse model does not mimic the human disease. *ILAR J.*, 43, 66-79.

Fode,C., Gradwohl,G., Morin,X., Dierich,A., LeMeur,M., Goridis,C. and Guillemot,F. (1998) The bHLH protein NEUROGENIN 2 is a determination factor for epibranchial placode-derived sensory neurons. *Neuron*, 20, 483-494.

Freeman, T.B., Spence, M.S., Boss, B.D., Spector, D.H., Strecker, R.E., Olanow, C.W. and Kordower, J.H. (1991)

Development of dopaminergic neurons in the human substantia nigra. *Exp. Neurol.*, 113, 344-353.

Galli, R., Pagano, S.F., Gritti, A. and Vescovi, A.L. (2000) Regulation of neuronal differentiation in human CNS stem cell progeny by leukemia inhibitory factor. *Dev. Neurosci.*, 22, 86-95.

Garcia-Gil,M., Pesi,R., Perna,S., Allegrini,S., Giannecchini,M., Camici,M. and Tozzi,M.G. (2003) 5'aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide riboside induces apoptosis in human neuroblastoma cells. *Neuroscience*, 117, 811-820.

Gardner, P. (2002) Aconitase: Sensitive target and measure of superoxide. *Methods Enzymol.*, 349, 9-23.

Gossrau,G., Thiele,J., Konang,R., Schmandt,T. and Brüstle,O. (2007) Bone morphogenetic protein-mediated modulation of lineage diversification during neural differentiation of embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 25, 939-949.

Guibinga,G.H., Hsu,S. and Friedmann,T. Deficiency of the housekeeping gene hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT) dysregulates neurogenesis. (2010) *Mol. Ther.*, 18, 54-62.

Hooper, M., Hardy, K., Handyside, A., Hunter, S. and Monk, M. (1987) HPRT deficient (Lesch-Nyhan) mouse embryos derived from germline colonization by cultured cells. *Nature*, 326, 292-295.

Hunot, S. and Hirsch, E. (2003) Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.*, 53, S49-S60.

Jinnah,H.A., Visser,J.E., Harris,J.C., Verdu,A., Larovere,L., Ceballos-Picot,I., Gonzalez-Alegre,P., Neychev,V., Torres,R.J., 168 Dulac,O. et al. (2006) Delineation of the motor disorder of Lesch-Nyhan disease. *Brain*, 129, 1201-1217.

Konecki,D.S., Brennand,J., Fuscoe,J.C., Caskey,C.T. and Chinault,A.C. (1982) Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase genes of mouse and Chinese hamster: Construction and sequence analysis of cDNA recombinants. Nucl. Acid Res., 10, 6763–6775.

Korenevsky, A.V., Duley, J. and Connolly, G.P. (1999) Adenosine and hypoxanthine inhibits neurite outgrowth from human brain cells. *Cell Mol. Biol. Lett.*, 4, 396-397.

Kuehn,M.R., Bradley,A., Robertson,E.J. and Evans,M.J. (1987) A potential animal model for Lesch-Nyhan syndrome through introduction of HPRT mutations into mice. *Nature*, 326, 295-298.

Kurooka,H. and Honjo,T. (2000) Functional interaction between the mouse Notch1 intracellular region and histone acetyltransferases PCAF and GCN5. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 275, 17211-17220.

Le Bras,B., Barallobre,M.J., Homman-Ludiye,J., Ny,A., Wyns,S., Tammela,T., Haiko,P., Karkkainen,M.J., Yuan,L., Muriel,M.P., *et al.* (2006) VEGF-C is a trophic factor for neural progenitors in the vertebrate embryonic brain. *Nat. Neurosci.*, 9, 340-348.

Lesch,M. and Nyhan,W.L. (1964) A familial disorder of uric acid metabolism and central nervous system function. *Am. J. Med.*, 36, 561-570.

Lewers, J.C., Ceballos-Picot, I., Shirley, T.L., Mockel, L., Egami, K. and Jinnah, H.A. (2008) Consequences of impaired purine recycling in dopaminergic neurons. *Neuroscience*, 152, 761-772.

Lin,J.C. and Rosenthal,A. (2003) Molecular mechanisms controlling the development of dopaminergic neurons. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.*, 14, 175-180.

Liour,S.S., Kapitonov,D. and Yu,R.K. (2000) Expression of gangliosides in neuronal development of P19 embryonal carcinoma stem cells. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 62, 363-373.

Mak,B.S., Chi,C.S., Tsai,C.R., Lee,W.J. and Lin,H.Y. (2000) New mutations of the HPRT gene in Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. *Pediatr. Neurol.*, 23, 332-335.

Messina, E., Micheli, V., and Giacomello, A. (2005) Guanine nucleotide depletion induces differentiation and aberrant neurite outgrowth in human dopaminergic neuroblastoma lines: a model for basal ganglia dysfunction in Lesch-Nyhan disease. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 375, 97-100.

Nyhan, W.L. (2000) Dopamine function in Lesch-Nyhan disease. *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 108, 409-411.

O'Neill,J.P., Rogan,P.K., Cariello,N., Nicklas,J.A. (1998) Mutations that alter RNA splicing of the human HPRT gene: a review of the spectrum. *Mutat. Res.*, 411, 179-214.

Olson, L., Boreus, L.O. and Seiger, A. (1973) Histochemical demonstration and mapping of 5-hydroxytryptamine- and catecholamine-containing neuron systems in the human fetal brain. *Z. Anat. Entwicklungsgesch*, 139, 259-282.

Pagano,S.F., Impagnatiello,F., Girelli,M., Cova,L., Grioni,E., Onofri,M., Cavallaro,M., Etteri,S., Vitello,F., Giombini,S., *et al.* (2000) Isolation and characterization of neural stem cells from the adult human olfactory bulb. *Stem Cells*, 18, 295-300.

Parati,E.A., Pozzi,S., Ottolina,A., Onofrj,M., Bez,A. and Pagano,S.F. (2004) Neural stem cells: an overview. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.*, 27, 64-67.

Park,I.H., Arora,N., Huo,H., Maherali,N., Ahfeldt,T., Shimamura,A., Lensch,M.W., Cowan,C., Hochedlinger,K. and Daley,G.Q. (2008) Disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell*, 134, 877-886.

Pelled, D., Sperling, O. and Zoref-Shani, E. (1999) Abnormal purine and pyrimidine nucleotide content in primary astroglia cultures from hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferasedeficient transgenic mice. *J. Neurochem.*, 72, 1139-1145.

Puig,J.G., Torres,R.J., Mateos,F.A., Ramos,T.H., Arcas,J.M., Buño,A.S. and O'Neill,P. (2001) The spectrum of hypoxanthineguanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT) deficiency. Clinical experience based on 22 patients from 18 Spanish families. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 80, 102-112.

Rylance, H.J., Wallace, R.C. and Nuki, G. (1982) Hypoxanthineguanine phosphoribosyltransferase assay using high performance liquid chromatography. *Clin. Chim. Acta*, 121, 159-165.

Scardigli,R., Schuurmans,C., Gradwohl,G. and Guillemot,F. (2001) Crossregulation between Neurogenin2 and pathways specifying neuronal identity in the spinal cord. *Neuron*, 31, 203-217.

Shafey, D., MacKenzie, A.E. and Kothary, R. (2008) Neurodevelopmental abnormalities in neurosphere-derived neural stem cells from SMN-depleted mice. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 86, 2839-2847.

Shirley, T.L., Lewers, J.C., Egami, K., Majumdar, A., Kelly, M., Ceballos-Picot, I., Seidman, M.M. and Jinnah, H.A. (2007) A human neuronal tissue culture model for Lesch-Nyhan disease. *J. Neurochem.*, 101, 841-853.

Silani,V., Mariani,D., Donato,F.M., Ghezzi,C., Mazzucchelli,F., Buscaglia,M., Pardi,G., Scarlato,G. (1994) Development of dopaminergic neurons in the human mesencephalon and in vitro effects on basic fibroblast growth factor treatment. *Exp. Neurol.*, 128, 59-76.

Smith,D.W. and Friedmann,T. (2000) Characterization of the dopamine defect in primary cultures of dopaminergic neurons from hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase knockout mice. *Mol. Ther.*, 1, 486-491.

Sommer,L., Ma,Q. and Anderson,D.J. (1996) Neurogenins, a novel family of atonal-related bHLH transcription factors, are putative mammalian neuronal determination genes that reveal progenitor cell heterogeneity in the developing CNS and PNS. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.*, 8, 221-241.

Song,S. and Friedmann,T. (2007) Tissue-specific aberrations of gene expression in HPRT-deficient mice: functional complexity in a monogenic disease? *Mol. Ther.*, 15, 1432-1443. Urbach, A., Schuldiner, M. and Benvenisty, N. (2004) Modeling for Lesch-Nyhan disease by gene targeting in human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 22, 635-641.

Vescovi,A.L., Parati,E.A., Gritti,A., Poulin,P., Ferrario,M., Wanke,E., Frölichsthal-Schoeller,P., Cova,L., Arcellana-Panlilio,M., Colombo,A. and Galli,R. (1999) Isolation and cloning of multipotential stem cells from the embryonic human CNS and establishment of transplantable human neural stem cell lines by epigenetic stimulation. *Exp. Neurol.*, 156, 71-83.

Visser, J.E., Bär, P.R. and Jinnah, H.A. (2000) Lesch-Nyhan disease and the basal ganglia. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.*, 32, 449-475.

Visser, J.E., Smith, D.W., Moy, S.S., Breese, G.R., Friedmann, T., Rothstein, J.D. and Jinnah, H.A. (2002) Oxidative stress and dopamine deficiency in a genetic mouse model of Lesch-Nyhan disease. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.*, 133, 127-139.

Wallen, A., Zetterstrom, R.H., Solomin, L., Arvidsson, M., Olson, L. and Perlmann, T. (1999) Fate of mesencephalic AHD2expressing dopamine progenitor cells in NURR1 mutant mice. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 253, 737-746.

Wang,X., Li,X., Wang,K., Zhou,H., Xue,B., Li,L. and Wang,X. (2004) Forskolin cooperating with growth factor on generation of dopaminergic neurons from human fetal mesencephalic neural progenitor cells. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 362, 117-121.

Wilson, J.M., Young, A.B. and Kelley, W.N. (1983) Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase deficiency. The 173 molecular basis of the clinical syndromes. N. Engl. J. Med., 30, 900-910.

Yeh, J., Zheng, S., and Howard, B.D. (1998) Impaired differentiation of HPRT-deficient dopaminergic neurons: a possible mechanism underlying neuronal dysfunction in Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 53, 78-85.

Yoshida, A., Hsu, L.C. and Davé, V. (1992) Retinal oxidation activity and biological role of human cytosolic aldehyde dehydrogenase. *Enzyme*, 46, 239-244.

Zetterstrom, R.H., Solomin, L., Mitsiadis, T., Olson, L. and Perlmann, T. (1996) Retinoid X receptor heterodimerization and developmental expression distinguish the orphan nuclear receptors NGFI-B, Nurr1, and Nor1. *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 10, 1656-1666.

Chapter 4

4.1. Summary

Stem cells, irrespective of their origin, have emerged as valuable reagents or tools in human health in the past 2 decades. In this thesis, we have attempted to provide a preliminary account of human stem cells in the context of research in regenerative medicine.

Neurodegeneration refers to a great clinically and pathologically heterogeneous disease entity associated with slowly progressive neuronal loss in different anatomical and functional systems of the brain. Neurodegenerative diseases represent one of the leading causes of death and disability in the worldwide. Most of the Neurodegenerative disorders are thought to arise through a complex interplay between inherited genetic variation and environmental triggers. At the moment the most ordinary clinical Neurodegenerative diseases trials are based on pharmacologic strategies. The current pharmacologic and interventional strategies fail to regenerate dead neural tissue and are usually insufficient to prevent the impact of the neurodegeneration in the functional physiology of the CNS. For these reasons the developments of strategies that allow functional restoration of damaged CNS present a formidable challenge for the prevention of postdegeneration CNS functional failure. One strategy might be the use of cell-based therapies for both the prevention and treatment of neurofunctional failure . The term of Cell Therapy identify one way of treatment in which drugs are replace with cells Recently, this definition has been used primarily to indicate procedures involving the use of well characterized cell subsets, subject to specific treatments, such as cell selection, in vitro expansion, creating clones of anti-infective or anti neoplastic proprieties. ALS is a progressive neurodegenerative disease with a multifactorial pathology; many causes are involved in the progressive degeneration and death of motor neurons and no effective treatment exist the moment. Animal models of at neurodegenerative diseases are useful to assess the effects of stem cell therapy and estimate the ability of stem cells to restore damaged tissues. Nowadays, an important limit in stem cell engraftment is the difficulty to detect transplanted cells. At present, it is possible to track the engrafted cells by labelling them with some commercial tracers, such as bromodeoxyuridine, or by utilizing transfected cells expressing a detectable marker. Although these systems are mainly utilized, they are not completely satisfactory. A particular labelling with SPIO nanoparticles allows to visualize the engrafted cells through magnetic resonance imaging. It is interesting to study human SkmSCs in vivo where cells can be engrafted in a defined area of the central nervous system in animal models to verify their distribution, differentiation and function. We studied the effect of transplanted human SkmSCs in pathological recipient animals to understand if they are able to produce trophic factors or some proteins useful as a defence against motor neuron death.

Nowadays it is possible to obtain stem cells of central nervous system from foetus (Piper DR. et al., 2000): neural stem cells are able to proliferate generating special clusters called neurospheres that posses a lot of plasticity. Under specific conditions neural stem cells can differentiate in neurones, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in vitro. In our study we used human neural stem cells isolated from LND tissues to provide new insights into the mechanisms that underlie neurological diseases and neurodevelopment.

LND human neural stem cells allowed us to observe directly the effect of the HPRT deficiency on proliferation, migration and neuronal differentiation. We found that there is no correlation between HPRT activity and proliferation rate but their properties of differentiation, the expression of specific genes relevant in dopaminergic neuron development and function showed significant abnormalities.

These cells combine the peculiarity of a neurodevelopmental model and a human, neural origin to provide an important tool to investigate the pathophysiology of HPRT deficiency and more broadly demonstrate the utility of human neural stem cells for studying disease and identifying potential therapeutics.

177

4.2. Conclusions

Stem cell-based regeneration depends partly on the delivery of stem cells to the damaged area. Repair by stem/progenitor cells, whether endogenous or transplanted, may be limited in part by an inability to ensure a sufficient number of reconstituting cells in the damaged area at the opportune time. Optimising regenerative processes, therefore, may depend on first identifying the range of molecules that subserve trafficking. We intend to explore an aspect of this process by studying the interactions between human SkmSCs and microenvironment.

A key novelty of this project is the integration of advanced technological tools, such as nanotechnologies and neuroimaging, to study human stem cells cells' homing in animal models of ALS.

The failure of a noticeable number of experimental protocols based on neuroprotective drugs, which proved to be effective in rodents, indicates a clear demand for an additional experimental step between common rodent models and human patients in evaluating novel ALS therapies before entering clinical applications.

178

4.3. Future Prespectives

Stem cells and regenerative medicine is one of the most rapidly advancing area of biology today. Recent discoveries in the field of stem cell research have opened new avenues for the therapy of complex diseases, particularly those of the central nervous system (Nishino H et al., 2000; Ogawa Y et al., 2002; Silani V. et al., 2004).

The objective of this project is to promote a thorough exploration and characterization of the bi-directional communication between stem cells and the niche that they encounter in vivo under normal and compromised states, such as ALS. Of particular interest is the rigorous characterization of how interactions with localized cues in space and time regulate stem cell survival, migration, replication, and "plasticity" in the nervous system.

The main focus of this project is the study of human SCs homing and interactions within pathological microenvironment in order to identify the limits and the benefits derived from stem cell based therapies. To reach this goal, we will perform in vitro studies on human SCs trafficking, the critical initial step of the homing cascade. Our studies will compare different classes of stem cells or progeny at progressively more advanced stages of differentiation when placed in the same sites in vivo. The initial hypothesis governing these studies was that the migration of SCs to the affected areas and their transdifferentiation toward the
neuronal lineage could replace degenerated neurons and therefore restore the functionality of the motor system. However, it is now clear that the effect produced by these cells is likely related to an indirect action (e.g. induction of neurogenesis, growth factors release, anti-inflammatory activity) rather than an actual substitution of degenerating neurons (Mahmood A. et al., 2004).

Bruijn et al suggests that "stem cells engineered to secrete growth factors or other factors required for neuronal survival" or to "stimulate endogenous stem cells in the brain to generate new neurons" may be more feasible for ALS than neural replacement Bruijn et al., . Moreover, therapeutic strategies to retard disease progression "seem to be a more realistic clinical approach as compared with neuronal replacement" (Lindvall O. et al., 2004).

Using specific factors we will reprogram human primary cells to yield iPS; such an approach provides a unique clinical opportunity to use the adult cells obtained from a patient to genetically reprogram the cells according to the particular need of the patient.

To better understand stem cell biology and realize the full potential of stem cell therapy, we will monitor the trafficking of labelled stem cells by molecular and cellular imaging. The marriage of nanotechnology and stem cells will significantly advance our ability to understand and control stem cell-fate decisions and develop novel stem cell technologies, which will eventually lead to stem cell-based therapeutics for the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of human diseases. Nanotechnology will allow us to label stem cells using magnetic, genetic or fluorescent probes which can be monitored by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or fluorescence imaging.

Although numerous previous studies have investigated stem cell migration using fixed brain tissue, there is little knowledge based on live imaging in response to brain damage. Multiphoton microscopy is a key technology that will allow us to observe cell behaviour and cellular biological activity in live animals or living brain slices. This technique will provide insights in the mechanisms and dynamics of morphological remodelling in the pathological CNS following stem cell transplant. As secondary objective, the response of the surrounding cells to this specific perturbation will be studied as a model of the reactive and degenerative changes in microstructure observed in certain neurodegenerative diseases. Several different types of SCs, both mouse and human, have a capacity for precise migration to even widespread and distant areas of pathology in a number of experimental models of CNS disease. Because stem cell engagement with a degenerating environment is the first critical step in regeneration, realizing the therapeutic promise of the SC depends in part on understanding the mechanisms underlying its mobilization during degenerative progression of CNS disease .

Repair by stem/progenitor cells may be limited in part by an inability to ensure a sufficient number of reconstituting cells in the damaged area at the opportune time. Optimizing regenerative processes, therefore, may depend on first identifying the range of molecules that subserve trafficking. In recent years, the application of nanotechnology in stem cell research and development have made great progress. For example, magnetic nanoparticles (SPIO) have been successfully used to isolate and sort stem cells, and all these advances speed up the development of stem cells toward the application in regenerative medicine (Song M et al.,2009). The use of nonlinear optical methods in biology is continually undergoing developments and refinements. Two-photon microscopy is particularly useful in neuroscience where in vivo imaging has shown great potential in studying the structural correlates of learning and memory. This technique will provide insights in the mechanisms and dynamics of morphological remodeling in the brain following stem cell transplant.

Although this project is focused on the treatment of ALS, it will provide an important therapeutic protocol for the treatment of other neurodegenerative diseases.

The approach described in this project represents an example of a state of the art strategy, combining 2 potentially therapeutic activities of human KmSCs: (i) replacement of degenerated neurons and (ii) delivery of therapeutic agents in vivo. This project will likely generate important information not only about the molecular details of the treatment of ALS, but also about the biology of transplanted stem cells.

The final goals of this project are:

• the development of innovative approaches that could contribute to the cure of several neurological disorders.

- to yield novel strategies for interfering with neuronal loss during neurodegenerative disorders.
- the translability of the results "from the bench to the bedside".

4.4. References

Bruijn LI. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: from disease mechanisms to therapies. Biotechniques 2002; 32: 1112–1116.

Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Martinez-Serrano A () Stem cell therapy for human neurodegenerative disorders-how to make it work. Nat Med 2004; 10: S42–50.

Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M.Intravenous administration of marrow stromal cells (MSCs) increases the expression of growth factors in rat brain after traumatic brain injury. J Neurot. 2004; Jan;21(1):33-9.

Nishino H, Borlongan CV. Restoration of function by neural transplantation in the ischemic brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2000;20(10):1393-408.

Ogawa Y, Sawamoto K, Miyata T, Miyao S, Watanabe M, Nakamura M, Bregman BS, Koike M, Uchiyama Y, Toyama Y, Okano H. Transplantation of in vitro-expanded fetal neural progenitor cells results in neurogenesis and functional recovery after spinal cord contusion injury in adult rats. Eur J Neurosci 2002;15(7):1255-66

Piper DR, Mujtaba T, Keyoung H, Roy NS, Goldman SA, Rao MS, Lucero MT. Identification and characterization of neuronal precursors and their progeny from human fetal tissue. J Neurophysiol 2000; 84(1):534-48

Silani V., Cova L., Corbo M., Ciammola A., Polli E. Stem-cell therapy for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet 2004; 364: 200–02.

Pubblications

-Silvia Cristini, Laura Canzi, *et al.* Human neural stem cells: a model system for the study of Lesch-Nyhan disease neurological aspects. Hum Mol Genet. 2010 Mar 4.

-Navone S, Cristini S, **Canzi L**, Parati EA, Invernici G. Stem Cell Patents: an Innovative Approach to Anti-cancer Drug Discovery. Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov. 2010 Jan 1.

Gloria Invernici, Silvia Cristini, Stefania Navone, Laura Canzi, Eugenio A. Parati. An Innovative Treatment for Cardiac Failure: Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation in In: Heart Transplantation Editor: Catherine T. Fleming.

Ringraziamenti

Giunta al termine di questo lavoro desidero ringraziare ed esprimere la mia riconoscenza nei confronti di tutte le persone che, in modi diversi, mi sono state vicine e hanno permesso e incoraggiato sia i miei studi che la realizzazione e stesura di questa tesi. I miei più sentiti ringraziamenti vanno a chi mi ha seguito durante la redazione del lavoro di tesi:

Prof. Eugenio Agostino Parati per la fiducia fin da subito dimostratami nell'aver accettato questo argomento di tesi di dottorato e per avermi seguito durante lo svolgimento del lavoro con consigli e confronti che mi hanno aiutato ad intraprendere, ogni volta, le scelte più appropriate.

Prof. Giorgio Battaglia, tutor della tesi, per la continua disponibilità e prontezza nei charimenti e suggerimenti, per la rilettura critica di tutti i capitoli della tesi e per avermi guidato con i suoi suggerimenti durante la conclusione di questo percorso formativo.

Dott. Paolo Bigini per aver contribuito al completamento del mio progetto di dottorato.

In modo particolare desidero ringraziare tutti i miei colleghi di laboratorio che hanno contribuito, con consigli e suggerimenti, al raggiungimento di questo traguardo, per me importante:

Dott.sa Gloria Invernici, Dott.sa Silvia Cristini, Dott.sa Stefania Navone, Dott.sa Andrea Smith, per la loro continua disponibilità e per i loro indispensabili consigli. Non scorderò la continua disponibilità e pazienza che mi hanno dedicato durante l'intera stesura del lavoro di dottorato, i consigli e al tempo stesso gli apprezzamenti per quanto realizzato.

Dott.sa Simona Frigerio e Sig.ra Simona Pogliani per il loro notevole supporto morale nel portare a termine questi tre anni di dottorato.

Per ultimi, ma di certo non per importanza, ringrazio la mia famiglia e gli amici che mi sono stati molto vicini:

Un ringraziamento particolare al mio fidanzato Matteo alias BB, per essermi stato vicino ogni momento e che oltre ad avermi sempre "supportato" mi hanno più di tutto "sopportato".

Ringrazio la mia socia Lamù alias LFC che mi ha sempre sostenuto nei momenti di sconforto mostrandosi un'amica fedele.